

ResponsiBank

Tracking Financing Footprint Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia

Tracking Financing Footprint: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia

Authors:

Eka Afrina Djamhari Ricko Nurmansyah Dwi Rahayu Ningrum Eksanti Amalia Kusuma Wardhani Herni Ramdlaningrum Victoria Fanggidae Ah Maftuchan Irvan T. Harja Andri Prasetiyo



Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia

Citation:

Perkumpulan PRAKARSA. (2024). Trackin Financing Footprint: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia. Perkumpulan PRAKARSA: Jakarta.

Authors:

Eka Afrina Djamhari, Ricko Nurmansyah, Dwi Rahayu Ningrum, Eksanti Amalia Kusuma Wardhani, Herni Ramdlaningrum, Victoria Fanggidae, Ah Maftuchan, Irvan T. Harja, Andri Prasetiyo

Reviewer: Victoria Fanggidae

Responsible Person: Ah Maftuchan

Layout dan Design: Bambang Nurjaman, Dedi Sunarya

Publisher:

Perkumpulan PRAKARSA Komplek Rawa Bambu 1 Jl. A No. 8E Kel. Pasar Minggu, Kec. Pasar Minggu Jakarta Selatan, Daerah Khusus Ibu Kota Jakarta 12520, Indonesia

Keywords:

Nickel, Energy, transition, justice, financing flows, banks, nickel companies

Disclaimer:

This report was prepared based on the findings of the research "Tracing the Footprints of Financing: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia". The contents of the research report are the sole responsibility of the authors.



Table of Contents

Table of Contents	iii
List of Figures	v
List of Tables	v
List of Appendices	vi
List of Abbreviations	vii
Glossary	ix
Forewords	ix
Executive Summary	xi
Chapter 1 Introduction: Nickel Downstream in Indonesia	1
1.1 Background	2
1.2 Research gaps	5
1.3 Research questions	6
1.4 Research objectives	6
Chapter 2 A Just Energy Transition for Society	7
2.1 Concept of Energy Justice	8
2.2 Sustainable Finance and its Relationship to the Nickel Industry Sector	11
Chapter 3 Research Methods	15
3.1 Content Analysis	16
3.2 Tracking Financing Flows	18
3.3 Research Limitations	19
Chapter 4 Media Reporting of Energy Injustice in Nickel Industry	21
4.1 Reporting on Nickel Mining and Smelters	22
4.2 Capturing Unjust Energy Practices in Nickel Mining and Smelters	28



Chapter 5 Bank Involvement in the Nickel Industry Financing Vortex in Indonesia	35
5.1 Increased Nickel Investment	36
5.2 Landscape of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia	37
5.3 Financing Flows for the Nickel Industry in Indonesia	47
5.4 Nickel Industry: Financing, Problems, and Dependence on Coal Energy	63
Chapter 6 Conclusion	89
6.1 Conclusion	90
6.2 Recommendations	92
References	95
List of Appendices	111



List of Figures



Figure 1.	Cumulative Projection of Metal Requirements for RE (Thousand Tons)	2
Figure 2.	Nickel Sulfate Trade Value in Indonesia from 2017 - 2022	3
Figure 3.	Energy Justice Approaches	11
Figure 4.	Distribution of Agree Statements (yes and no) to the Concepts	23
Figure 5.	Total Movement of Statements Related to the Nickel Industry	25
Figure 6.	Distribution of Statements by Organization Categories	25
Figure 7.	Debate and Agreement between Actors	26
Figure 8.	Status and Capacity of Captive PLTU for Nickel Smelters in Indonesia in 2023	38
Figure 9.	Industrial Areas and Nickel Downstreaming in Indonesia	39
Figure 10.	Form and Value of Nickel Industry Financing in Indonesia (unit: Trillion Rupiah) 2009-2023	53
Figure 11.	Intercompany Business Relations at PT Vale Indonesia Tbk	59
Figure 12.	Intercompany Business Relations at PT Trimegah Bangun Persada Tbk	60
Figure 13.	Intercompany Business Relations at PT Aneka Tambang Tbk	61
Figure 14.	Intercompany Business Relations at PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk	62

List of Tables

Table 1.	Five online mass media with the highest number of monthly visits	16
Table 2.	Categories or Statements Used in Media Analysis	17
Table 3.	Number of News from Mainstream and Investigative Media Regarding Nickel Mines and Smelters	22
Table 4.	Smelter Investment and Foreign Investment in Nickel-Rich Provinces (in million USD)	49
Table 5.	Investment in Sulawesi and Halmahera (North Maluku) Islands by Country	50
Table 6.	Smelter Investment Plan Until 2026	51



Table 7.	Involvement of European Financial Institutions in the Nickel Industry Supply Chain	70
Table 8.	Case Description: Loan 1	77
Table 9.	Case Description: Loan 2	78
Table 10.	Case Description: Loan 3	80
Table 11.	Case Description: Loan 4	83
Table 12.	Case Description: Loan 5	85
Table 13.	Case Description: Loan 6	86

List of Appendices

Appendix 1.	Actors' Statements on Concepts Related to Nickel News	111
Appendix 2.	Table of Loan Financing for the Nickel Industry in Indonesia (Smelter, Mine, and Nickel Smelter Power Plant Projects)	112
Appendix 3.	List of PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminum (Inalum) Global Bond Buyers	119
Appendix 4.	Equity Financing Table for the Nickel Industry	123



List of Abbreviations



EIA	:	Environmental Impact Assessment
SDGs	:	Sustainable Development Goals
OJK	:	Financial Services Authority
PLTU	:	Coal-Fired Power Plant
PLTA	:	Hydroelectric Power Plant
PLTMG	:	Oil and Gas Fired Power Plant
ESG	:	Environment, Social, and Governance
PNBP	:	Non-Tax State Revenue
SDA	:	Natural Resources
BKPM	:	Investment Coordinating Board
GDP	:	Gross Domestic Product
FDI	:	Foreign Direct Investment
DDI	:	Domestic Direct Investment
DNA	:	Discourse Network Analysis
FPIC	:	Free, Prior and Informed Consent
PPE	:	Personal Protective Equipment
IDX	:	Indonesia Stock Exchange
GFANZ	:	Glasgow Financial Alliance for Net Zero
HAM	:	Human Rights
JETP	:	Just Energy Transition Partnership
ENDC	:	Enhance Nationally Determined Contribution
KESDM	:	Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources
RUPTL	:	Electricity Supply Business Plan
RE	:	Renewable Energy
WTO	:	World Trade Organization

Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia



KIARA	: People's Coalition for Fisheries Justice
AEER	: Ecological Action and People's Emancipation
HMA	: Reference Mineral Price
USGS	: United States Geological Survey
APNI	: Indonesian Nickel Miners Association
IBC	: Indonesia Battery Corporation
IPO	: Initial Public Offering
COP	: Conference of the Parties
CFPP	: Coal-Fired Power Plant
HPAL	: High Pressure Acid Leach



Glossary



ix

Project Loan	Loan used to finance specific development activities.
Refinery	Process of purifying raw materials.
Smelter	Facility for processing mined products to increase metal content.



Forewords

Nickel, one of the natural resources in the critical minerals category, is essential for energy transition. Exploration of nickel should ideally bring a multiplier effect for the community in the surrounding mining fields and nickel smelters. Not only by creating employment opportunities but also improving societal wellbeing.

However, the ongoing industrial activities associated with nickel mining remain susceptible to creating adverse environmental, social, and economic impacts on nearby populations. There are notable gaps that need to be addressed, including issues surrounding the permit process, potential corruption risks, delineation of authority between central governments and regional governments, as well as the standard of Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), which should comprehensively assess societal conditions, including cultural factors, and adherence to responsible investment principles.

If the above preconditions cannot be met, an important question arises: is the use of nickel in the energy transition fair? Equitable energy requires considering aspects of equity and justice within the energy system more broadly rather than solely benefiting a select few. The energy transition process is also intricately linked to sustainable finance issues, with financial service institutions playing a role in providing working capital and overseeing production processes. Therefore, understanding the flow of financing and the financial actors involved in financing the nickel mining industry is crucial for tracking commitment and implementation. This serves as evidence for financial institutions to adopt a more responsible approach in their investments.

The Financial Services Authority (OJK) issued the Indonesian Green Taxonomy in early 2022, which regulates the classification of a list of environmentally friendly economic activities. This financial guideline aim to protect the environment and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Reviewing the flow of financing within the nickel industry, this research identifies at least three types of financing by banks: loans, bonds, and equity. Nickel industry financing comprises mines, smelters, and coal-fired captive power plants. However, nickel processing reliance on captive PLTUs contradicts the commitment of



financial institutions, especially those from Europe, Japan, and China, to discontinue funding for coal development or the construction of new coal PLTUs.

This report provides information about how the Indonesian media portrayed nickel industry from the perspectives of different stakeholders. It is therefore not just providing readers with a one-sided reports on the role of the industry in economic growth but also about the problems and challenges faced by the community amidst extensive nickel exploitation in their region. The report also provides a critical note on the involvement of financial institutions and nickel processing practices that still rely on dirty coal energy.

Through this report, we intend to encourage companies, governments, and the financial services industry to engage in more responsible business practices by prioritizing environmental, social, and governance aspects. Furthermore, we aim to offer up-to-date information on how communities are impacted by the nickel industry, the companies associated with it, and the involvement of banks that need to implement commitments and policies for responsible financing. The findings from this research on financial tracking can also serve as a tool to monitor tax compliance for each relevant entity.

Finally, we would like to thank the PRAKARSA research team and all parties involved in preparing this report. We hope this report will enrich existing knowledge and encourage policymakers to commit to realizing sustainable finance, supporting a just, clean energy transition, and ensuring that community interests are not overlooked in economic improvement activities.

Jakarta, March 2024

Ah Maftuchan

The PRAKARSA Executive Director



Executive Summary

This research found three financing types to nickel industry: loans, equity, and bonds. Nickel industry financing includes mines, smelters, and coalfired captive power plants. In the period of 2009 – October 2023, loan was the highest financing type to the industry, with a value of USD 5.34 billion, equivalent to IDR 80.1 trillion.

N ickel is an essential component in the transition to renewable energy. The trend of increasing electric vehicle production worldwide has also encouraged an increase in nickel production because nickel is one of the main components of battery production. As the country with the highest nickel reserves in the world, Indonesia has been attempting to downstream nickel processing.

The nickel ore mining industry and its processed products provide significant economic benefits for the country, both in taxes and Non-Tax State Revenue (PNBP). In May 2022, the PNBP value of nickel royalties increased to IDR 4.18 trillion. The royalty value increased eight times from the royalties received by the state in 2015, which was recorded at IDR 531 billion. The realization of non-oil and gas Natural Resources (SDA) PNBP until May 2022 already reached IDR 31.67 trillion, meaning that nickel has contributed 13.19% to the realization of non-oil and gas SDA PNBP.

Data from the Investment Coordinating Board (BKPM) shows that the trend of foreign investment (PMA) referring to the bare metal, metal goods, non-machinery, and equipment industrial sectors reached USD 11 billion or 24% of the total incoming FDI. China dominates investment in nickel. In the 2012–2022-decade, China invested in nickel-producing islands in Sulawesi and North Maluku, amounting to USD 14.2 billion or the equivalent of IDR 213 trillion (exchange rate IDR 15,000). As for trends in investment destination locations recorded in 2019-2022, Central Sulawesi was the primary investment destination, amounting to 16.4% of total PMA or USD 7.5 billion. However, investment has little impact on increasing regional Gross Regional Domestic Product (GRDP) or reducing poverty rates in nickel investment destination areas such as Central Sulawesi.



Apart from that, nickel mining and smelters have negative impacts such as environmental issues and human rights (HAM). Since the nickel mining and refining processes do not respect human rights and disrupt environmental sustainability, the energy transition strategy using nickel cannot be categorized as a just energy transition.

Often, critical issues like this are not known to the broader public due to the lack of coverage on the impacts on human rights and the environment in various national media, compared to coverage of economic benefits and investment. In fact, the adverse effects of the nickel industry on indigenous communities in several regions, such as South Konawe, North Konawe, and Central Halmahera, are very significant, resulting in the loss of their traditional living spaces and sources of livelihood. In addition, nickel production process also produces an average of 58.6 tons of carbon dioxide from every ton of nickel produced in Indonesia (Ho and Listyorini, 2023). This amount is more significant than the global average of 48 tons. Apart from the negative impacts on the environment, nickel industry does not respect human rights either. For example, many nickel industry companies do not implement Occupational Health and Safety (K3) practices. As a result, there have been many work accidents that have caused many fatalities.

Discussions regarding a just energy transition cannot be separated from the issue of sustainable finance. Financial institutions worldwide have been committed to supporting the energy transition by no longer funding the construction of new coal-fired power plants. However, the commitment is often violated. Nickel industry in Indonesia is still very dependent on coal energy sources to support its operational activities, and many banks still support this activity under the pretext of supporting the green energy transition. Therefore, it is critical to know the flow of financing and the financial actors involved in financing the nickel industry as evidence to encourage financial institutions to be more responsible in their investments.

Against such background, this research aims to 1) examine the contents of the national mass media reports regarding nickel mines and smelters from environmental, human rights, economic, and political aspects in Indonesia and 2) understand the flow of financing for the Indonesian nickel industry distributed by financial service institutions during 2009-2015 (before the Paris Agreement) and 2016-2023 (after the Paris Agreement).

This research also reviews nickel industry in light of energy justice concept. Justice is referred to impacts and benefits arising from the energy development process, recognition of the interests and rights of individuals or groups, equality of stakeholders, and efforts to repair damage experienced by the affected group. Furthermore, this research employed content analysis method to analyze mass media depictions of nickel industry and "follow the money" method to track financial flows to nickel industry. Tracking of financial flows was carried out deductively and inductively, using reports from commercial financial databases, company financial reports, media reports, and company publications that can be accessed openly.

ResponstBank

The results of media content analysis show that government actors, such as the President of the Republic of Indonesia, the House of Representatives, Regional Representatives Council, Central Government, Local Government, Law Enforcement Agencies, Judiciary, as well as corporate entities, predominantly discuss nickel industry activities from positive economic and political aspects. The issues discussed include downstreaming of the nickel industry, electric vehicle batteries, increased community income, and state revenue. Negative discourse on nickel mining and smelters, such as environmental degradation and human rights violations, is actually more extensively discussed by Civil Society Organizations (CSOs).

The research results show that at least five companies have significant nickel concessions in Indonesia. They are PT Vale Indonesia Tbk, PT Aneka Tambang Tbk, PT Bintang Empat Group, PT Weda Bay Nickel, and PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk. Three companies are publicly listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange (BEI).

This research found three financing types to nickel industry: loans, equity, and bonds. Nickel industry financing includes mines, smelters, and coal-fired captive power plants. In the period of 2009 – October 2023, loan was the highest financing type to the industry, with a value of USD 5.34 billion, equivalent to IDR 80.1 trillion, then financing through equity worth USD 2.26 billion, equal to IDR 33.9 trillion, and financing through bonds worth USD 433 million, equivalent to IDR 6.5 trillion.

Specifically, this research also found that nickel industry financing experienced a significant increase after the Paris Agreement. In the period before the Paris Agreement (2009-2015), the amount of loans received by the nickel industry was only USD 1.4 billion. After the Paris Agreement (2016-2023), the amount jumped to USD 6.6 billion, or an increase of more than 300%.

Findings show that foreign sources dominated nickel financing. The most significant amount of loans flowed from Chinese banks. Banks from Singapore, such as DBS, are also involved in various loans to smelter projects. Europe-based banks that provided loans were Standard Chartered, Barclays, and BNP Paribas. On the other hand, several national banks, which are State-Owned Enterprise (BUMN) banks, are involved in the syndication, namely Bank Mandiri and Bank BRI.

Banks' involvement in financing is not only as a lender. The banking function in raising funds for public companies appears as the underwriter, as in the initial public offering of PT Trimegah Bangun Persada (Harita Group) on the Indonesia Stock Exchange. There are several banks as underwriters, namely Credit Suisse Group, BNP Paribas, Citigroup, Mandiri Sekuritas, DBS, OCBC Securities, and UOB Kay Hian (Asian Trends, 2023). Six underwriters, except Mandiri Sekuritas, are members of the Net Zero Banking Alliance from G-FANZ and are committed to the transition to clean energy.



European banks' involvement forms are varied, such as through syndicated loans and bonds. Syndicated loans also used to finance smelter construction. The syndicated lending group includes Standard Chartered Bank, BNP Paribas, Barclays Bank Plc, HSBC, Credit Agricole, ING Bank, and Natixis. Meanwhile, bond purchasing groups include UBS Group, Amundi, JP Morgan (Irish office), Fidelity Fund SICAV (Luxembourg office), and Manulife Global Fund.

In the broader context of energy justice, these challenges contest the basic principles of distributive justice, procedural justice, and recognition justice. The industry's negative footprints, from environmental degradation to human rights violations, raise questions regarding the ethics of energy production. Nickelindustry in Indonesia must find the balance between economic progress and ethical responsibility. Finding sustainable solutions that respect the environment and human rights is critical to ensure that the nation's journey towards becoming "the World's Battery King" is not marred by social and environmental in justice.

This research recommends the media to shape public awareness about just energy concept, to balance the dominating coverage on energy transition that only emphasises economic growth aspect. Apart from that, the media also needs to mainstream justice, human rights, and the environment aspects when they report about nickel industry so that their reports also cover the negative impacts of the industry. Policy stakeholders, such as OJK, the Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources, KLHK, and provincial/district/city governments, should monitor and ensure more sustainable and fair practices. In addition, LJKs and nickel industry companies must also comply and disciplined in implementing Environmental, Social, Governance (LST) and energy justice aspects in their business practices.



Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION: NICKEL DOWNSTREAM IN INDONESIA

Based on data from the Geological Agency (2020), Indonesia has the largest nickel reserves in the world, accounting for 52% or around 72 million tons of nickel. These nickel reserves surpass those of other countries with the largest nickel reserves, such as Australia (15%) and Brazil (8%). Indonesia's unique position is attributed to nickel being a primary component in lithium battery production. With the global increase in electric vehicle production, nickel can drive Indonesia's economic progress as the largest nickel-producing country worldwide (KESDM, 2022).

> Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia



1.1 Background

The energy transition narrative in Indonesia gained momentum with the agreement from developed countries to finance the energy transition. At the G20 Summit (G20 Summit) under the Indonesian presidency, the Just Energy Transition Partnership (JETP) and the Energy Transition Mechanism were agreed upon. Furthermore, Indonesia has published a commitment to reduce greenhouse gas emissions in a more ambitious Enhanced Nationally Determined Contribution (ENDC) document in which the energy mix target is 51% in the 2021 – 2030 Electricity Provider Business Plan (RUPTL). This target will encourage an increase in new renewable energy electricity generation capacity.

The ramp-up of new renewable energy technology (RE) necessitates a supply of various base metals. According to the Net Zero Emission (NZE) roadmap published by the Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources (KESDM), nickel will become a critical mineral in the NZE agenda, which can be seen in the image below (IEA, 2022).



With the targets set, the cumulative need for nickel metal for EBT power plants in 2045 is estimated to reach 584 thousand tons of nickel (KESDM, 2021). This cumulative need is equivalent to the need for around 20 thousand tons of nickel per year, which can absorb about 3% of class 1 nickel products that have not been utilized or are planned to be exported (KESDM, 2021).



Figure 1 Cumulative Projection of Metal Requirements for RE (Thousand Tons)

2

Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia Based on data from the Geological Agency (2020), Indonesia has the largest nickel reserves in the world, accounting for 52% or around 72 million tons of nickel. These nickel reserves surpass those of other countries with the largest nickel reserves, such as Australia (15%) and Brazil (8%). Indonesia's unique position is attributed to nickel being a primary component in lithium battery production. With the global increase in electric vehicle production, nickel can drive Indonesia's economic progress as the largest nickel-producing country worldwide (KESDM, 2022).

Nickel is among the 21 commodities designated by the Indonesian Government for downstream development. The Government, through BKPM, has created a roadmap for strategic investment downstream in Indonesia until 2040, requiring an investment of up to USD 545.3 billion or the equivalent of IDR 8,200 trillion (at an exchange rate of IDR 15,200/USD)(Kominfo, 2023).

The Indonesian Government aims to establish Indonesia as the "World's Battery King" through nickel down streaming. Since January 1, 2020, Indonesia has banned nickel ore exports as per Minister of Energy and Mineral Resources Regulation Number 11 of 2019. This decision faced opposition from the European Union through the World Trade Organization (WTO), resulting in a lawsuit against Indonesia. Despite losing the lawsuit, the Indonesian President instructed the acceleration of nickel down streaming, altering the investment landscape and setting investment targets in nickel down streaming until battery production reaches USD 6 billion or close to IDR 90 trillion.



Figure 2 Nickel Sulfate Trade Value in Indonesia from 2017 - 2022

Trade Value of Nickel Sulfate in Indonesia



The data above indicates that Indonesia exported 871 kg of nickel sulfate in 2017, valued at USD 12.8 million. However, during the same period, Indonesia imported more, totaling 776 tons of nickel sulfate with a trade value of USD 2.56 billion. This trend continued until 2022, with South Korea being the largest importing country. The increase in import value suggests the commencement of battery production for electric vehicles, although Indonesia does not provide the core raw material in the form of nickel sulfate.

Several battery assembly companies operate in Indonesia, including LG, CATL, and BASF, among others. The presence of these downstream companies implies the importation of nickel sulfate raw materials. Currently, Indonesia can only produce nickel up to Mixed Hydroxide Precipitate (MHP), one stage before nickel sulfate. Harita Group is one company capable of this, collaborating with Chinese companies such as CATL and its subsidiaries.

UN Comtrade data (2020 – 2022) reveals that Indonesia has primarily exported nickel metal hydrate, used in rechargeable electronic device batteries, predominantly to Singapore and China. Additionally, various nickel derivatives, such as ferronickel, have been exported to China, totaling 17.22 million tons, serving as a basic material for stainless steel production.



However, Indonesia's nickel industry is marred by issues related to human rights violations, en-vironmental degradation, corruption, and governance, particularly in the upstream sector of mining and smelting. Failure to uphold human rights and environmental sustainability in the nickel mining and refining process undermines the integrity of the energy transition strategy using nickel. Nevertheless, such issues are not widely discussed in national media, especially mainstream media, with coverage limited to downstream nickel industry aspects, particularly battery production for electric vehicles. Reporting and criticism of the nickel industry from an Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) perspective are primarily found in investigative news channels media.



Discussions surrounding a just energy transition cannot overlook the issue of sustainable finance, given the involvement of financial service institutions as capital providers in nickel mining industry. Understanding the flow of financing and the financial actors involved in financing the nickel mining industry is crucial to holding financial institutions accountable for their investments.

1.2 Research gaps

Previous studies have identified policies related to nickel mining, but the aspects studied are mostly industrialization and international policies (Kim, 2023; Gupta, 2022), as well as the value chain aspect (Leruth et al., 2022). Haryadi (2016) emphasized that nickel mining activities positively impact Southeast Sulawesi Province's economy, providing new job opportunities and increasing people's purchasing power.

Despite its economic contributions, nickel mining also brings negative impacts, as various studies have shown. The Action Association for Ecology and People's Emancipation (AEER, 2020; Teresa, 2021; Walhi, 2020; Kurniawan et al., 2021; Hudayana et al., 2020; Irawati, 2020) in their research found a reduction in income experienced by fishermen, as a result of seawater pollution, and post-mining ecological damage which causes a decrease in fish catch areas. Moreover, social conflicts and adverse effects on vulnerable groups, including women, children, disabled individuals, elderly people, and indigenous communities, have been observed.

In addition to impact assessments, research has also focused on the governance and corporate responsibility of nickel mining companies in natural resource exploitation activities (Bintang et al., 2023; Trireksani & Djajadikerta, 2016), as well as Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) initiatives and their impact on the resilience of local communities (Rela et al., 2020). Tangngisalu (2020) examined the flow of CSR financing and its impact on company value, while Haryadi (2017) conducted a financial feasibility analysis of plans to build ferro-nickel smelting plants. Tangngisalu (2020) examined the flow of CSR financial feasibility analysis of plans to build soft on company value, while Haryadi (2017) conducted a financial feasibility analysis of plans to build ferro-nickel smelting plants.

Other research on nickel also examines the potential for corruption arising from mining licensing activities in Indonesia (Dinata et al., 2020). In this case, there is a risk of abuse of power by state officials in providing official assistance, such as the application of more flexible regulations and permits to business actors. This situation incentivizes business groups to seek political protection and support from government leaders by providing funds and/or other forms of support to policymakers in power circles (Dinata et al., 2020). This study is supported by research on mining activities and corruption in Africa. Although it does not explicitly mention nickel, the results of this research show that mining activities can increase bribery (Knutsen et al., 2017). Revenues from mining activities can provide incentives and enable local officials to demand more bribes (Knutsen et al., 2017).



Despite the extensive research about nickel industry, there is a gap in literature regarding trends in mass media reporting regarding nickel industry supporting just energy transition. Previous research also has yet to describe the identification of nickel industry financing flows by financial institutions in Indonesia. Thus, this research examines media content in reporting nickel industry and reviews the financial flows to the sector.

1.3 Research questions

- 1. What are the contents of the national media reports about nickel industry as an essential mineral to support energy transition?
- 2. How was the flow of financing for the Indonesian nickel industry distributed by financial services institutions during 2009-2015 (Before the Paris Agreement) and 2016-2023 (After the Paris Agreement)?

1.4 Research objectives

The aims of this research are:

- 1. To examine the contents of the media in reporting nickel as an essential mineral that supports energy transition.
- 2. To understand the flow of financing for the Indonesian nickel industry distributed by financial services institutions during 2009-2015 (Before the Paris Agreement) and 2016-2023 (After the Paris Agreement)



Chapter 2 A JUST ENERGY TRANSITION FOR SOCIETY

Kami Perenva

Based on the illustration, addressing injustice in the energy transition process involves several key steps: identifying the rights, perspectives, and experiences of injustice from vulnerable and marginalized groups (recognition justice); ensuring equal access and benefits to energy (distribution justice); involving each interest group in decision-making democratically(procedural justice); and formulating efforts to mitigate impacts and provide social protection against unfair practices in the energy transition process (remediation).



2.1 Concept of Energy Justice

Definition of Energy Justice

Energy justice is defined as a global energy system that distributes the benefits and costs of energy services reasonably and has a representative energy decision-making system.

(Sovacool et al., 2017; Sovacool & Dworkin, 2015).

In principle, equitable energy needs to consider aspects of equity and justice in the global energy system more broadly. Thus, the conceptual framework of energy justice includes consideration of the dangers, externalities, and burdens that a party will experience; benefits, access, and services to the energy that is distributed fairly; as well as procedures to ensure that the policy formulation process complies with rules, legal processes, representation, and recognition, especially for vulnerable or marginalized groups (Sovacool et al., 2017).

The Concept of Energy Justice

According to Sovacool and Dworkin (2015), energy justice can serve as a conceptual, analytical, and decision-making tool. Conceptually, energy justice integrates issues related to distributive, procedural, and recognition justice. As an analytical tool, energy justice helps researchers understand how values are constructed or marginalized to solve general energy problems. As a decision-making tool, energy justice can help energy planners and consumers make informed energy choices. The function of energy justice as decision-making is based on eight principles consisting of availability, affordability, due process, transparency, accountability, sustainability, intra- and intergenerational equality, and responsibility (Feenstra & Özerol, 2021). In this research, energy justice as a conceptual tool will specifically aid in analyzing unfair practices that occur in relation to energy activities.

As a conceptual tool, energy justice, according to Sovacool and Dworkin (2015), comprises three key elements: costs, benefits, and procedures. The cost aspect examines the dangers and externalities of the energy system, which are disproportionately imposed on society, often borne by vulnerable and marginalized groups. From a benefits aspect, energy justice plays a role in assessing access to modern energy systems and services, which are often unequal. Lastly, the procedural aspect evaluates ongoing energy projects with a decision-making process that tends to be exclusive and lack adequate representation.

Moreover, other studies, such as those by Jenkins et al. (2016) and Heffron and McCauley (2014, 2017), propose three energy justice approach frameworks adapted from environmental justice research: distributional justice, recognitional justice, and procedural justice. These frameworks aid in analyzing unfair energy policy practices (Heffron & McCauley, 2017; Jenkins et al., 2016; Lee & Byrne, 2019).

8

Furthermore, several other studies such as Jenkins et al (2016) and Heffron and McCauley (2014, 2017) highlight four energy justice approach frameworks adapted from environmental justice research, namely recognitional justice (recognition), distributional justice, as well as procedural justice and remediation justice, which help in analyzing unfair practices of energy policy (Heffron & McCauley, 2017; Jenkins et al., 2016; Lee & Byrne, 2019).

The first framework is pertaining to recognitional justice or acknowledgment of the interests and rights of every individual and group, especially the vulnerable and marginalized groups affected by the energy transition process (Lee & Byrne, 2019). Reflection on which parties experience the greatest impact from the energy transition is crucial (McCauley et al., 2019). In the context of energy justice, this entails paying attention to the needs and desires of vulnerable groups in society, such as women, children, disabled groups, indigenous communities, or other marginalized groups. Recognizing the perspectives of vulnerable and marginalized groups in decision-making is important to achieve justice. Recognition justice emphasizes that every view and experience of injustice experienced by vulnerable and other marginalized groups has the right to be used as a basis for consideration, especially in deciding policies related to a just energy transition (Jenkins et al., 2016).

The lack of recognition justice can manifest in various forms, such as cultural and political domination, humiliation, degradation, and devaluation (Jenkins et al., 2016). This discourse is not only evident in the form of failure to recognize but also as a form of misrecognition in the form of a distortion of a party's perspective that tends to be minimized (Jenkins et al., 2016). Fraser (1999) in Jenkins et al (2016) and Mc Cauley et al (2019) identified the main categories of misrecognition, which include cultural dominance and lack of recognition and respect. This highlights the need for sensitivity to differences in perspectives that are rooted in social, cultural, ethnic, racial, and gender differences. Additionally, the institutionalization of a broader perspective regarding who can be harmed by energy resources also needs to be implemented in enforcing recognition justice.

Secondly, distributional justice pertains to the fair distribution of responsibilities regarding costs and benefits arising from the energy transition process (Lee & Byrne, 2019). The distributional aspect focuses on equal distribution of access and benefits of energy to all individuals in society. This implies that energy policy must ensure equitable access to affordable and sustainable energy sources, regardless of an individual's social, economic, or geographic background. Some energy resources are inevitably distributed unevenly, and inequality in access to these energy resources emerges (Jenkins et al., 2016; McCauley et al., 2019). Therefore, it is necessary to consider the extent to which the placement of energy infrastructure will lead to distribution inequality.

Distributional justice not only concerns the placement of infrastructure but also access to energy services, as well as the possible impacts and risks that will arise from the processing of these energy resources in the future (Jenkins et al., 2016; McCauley et al., 2019). The process of distributing benefits and burdens, as well as unequal access to energy



resources, encourages the need to identify the scale of widespread impacts and their role in creating energy inequality. Additionally, redistribution of benefits is necessary to realize energy justice for each individual and society.

Thirdly, procedural justice refers to the equality and democratic involvement of each stakeholder in the decision-making process in the energy transition process (Jenkins et al., 2016; Lee & Byrne, 2019). This means that procedural justice is guided by the application of fair procedures and involving all stakeholders in a non-discriminatory manner (Jenkins et al., 2016). It emphasizes open, participatory, and transparent decision-making processes in the context of energy policy. Broad societal participation, including groups directly affected, must be promoted so that energy decisions can reflect the interests and aspirations of society as a whole.

Jenkins et al. (2016) further formulate three inclusion mechanisms designed to achieve justice through the context of local wisdom, transparent access to information, and representative institutional representation. The context of local knowledge is an important factor in increasing inclusiveness and public involvement for affected parties, particularly indigenous communities. Elective participation, in this case, extends beyond physical involvement but includes local wisdom, discourse, and stories of indigenous peoples, as considerations so that they can have a significant impact on policy (Jenkins et al., 2016).

Moreover, procedural justice requires participation through transparent access to information from both government and private sectors, as well as mechanisms for inclusive engagement. Globally, open information is essential for ethical and sustainable consumption practices, as well as for considering energy production choices for society (Jenkins et al., 2016). Representation within an institution, including in business institutions, local, national, and international government structures, and other non-government sectors, also influences decision-making outcomes (Jenkins et al., 2016). Representation in these institutions promotes a proactive approach to achieving justice (Jenkins et al., 2016).

Fourthly, remediation justice aims to provide fair compensation to parties affected by the energy transition. It helps determine preventive measures needed and prompts communities and stakeholders to address injustice or damage and prioritize forms of injustice (Heffron & McCauley, 2017). Applying remediation justice in decision-making prompts policymakers to consider potential damage and injustice resulting from energy policy choices (Heffron & McCauley, 2017). Ultimately, remediation justice encourages stakeholders to contemplate the outcomes of policy decisions and how policies act to prevent or mitigate potential injustices or damages.



The four approaches to energy justice described above are illustrated in the following figure:



Figure 3 Energy Justice Approaches

Based on the illustration, addressing injustice in the energy transition process involves several key steps: identifying the rights, perspectives, and experiences of injustice from vulnerable and marginalized groups (recognition justice); ensuring equal access and benefits to energy (distribution justice); involving each interest group in decision-making democratically(procedural justice); and formulating efforts to mitigate impacts and provide social protection against unfair practices in the energy transition process (remediation).

2.2 Sustainable Finance and its Relationship to the Nickel Industry Sector

Financial services institutions play a crucial role in catalyzing sustainable development and addressing climate challenges by allocating funding to more environmentally friendly sectors. Without the involvement of financial institutions in promoting a more responsible business sector, climate change conditions will become increasingly difficult to control and, in the long term, will create an imbalance in the ecosystem, which will impact the economic supply chain, even threatening the stability of the financial system (Armintasari & Ramdlaningrum, 2021). This concern is echoed in a report by the World Meteorological Organization (WMO), which highlights that current climate conditions have hindered global efforts towards sustainable development (Arif, 2023).

Between 1970 and 2021, according to WMO data, nearly 12,000 reported disasters were attributed to extreme weather, climate events, and rainfall, resulting in over 2 million deaths and economic losses totaling 4.3 trillion US dollars (Arif, 2023). Moreover, over 90 percent of reported deaths and 60 percent of economic losses occurred in developing countries



Source: (Heffron & McCauley, 2017; Jenkins et al., 2016; McCauley et al., 2019; Sovacool et al., 2017)

(Arif, 2023). As a signatory to the Paris Agreement, Indonesia is committed to the collective goal of limiting the global temperature increase to below 1.5 to 2 degrees Celsius compared to pre-industrial levels and reducing emissions by 31.89 percent through domestic efforts and 43.2 percent with international support (Kementerian Keuangan RI, n.d.).

Support from a robust and responsible financial sector is crucial for allocating investment costs, devising risk-sharing solutions, and providing accessible financial services for all stakeholders (Laplane et al., 2023). If the resulting impact indicates otherwise, there is a concern that financing in this process could have unintended consequences and disproportionately affect vulnerable and marginalized groups.

Civil society organizations also play a vital role in monitoring and preventing greenwashing practices, ensuring that products labeled as sustainable genuinely benefit the environment and surrounding ecosystem.

Hence, there is a need for an assessment method for Financial Services Institutions (LJKs) to finance industrial sectors sustainably, such as through guidelines for sustainable financial system methods initiated by the international network of fair finance. This assessment mechanism aligns with various international standards, including the Equator Principles, IFC Environmental, Health and Safety Guidelines, IFC Performance Standards, OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, UN Global Compact, UN Principles for Responsible Investment, and UN Principles for Responsible Banking.

Based on Law No. 4 of 2023 concerning the Development and Strengthening of the Financial Sector, sustainable finance is defined as an ecosystem comprising policies, regulations, norms, standards, products, transactions, and financial services that balance economic, environmental, and social interests in financing sustainable activities and transitioning towards sustainable economic growth. The Indonesian Sustainable Finance Roadmap for 2015-2019 further defines sustainable finance as comprehensive support from the financial services industry to promote sustainable development, emphasizing the alignment of economic, social, and environmental interests.

The principles of sustainable finance programs in Indonesia are anchored in risk management, sustainable development of priority economic sectors, environmental and social governance and reporting, as well as capacity building and collaborative partnerships (Otoritas Jasa Keuangan, 2014). The aim is for the implementation of sustainable finance to enhance the role and contribution of financial institutions to national climate change targets through funding for mitigation, adaptation, and initiatives supporting the national development plans (RPJP and RPJM), characterized by pro-growth, pro-job, pro-poor, and pro-environmental outcomes, while increasing resilience and competitiveness.

The Financial Services Authority (OJK), mandated with banking supervision, has issued

12 Respo

several regulations related to sustainable finance, including the Sustainable Finance Roadmap Phase 1 (2015-2019) and Phase 2 (2021-2025). Specific regulations outlined in OJK Regulation Number 51/POJK.03/2017 require financial institutions to prepare and publish Sustainability Reports and Sustainable Financial Action Plans (RAKB), while also regulating the principles of implementing sustainable finance. OJK also issued Financial Services Authority Regulation Number 60/POJK.04/2017 concerning the Issuance and Requirements for Environmentally Friendly Debt Securities (Green Bonds).



Most recently, in January 2022, OJK published the Indonesian Green Taxonomy document as a guide for financial institutions to categorize financing and investments in the green sector, contributing to environmental improvement and climate change adaptation and mitigation. However, the implementation of sustainable financial policies in Indonesia is still in its early stages. From 2015 to 2019, total credit and financing distribution in the green sector reached IDR 809.75 trillion (Armintasari & Ramdlaningrum, 2021). In the same year, OJK published a Reference Book for Credit or Financing

for Palm Oil Plantations and Industries as a guide for financial institutions in implementing a sustainable palm oil plantation financial system. Indonesia also faces challenges in implementing a sustainable financial system, such as business-as-usual indoctrination, minimal resource capacity in the field of Environment, Social, and Governance (ESG), differences in perceptions due to the absence of standardization of green classification, and overlapping cross-sectoral policies (Armintasari & Ramdlaningrum, 2021).

As nickel holds a strategic position in the global value chain and given Indonesia's ambition to become the 'King of Nickel,' assessments of financial services institutions' financing of this industry need to be studied further to ensure its sustainability aspects. Additionally, financial institutions, as critical actors that financing superior projects to realize national economic development, are expected not to lose focus on ensuring the sustainability aspects of development and guaranteeing and maintaining its continuity for future generations.



This page intentionally left blank



Chapter 3 RESEARCH METHODS

To address the first research question, this research employed content analysis method and for the second research question, it employed "follow the money" method. The data utilized in this research is secondary, including mainstream and investigative media reports, annual reports, data from Forest and Finance database, among others. Findings from the analyzed data will be presented descriptively.

> Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia

15

3.1 Content Analysis

Content analysis is a research method used to identify words, themes, or concepts present in qualitative data, often in text form (Columbia University, 2016; Zuchdi & Afifah, 2019). In general, content analysis method is used to analyze frequency, meaning, and relationships between words, themes, or concepts (Columbia University, 2016; Krippendorff, 2004).

Data sources used in content analysis include interviews, open questions, field research notes, conversations, books, essays, discussions, news, media, speeches, and historical documents (Columbia University, 2016). In analyzing a text using the content analysis method, certain codes for a text are created. Then, the code is classified into codes with the same theme.

Content analysis can take two forms: conceptual analysis and relational analysis (Columbia University, 2016; Zuchdi & Afifah, 2019). Conceptual content analysis focuses on the frequency of presence of words, themes, or concepts. Data for conceptual analysis is typically explicit, non-interpretive, and surface level. Relational content analysis is an analysis method that delves deeper into the meaning and relationships between them. This type of analysis prioritizes the meaning and relationship of a word, theme, or concept. The data in this analysis is usually implicit and interpretive.

In this research, media reports on the nickel industry are examined using conceptual content analysis to explore the frequency and trends of words, themes, and concepts within the industry.

Conceptual content analysis involved gathering data from five mainstream media websites se-lected based on SimilarWeb, focusing on those with the highest monthly visits. Additionally, data from mainstream media with investigative news channels were collected. The research data from mainstream media and investigations were limited to publications from January 1, 2020, to March 31, 2023

Νο	Website	Number of visits per month (million)	Total pages visited (million)
1	Kompas.com	153,2	405,9
2	Detik.com	149,8	453,9
3	Tribunnews.com	104,2	291,8
4	Pikiran-rakyat.com	59	169,2
5	Suara.com	53,5	88,88

Table 1. Five online mass media with the highest number of monthly visits

Source: SimilarWeb (21 Maret 2023)

16 ResponstBank

Data sourced from investigative media were determined based on investigative journalism criteria. The elements to consider in selecting investigative reporting based on Weinberg (1996, in Septiawan, 2022) were as follows: (1) subject of investigation, (2) hypothesis, (3) secondary sources, (4) documentation, (5) primary sources or sources, (6) research techniques, (7) containing organized information, (8) and freedom of thought.

Furthermore, indicators for determining investigative reporting sources included originality, clarity, containing irrefutable evidence, lack of ambiguity, and not merely fulfilling standard reporting elements like the 5W + 1H (what, when, why, where, who and how) like standard reporting in general (Aljazeera Media Institute, 2020; Ismail et al., 2014).

The investigative reporting selected met these criteria, being conducted in-depth, systematically, and documented in accordance with ethical and professional journalism standards. The sources of information from investigative reporting included news portals such as Project Multatuli, Tempo, Tirto.id, and Mongabay, which have investigative journalism channels and adhere to investigative journalism rules.

Next, the frequency of words appearing in the news was counted from each statement made by each actor. The frequency of occurrence of the words was analyzed and classified into themes based on ESG aspects, as outlined in Table 2. Additionally, the analyzed actors were classified into 13 categories, including academics, law enforcement officers, civil society organizations (CSOs), parliament members (DPR and DPRD), international organizations, political parties, central government, regional governments, companies, investigative journalists, citizens, and the judiciary.

Environment	Human Rights	Politics	Economy
Sea water cleanli-ness	Good relations be-tween workers	Corruption free	Electric vehicle battery
Groundwater cleanliness	Good company-citizen relations	Persuasive ap-proach of law enforcement officers	Downstreaming the nickel industry
Air cleanliness	Free, prior and in-formed consent (FPIC)	Legal mining	State revenue

Table 2. Categories or Statements Used in Media Analysis



Forest sustainability	Fulfillment of labor rights	Increase in community inc
	Fulfillment of the rights of indigenous peoples	
	Fulfillment of wom-en's rights	
	Land transfer with-out dispute/conflict	

Source: the researchers' identification results

News source searches were conducted using the Google search engine with keywords like "nickel mine," "nickel smelter," followed by the name of the media outlet, and the respective year. For instance, searches were made for "nickel mine, Kompas.com, 2020" and "nickel smelter, Suara.com, 2021." Additionally, news searches were performed within each mass media's "search" feature using the keywords "nickel mine" and "nickel smelter." Investigative reports were identified and searched based on investigative reports produced by media outlets related to nickel mining and nickel smelting. The data were pre-processed within the period from January 1, 2020 at 00:00:00 to 31 March 2023 at 23:59:59.

The researchers screened the full texts of news items selected from mainstream media data sources and investigative reports and then annotated them (data crawling). Subsequently, the texts were organized in four categories i.e. environment, human rights, politics and economic. These categories are set based on the ESG and energy justice principles.

The data is then processed by describing:

- 1. The number of news regarding the four themes and sub-themes for each and their development from year to year.
- 2. The frequency of reporting in each media regarding the four themes and sub-themes.
- 3. The frequency of statements by each actor.
- 4. Network of debates between actors (agreement/disagreement)

Descriptive data from no. 1-3 were organized and visualized using Microsoft Excel, while to visualize data no. 4, researchers imported data from Microsoft Excel database to the VisOne software.

3.2 Tracking Financing Flows

This research also used the Follow the Money (FTM) method to examine financial flows. Funding from financial institutions generally has a layer of intermediary companies to disguise the involvement of an entity, so to identify the flow of financing, a secondary data



analysis approach was used, which was sourced from the Forest and Finance database, as well as company annual reports and stock exchange filings, media sources, and portfolio filings.

3.3.1 Financing Flow Data Collection Techniques

This research process used descriptive qualitative methodology with an inductive and deductive data collection approach. An inductive approach was used to search for funding and open sources. In this process, the two approaches complemented each other because, inductively, we would use database reports or financial reports while checking the details of fund distribution using deductive methods through media reports or company announcements.

3.3.2 Financing Flow Data Analysis Techniques

Investigations for nickel industry funding were carried out in a number of ways, including:

- Financial statements analysis. This financial report analysis was carried out on companies that run business on the upstream and downstream sides of the nickel industry or financial institutions. This was done to obtain information regarding the source, value of funding, and allocation of the funds.
- Transaction analysis. This analysis was carried out to track the flow of funds from one company to another, for example, from the parent company to subsidiaries or other related corporate entities. This analysis could be carried out using transaction data available from such companies or financial institutions.
- Shareholder analysis was carried out to identify individuals or entities who own shares or control over the company. This information can be used to carry out further investigations regarding funding flows or connections between parties in the mining business and downstream business, or related supporting facilities.
- Open data analysis. Open data analysis was carried out through media news sources, stock exchange announcements, information or data from the government, and data from non-governmental organizations, which could be used to complement data obtained from other sources.

3.3 Research Limitations

This research examines the content of media reports by mainstream media and media with investigative reporting from January 1, 2020, to March 31, 2023. The researchers acknowledge the possibility of data source bias, as the data are derived from both mainstream and alternative media sources, which may have specific interests influencing their reports. Additionally, the conceptual media content analysis method used cannot


elucidate the relationship between actors based solely on the statements made.

Furthermore, as the research aims to trace the flow of financing by financial service institutions to mining companies and/or nickel smelters in Indonesia from 2017 to 2022 using financial databases provided by several data provider companies. This may result in discrepancies between the financial figures obtained from the databases and the financial reports of the financial service institutions and nickel companies.

The study focuses on key business entities operating in the upstream nickel mining sector in Indonesia, selected based on concession holdings matching the production output of mining operations. Additionally, the downstream sector of the nickel industry, including smelters and related infrastructure, was examined. Key players in the downstream sector were identified based on criteria such as investment value, production capacity, operating smelter status, and downstream plans.

However, the study has limitations regarding its focus on publicly traded companies due to considerations of access and availability of information. Consequently, the research predominantly focuses on publicly traded entities within the Indonesian nickel industry.

Another limitation pertains to the analysis of the role of financial institutions as underwriters in initial public offerings. While some financial institutions are mentioned as underwriters, their specific roles and earnings were not further analyzed. This limitation is also influenced by the limited number of public companies in the Indonesian nickel industry.



Chapter 4

MEDIA REPORTING OF ENERGY INJUSTICE IN NICKEL INDUSTRY

The high level of positive opinions regarding electric vehicle batteries and the downstream nickel industry was driven by Indonesia's ambition to develop the downstream nickel industry to increase its added value. Additionally, hopes for the entry of electric vehicle companies like Tesla into Indonesia contributed to positive opinions surrounding these topics.

Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia



4.1 Reporting on Nickel Mining and Smelters

Mainstream and investigative media reports regarding nickel mines and smelters from January 1, 2020, to March 31, 2023, yielded a total of 189 stories. Detik.com reported the most with 58 stories, followed by Suara.com with 32 stories. However, investigative media had the lowest number of reports, totaling 21 stories from Mongabay, Tempo, Tirto. id, and Project Multatuli. This difference may be attributed to the time-intensive nature of investigative reporting, impacting both the quantity and mainstreaming of news topics produced. It is worth noted that there may be additional investigative media reports not included in this research.

Table 3 Number of News from Mainstream and Investigative Media Regarding Nickel Mines and

Smel	ters
------	------

Source of News	Number of News
Detik.com	58
Suara.com	32
Kompas.com	27
Pikiran Rakyat	25
Tribunnews.com	26
Berita Investigatif (Mongabay, Tempo, Tirto.id, dan Project Multatuli)	21
Total	189

Source: processed research data

In news related to the upstream nickel industry, there were 244 statements grouped into 19 concepts ranging from electric vehicle batteries to FPIC.







Figure 4 Distribution of Agree Statements (yes and no) to the Concepts

Source: processed research data

From Figure 4, it is evident that media content concerning nickel mining and smelting primarily focused on economic aspects, such as electric vehicle batteries and the downstream nickel industry. Conversely, negative impacts associated with the industry, such as indigenous people's rights, women's rights, and FPIC, received less attention. Issues surrounding the legality of mining and the fulfillment of labor rights were the two most negatively discussed topics

Electric vehicle batteries and nickel industry downstream were the issues most discussed positively in the mass media. At the same time, the legality of mining and the fulfillment of labor rights were the two issues most discussed negatively. The high level of positive opinions regarding electric vehicle batteries and the downstream nickel industry was driven by Indonesia's ambition to develop the downstream nickel industry to increase its added value. Additionally, hopes for the entry of electric vehicle companies like Tesla into Indonesia contributed to positive opinions surrounding these topics.



Negative statements regarding the legality of mining and the fulfillment of labor rights were triggered by several factors. In terms of mining legality, the issue being discussed was the absence of nickel mining companies' ownership of environmental management documents, Mining Business Permits (IUP), and Forest Area Borrow-Use Permits (IPPKH). For example, in Mongabay media coverage regarding illegal mining, of the 141 IUPs in the South Sulawesi region, almost 50 percent are in forest areas, and only 36 of them have IPPKH, occupying a forest area of 10,551 hectares (Chandra, 2022). On the other hand, 118,273 hectares of other forest areas have not received IPPKH (Chandra, 2022). Regarding labor rights, nickel mining companies had yet to fulfill obligations to provide personal protective equipment, adhere to Occupational Health and Safety (K3) standards, or offer decent wages.

Issues related to increasing people's income were equally divided between positive (yes) and negative (no). Some parties acknowledged the increase in community income through Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) assistance provided by nickel mining companies. For example, PT Gag Nickel in the Gag Islands region, Raja Ampat, was reported by TribunNews to have established schools and provided scholarship assistance to students (Candraditya, 2022). The nickel mining industry was also believed to create a multiplier effect by generating employment opportunities. PT GNI in North Morowali, as reported by Detik. com, employed up to 5,200 local workers, with projections to employ up to 60,000 workers (Harlina, 2021). Additionally, residents established various businesses to cater to the needs of mining company employees.

Nickel mining industry produces waste that pollutes the sea, causing a decrease in fishermen's catches and forcing fishermen to look for fish in the middle of the sea, which requires higher operational costs. Investigative news coverage carried out by Tempo. co stated that fishermen in Tapunggaya Village, North Konawe, experienced a decrease in the number of catches, namely 10 kilograms of fish with a selling price of IDR 200 thousand a night (Hermawan, 2023). In fact, previously, these fishermen managed to earn up to IDR 600 thousand a night (Hermawan, 2023). This situation was further corroborated by poverty profile data from the Central Statistics Agency (BPS) in March 2023, which showed an increase in the percentage of poor people in regions rich in nickel reserves, such as Central Sulawesi, South Sulawesi, Southeast Sulawesi, and North Maluku (Ahdiat, 2023). Southeast Sulawesi is the province with the highest increase in the poverty rate, reaching 11.43 percent; previously, in September 2022, it reached 11.27 percent (BPS, 2013; Yunus & Theodora, 2023). The increase in the percentage of poor people in Central Sulawesi reached 0.11 percent, South Sulawesi by 0.04 percent, and North Maluku by 0.09 percent (Yunus & Theodora, 2023).

Following President Joko Widodo's policy banning nickel ore exports on January 1, 2020, there was an increase in reporting on nickel smelters and mines. This policy was influenced by the downstream agenda's impact on the upstream nickel industry, particularly nickel mining and smelters.





Figure 5 Total Movement of Statements Related to the Nickel Industry

Source: processed research data, notes: * 1 January – 31 March

Figure 5 explains the number of stakeholder statements in news related to the nickel industry in Indonesia. In 2020, the nickel industry began to be discussed until it peaked on March 31, 2023. The frequency of statements in the news regarding the nickel industry experienced a gradual increase from 2020 to March 2023. The concept of nickel drove the increase in statements in the news about the nickel industry as the main component of electric vehicle batteries. Along with the topic of electric vehicle batteries, statements regarding social and environmental impacts in the upstream nickel sector (mining and smelter) are starting to emerge. One of the social issues that has triggered an increase in social impact is the issue of work accidents at PT Gunbuster Nickel Industry (PT GNI).

Moreover, analyzing the distribution of statements based on the actors analyzed from the media, it is evident that the government and investigative journalists dominated, accounting for 61 and 73 statements, respectively. Figure 6 illustrates the number of statements based on organization categories.



Figure 6 Distribution of Statements by Organization Categories



The debate and agreement between actors on each issue can also be seen from the visualization in Figure 7 below. The green line shows support, while the red line shows disagreement with the topic being discussed. The blue line shows debate within the same group of actors on a topic. The sizes of the box icons (topics being discussed) and circles (actors) are in line with the frequency of the topics and actors who make the most statements.



Figure 7 Debate and Agreement between Actors

Source: processed research data

In this picture, the President of the Republic of Indonesia is the actor with the highest frequency of mentioning nickel mines and smelters, which contribute to state revenues, downstream nickel industry, electric vehicle batteries, and illegal nickel mining. Two actors showed that there was debate on different topics, namely the POLRI and the DPR. In this case, POLRI actors have different views regarding the issue of legal mining. Some POLRI actors stated that there were illegal nickel mining and smelter practices, while other

26 Responsible

POLRI actors did not agree with this idea. Furthermore, the issue being debated between DPR actors was related to state revenue. Some DPR actors stated that nickel mines and smelters contributed to state revenues, but some did not agree with this statement due to certain cases.

Most statements regarding nickel mines and smelters were published in 2023 (January-March), with each statement attributed to the word "nickel". State organizations (President of the Republic of Indonesia, DPR, DPRD, Central Government, Regional Government, Law Enforcement Officials, and Judiciary) and companies tended to convey topics related to economic and political issues. Government organizations were the ones that most frequently make statements regarding economic issues. The President of the Republic of Indonesia has consistently stated that nickel mines and smelters are positive for the downstream nickel industry, electric vehicle batteries, increasing people's income and state revenues. There is only one issue that the President of the Republic of Indonesia was concerned about regarding nickel mines and smelters" the existence of illegal mines.

Even though they had the same opinion as the President of the Republic of Indonesia, the DPR RI had different opinions regarding nickel mining and smelters. The DPR RI agreed that nickel mines and smelters have a positive influence on downstream and electric vehicle batteries. However, the DPR RI stated that nickel mines and smelters have a negative impact on increasing people's income and environmental sustainability. Meanwhile, one concept being debated by the DPR RI was the concept of state revenue. Some individuals from the DPRI RI assessed that nickel mines and smelters are positive for state revenues, while others did not.

In contrast to state organizations at the central level, which tend to have the same view of a concept, the views of state organizations towards a concept at the regional level tend to vary. The regional-level state organization's agreement with the concept can be seen in Attachment 2.

Regional-level state organizations sometimes have some conflicting perspectives. One representative of the South Sulawesi Government, for example, stated that nickel mines and/or smelters had a positive impact on the concepts of state revenue, environmental sustainability, and legal mining but had a negative impact on increasing people's income. Apart from that, the government of Mandiolo Village, Konawe, stated that nickel mining and/or smelting had a positive impact on the concept of increasing people's income but had a negative impact on the concept of environmental sustainability. Likewise, the North Buton Government stated that nickel mining and/or smelters had a positive impact on the concept.

Civil society organizations, on the other hand, tended to highlight the negative impacts of nickel mines and smelters, particularly in environmental, human rights, political, and economic aspects. WALHI and JATAM are the CSOs that dominated discussions on the



negative impact of nickel mines and smelters. In this category, environmental sustainability was the most affected concept; in the human rights category, the concept of fulfilling labor rights was the most affected; for the political category, the concept of legal mining was the most affected; and from the economic category, the concept of increasing people's income was the most affected .

4.2 Capturing Unjust Energy Practices in Nickel Mining and Smelters



The environmental impacts caused by the upstream nickel industry include seawater pollution, groundwater pollution, air pollution, forest damage, and other environmental pollution. Meanwhile, in the human rights aspect, the impacts comprise land disputes/ conflicts, violations of workers' rights, no FPIC, violations of women's rights, and violence. This research also looks at aspects of governance in the nickel industry, one of which is corrupt practices.

4.2.1 Injustice from Environmental Aspect

Civil society organizations stated that the risks of nickel mining extraction in various regions had caused environmental damage, from deforestation, water, land, and air pollution to taking away people's living space (Mongabay.co.id, 27/02/23). From field research conducted by the People's Coalition for Fisheries Justice (KIARA) organization, it was stated that the nickel mining project had destroyed springs which were the source of drinking water for the community in several areas in the highlands of Wawonii Island, especially Southeast Wawonii and South Wawonii in the Wawonii Islands (Detik. com, 02/15/21).

In South Konawe, nickel mining has polluted sea water and triggered reactions from local residents. Hundreds of fishermen from Sangi-sangi and Ulu Sawa villages demonstrated on the PT Pintu Multi Sejahtera hauling road on Saturday (18/9/2021). They asked the mining company to take responsibility for marine pollution by stopping its activities. This was because fishermen's catches had decreased drastically over the last five months. After all, the sea was polluted by mining materials, which made the seawater reddish yellow (Tribunnews.com, 14/10/21).

In North Konawe, Southeast Sulawesi, nickel mining has a significant environmental

28 Respons

impact. The mining activities of PT Lawu Agung Mining (LAM) and PT Trimega Pasifik Indonesia (TPI) in the Mandiodo Block are increasingly disturbing the community around the mine. The clean water currently consumed is no longer suitable; it is thought to be mixed with waste containing nickel metal, thus polluting the ecosystem and water sources of the Lamondowo Village community (Pikiran-rakyat.com, 07/03/22).

Nickel mining activities have also polluted the groundwater in North Konawe. Landslides hit two schools. Mining activity was then accused of being the cause of this incident. A teacher who did not want to be named suspected that the landslide occurred due to the activities of the mining company PT Bumi Nickel Nusantara (BNN), where it rained overnight and brought mining materials towards the school. The teacher revealed that PT BNN's mining activities were only 500 meters from the school area. He said the company had come to the school and stated it would be responsible for the impact (Detik.com, 15/03/23).

Apart from environmental problems on land, nickel mining in North Konawe has also harmed the sea. It was found that the underwater conditions and coastal coral reefs of Boedingi Village in Lasolo Islands District were covered in nickel ore sedimentary mud at 10 meters. The sea water on the coast of the village is now reddish brown. (Tribunnews.com, 03/23/23).

Still in Southeast Sulawesi, PT Tonia Mitra Sejahtera (TMS) mining activities on concession land around Mount Sabanano, Kabaena Island, and Bombana Regency have resulted in alleged environmental pollution. Around 1,200 residents living in Balo Village and Bungi-Bungi Village, East Kabaena District, complained that the condition of the clean water used for their daily needs suddenly became cloudy, unlike usual. One of the residents of Balo Village, Eldiyatri Sultansyah, said that the water turbidity was thought to be caused by the eroding of the spring on Mount Sabanano as a result of mining activities (Pikiran-rakyat. com, 05/09/22). Illegal deforestation in Southeast Sulawesi also occurred throughout 2018-2020, reaching 1,700 hectares (Majalah Tempo, 29/01/22). Gunawan et al. (2015) show that the water around nickel mines and outside the mine is contaminated with the heavy metal lead (Pb) exceeding the specified threshold. As in Southeast Sulawesi, nickel mining has also created environmental damage in Central Sulawesi. Specifically in Morowali, a 2019 study by Action for Ecology and People's Emancipation (AEER) found that coal-fired power plants used for nickel production in Morowali had caused respiratory tract infections (ARI) in residents (Suara.com, 24/05 /22).

Apart from that, residents around the Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park (IMIP) bear the impact of environmental pollution due to the nickel industry. Drinking water must be shared with the large companies in the Indonesian Morowali Industrial Park (IMIP), so residents often do not get it. Even if the residents get it, the water is murky and can only be used for bathing and washing dishes. To drink, they buy bottled water instead. This kind of thing never happened before nickel mines operated on a large scale (Projectmultatuli.org, 11/14/22).



Mining concessions pursued by operations in nickel industrial areas have also caused environmental damage in North Maluku. In East Halmahera, red-brown PT Alam Raya Abadi (ARA) waste flooded fields, rice fields, fish ponds, and even the houses of residents of Baturaja Village, Wasile District, East Halmahera, North Maluku (Tirto. id, 12/07/21). In Weda, Central Halmahera, the rivers and sea are polluted, as are the residents' clean water sources. Previously, they could consume clear river water, but now they have to buy gallons of water (Mongabay.co.id, 28/08/22). In South Halmahera, since PT Trimegah Bangun Persada (TBP) entered and operated in Kawasi Village, Obi Island – where residents originally lived peacefully, farming and fishing to meet their family's economic needs – the region has turned into a mining area that has devastated land and coastal areas. Residents' lands have been annexed, plantation crops have disappeared, water sources have been polluted, the air is filled with dust and pollution, the sea water is murky and brownish, and even the fish have been contaminated with heavy metals (Suara.com, 03/25/23).



The findings on the environmental impacts of nickel mining mean that nickel mining practices in the areas mentioned are contrary to the concept of energy justice, especially recognition justice and restorative justice. It contradicts the concept of recognitional justice because nickel mining activities harm other parties, in this case the local residents, due to the environmental damage caused. Environmental damage due to nickel mining activities indicates that the companies involved do not have an environmental sustainability perspective in their production processes. Apart from that, the environmental damage that occurred also indicates that the nickel mining companies involved do not have preventive efforts in the environmental sector and do not mitigate the impacts caused. From the concept of restorative justice, there has been no attempt at social accountability for the impacts suffered by the residents.



4.2.2 Energy Injustice from the Human Rights Aspect

Apart from environmental impacts, nickel mines and smelters also impact human rights. One of the impacts on human rights is the occurrence of land disputes and conflicts. One good example of land conflict written about by Project Multatuli (31 January 2022) is the eviction of residents' land in South Halmahera, North Maluku, by PT Trimegah Bangun Persada . The encroachment of residents' lands was carried out by evicting and then negotiating the price. Landowners were not recognized as having rights to land ownership; instead, the lands were claimed as state lands. Consequently, the company only compensated for losses from guava plants based on the Decree (SK) of the Regent of South Halmahera Number 117 of 2017. The Regent's Decree regulates the price for guava plants, with details: per one fruitful guava tree for IDR 75,000, non-fruiting fruitful guava tree for IDR 35,000, and small ones or saplings cost IDR 6,000. Other crops, such as coconuts, are not regulated. From the area of land owned by a resident named Lily, the company only offered compensation worth IDR 129.7 million - a price that she said was not commensurate with the sweat she and her husband had spent so far. This land conflict case contradicts the energy justice concept in the recognition justice dimension, where the company does not have a fair compensation perspective, and the vital justice dimension because the company does not restore the rights of residents who have lost their source of livelihood.

In East Halmahera, nickel mining operations have violated the rights of indigenous communities. The reason is, as reported by Mongabay.co.id (18/02/23), the nickel mining corporation and the East Halmahera regional government never asked for the consent of the Tobelo indigenous community regarding the opening of mining areas that have destroyed their customary forests. The forests of the Tobelo Dalam indigenous community, who live in the Halmahera forest, are slowly being lost and turned into nickel mining and nickel industrial areas. Some residents still survive, and some have been forced to move to look for a new place to live because their living environment is no longer comfortable. After all, the river water and forests have been damaged. The absence of FPIC and the transfer of forest functions to the Tobelo indigenous community for nickel mining contradicts the entire concept of energy justice (distributional justice, procedural justice, recognition justice, and restorative justice). The impact of the nickel mining process results in the loss of living space, namely forests, for indigenous communities. This is also due to the absence of social mapping carried out by the company to see the local context, such as community culture. Thus, when the business enters, there will be culture shock or unpreparedness in the local community.

In addition, the opening of mining and industrial areas without the consent of indigenous communities reflects the lack of consideration from mining companies and local governments in making business and political decisions. The non-involvement of the Tobelo Dalam community regarding the use of forest areas for mining and nickel industrial



areas is a reflection of recognition injustice. Also, the impacts felt by the Tobelo Dalam indigenous community, such as river pollution and forest destruction, so that some had to move, reflect the lack of rights restoration sought by companies and the local government.

Not all nickel smelter companies have harmonious industrial relations. One example occurred at PT Gunbuster Nickel Industry (GNI) in North Morowali. In January 2023, there was a clash between local workers and foreign workers, which resulted in the death of two workers, 1 Indonesian citizen and 1 foreigner each. Quoted from Detik.com (18 January 2023), Minister of Manpower Ida Fauziyah said that the chaos was caused by employment issues demanded by representatives of the National Workers' Union, including demands regarding K3, wages, and layoffs. Industrial relations conflicts between local workers and companies and local workers and foreign workers illustrate that PT GNI's business practices are not following the concept of restorative justice because they do not have preventive and mitigation efforts related to industrial relations conflicts, as well as minimal implementation of social protection which ultimately gives rise to violation of workers' normative rights.

Previously, in December 2022, a 20-year-old female worker working at night was trapped in a crane that caught fire due to an explosion. Tempo. co (20/02/2022) reported that the female worker was reported to have "burned to death" along with other workers. This incident illustrates the high risk of work at PT Gunbuster Nickel Industry (GNI). Another PT GNI female worker said that the company did not provide workers with Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) such as masks, suits, and shoes that met standards, so they had to buy them themselves. Apart from that, data collected by the Mining Advocacy Network (JATAM) recorded that there were 10 employees of PT. GNI, who died in 2020. JATAM said the deaths were caused by, among other things, being buried by landslides, drowning, falling into hot dumps, and truck accidents (Tempo. co, 20/02/23). Information related to work accidents illustrates the low level of K3 standards. This is, of course, contrary to the concept of recognition justice because the company does not have K3 preventive and mitigation efforts.

Various previous studies have found negative impacts resulting from nickel mining in Central Sulawesi. Several studies show that local communities are directly affected through reduced income due to disruption of livelihoods from mining activities. For example, the people of Tamainusi Village, North Morowali, who work as stone crushers, can no longer work because the area has been controlled by a mining company. Also, fishermen around the mining area have experienced a decline in fish catches. They were previously able to catch up to 5,000 fish but now only managed to catch 1,000 (Teresa et al., 2021). Farmers in the village have also experienced crop failure due to climate change, such as high rainfall. Other environmental damage, such as air and dust pollution, which has an impact on the respiratory system and the growth of agricultural plants, is also experienced by residents around the mine.

32 Responsible

Apart from social and decent work problems, the upstream sector of the nickel industry also raises environmental problems. In Southeast Sulawesi, illegal deforestation occurred throughout 2018-2020, reaching 1,700 hectares (Majalah Tempo, 29/01/22). Gunawan et al. (2015) show that the water around nickel mines and outside the mine is contaminated with the heavy metal lead (Pb) exceeding the specified threshold.

WALHI (2020) also obtained field findings related to the impact of nickel mining on environmental damage located on Wawonii Island. Nickel mining in this area has caused damage to coral reefs, resulting in the loss of coral fish species (Parid, 2020). This is also in line with research from Nancy (2022) which shows that post-mining operations are the phase with the highest damage impact on environmental conditions and balance with a score of 4.75 points. This means that ecological, cultural damage and even economic losses resulting from post-mining activities have a significant impact on the lives of surrounding communities, especially the lives of indigenous communities and other vulnerable groups (Nancy, 2022).

The impact of mining activities on the lives of indigenous communities and other vulnerable groups is discussed in more detail in research by Glynn and Maimunah (2023). This study examines the impact of nickel mining, specifically on the lives of Karonsie Dongi traditional women in South Sulawesi, and the resistance they are carrying out regarding the adverse effects of mining activities. In this case, the male population benefits more from the existence of the mining sector than the indigenous female population because men are needed in large numbers and dominate the labor sector of mining companies. The mining sector, still interpreted as a male-dominated world, makes it difficult for women to find work (Glynn & Maimunah, 2023). Other vulnerable groups, such as children, are also affected by the presence of nickel mines. Every year, some accidents happen to children when they go to school due to the lack of safety on roads converted as heavy mining equipment routes (Glynn & Maimunah, 2023).

4.2.3 Energy Injustice from the Governance Aspect

The poor governance of the nickel industry can be seen in the massive corruption cases. These corruption cases usually involve abuse of authority by public officials in granting Forest Area Utilization Permit (IPPKH) and Mining Business License (IUP) to mining companies. For example, a case of alleged abuse of authority reported by Pikiran Rakyat on February 7, 2022, befell the Head of the Southeast Sulawesi Energy and Mineral Resources Service due to the lack of synchronization between company documents deed number 27 dated 2021-06-16 with the Production Operational IUP (IUP OP) with the SK number owned by PT. Kurnia Degess Pratama 540.3/SK.008/DESDM/V/2011 effective date of SK 5/23/2011 and expiration date of SK 5/1/2031 (Pikiran Rakyat, 2022). Thus, a company founded only in 2021 is unlikely to have had an OP IUP since 2011 (Pikiran Rakyat, 2022). Apart from that, corruption in granting nickel mining permits was also carried out by the Regent of North



Konawe, which caused state losses of up to IDR 2.7 trillion (Pradila, 2021).

In this regard, the results of the researchers' Incremental Capital Output Ratio (ICOR) calculation to see investment efficiency in the nickel industrial area show a high value. In Southeast Sulawesi province, the ICOR value obtained in 2021 reached 10.6% and decreased to 7.5% in 2022. A high ICOR value indicates greater investment required to achieve additional output or economic growth. The high ICOR value also indicates illegal levies and corruption occurring in Southeast Sulawesi's nickel industry processing chain.

Furthermore, various previous studies have found the negative impacts resulting from nickel mining in Central Sulawesi. Some studies indicate that the surrounding communities are directly affected, such as reduced income due to disrupted mining activities. For example, the community of Tamainusi Village, North Morowali, who work as stone breakers, cannot return to work because the area has been taken over by mining companies. Furthermore, fishermen around the mining area have experienced a decrease in their catch, which was originally able to catch up to 5,000 fish, but now only manage to catch 1,000 fish (Teresa et al., 2021). Farmers in the village also experience crop failure due to climate change, such as high rainfall. Other environmental damages such as air pollution and dust affecting respiratory systems and agricultural plant growth are also experienced by the residents around the mine.

Chapter 5

BANK INVOLVEMENT IN THE NICKEL INDUSTRY FINANCING VORTEX IN INDONESIA

010

In light of the substantial demand for nickel minerals, mining companies and capital owners, including investors, investment managers, and financial institutions, have initiated extensive financing activities. This trend has also spurred companies from various countries to enter the Indonesian market through sub-holding entities.



1010100101010101010

011010101010

0101101100110110101010101

0101010101



5.1 Increased Nickel Investment

The downstream plan has garnered favorable attention from foreign investors, as evidenced by PMA throughout 2022. Data from BKPM (2022) reveals that foreign investment in the basic metal, metal goods, non-machinery, and equipment industrial sector surged to USD 11 billion, constituting 24% of the total FDI.

Regarding investment destinations, **Central Sulawes**i emerged as the primary recipient, attracting 16.4% of the total incoming FDI, amounting to **USD 7.5 billion** from 2019 to 2022.



In light of the substantial demand for nickel minerals, mining companies and capital owners, including investors, investment managers, and financial institutions, have initiated extensive financing activities. This trend has also spurred companies from various countries to enter the Indonesian market through sub-holding entities. Evidence from investment data released by BKPM in 2022 indicates that PMA dominates over Domestic Investment (PMDN), accounting for 54.2% or IDR 654.4 trillion (a 44.2% YoY increase) compared to domestic capital of IDR 552.8 trillion or 45.8% (a 23.6% increase).

The distribution of PMA locations aligns with the nickel mining map in Indonesia. As of June 2021, the Directorate General of Mineral and Coal reported a total of 338 active permits, including 4 Mining Exploration Permits/Exploration Work Contracts (Exploration IUPs/KKs) and 328 Production Operation Permits/Operation Work Contracts (OP IUPs/KKs), spanning approximately 866 thousand hectares. Sulawesi holds the majority of permits, with 282 IUP/ KK OP or 83% of the total nickel mining permits in Indonesia. The mining area in Sulawesi covers 611 thousand hectares, accounting for 70% of Indonesia's total nickel mining area. Specifically, there are 2 Exploration IUPs in Southeast Sulawesi and 2 in South Sulawesi,

36 ResponsiBank

while OP/KK IUPs are distributed across various provinces, including 170 in Southeast Sulawesi, 100 in Central Sulawesi, 4 in South Sulawesi, 45 in North Maluku, 2 in Maluku, 2 in South Kalimantan, 4 in West Papua, and 1 in Papua.

According to the Directorate General of Mineral and Coal (2021), the nickel ore mining industry and its processed products contribute significantly to the country's economy through taxes and Non-Tax State Revenue (PNBP). In 2022, nickel PNBP surged to IDR 4.18 trillion, marking an eightfold increase from the royalties received in 2015, which amounted to IDR 531 billion. This growth was also prompted by the rise in the Nickel Reference Mineral Price (HMA) in May 2022.

The downstream plan has led to a substantial increase in investment rates in Central Sulawesi, translating into significant GDP growth, with a rise of 11.7% in 2021 and 15.17% in 2022. This growth mirrors the FDI trend towards the nickel sector, particularly in Central Sulawesi. However, the investment has not substantially impacted regional GDP or poverty levels. The poverty rate in Central Sulawesi remained high at 13% in 2021, only marginally decreasing to 12.33% in 2022. The open unemployment rate in September 2022 stood at 3%, a decrease of 0.75% from September 2021. Additionally, heightened investment interest in the metal industry sector, such as nickel, has led to extensive construction of smelters and nickel mining activities.

5.2 Landscape of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia

5.2.1 Nickel Mining in Indonesia

Indonesia and Australia each boast nickel reserves of 21 million metric tons from global nickel deposits (Garside, 2023). However, Indonesia stands out as the largest producer globally. Indonesia leads in nickel production, accounting for nearly half of the global output, approximately 48%, while Australia contributes only 5% to global nickel production (Ho and Listiyorini, 2023). With production on the rise, Indonesia is projected to supply over 60% of the world's nickel by 2030 (Lee, 2023).

According to estimates from the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS), Indonesia's nickel production in 2022 was expected to reach 1.6 million metric tons (Garside, 2023), marking the apex of nickel production in Southeast Asia. In 2023, Indonesia aimed to add 500,000 tons of annual production capacity (Listiyorini, 2022).

With the escalation in nickel production and governmental initiatives to promote downstream projects, the number of smelters has increased. The Indonesian Nickel Miners Association (APNI) reported that as of January 2023, there were 43 operating nickel processing factories (smelters) (Muliawati, 2023) with 199 furnaces (Rahayu, 2023). Nickel ore consumption for these 43 smelters reached 145 million tonnes per year, and by 2025, it is projected that there will be a total of 136 smelters with nickel ore requirements reaching 400 million tonnes per year.



Almost all nickel smelter furnaces, totaling 99% of ownership, are affiliated with China (Muliawati, 2023). This aligns closely with the Skarn Associates report (2023), which states that around 92.5% of nickel smelter furnaces, 137 out of 148, are affiliated with China.

China's dominance in nickel smelter ownership in Indonesia results in the majority of nickel downstream products flowing to that country. Nickel exports from Indonesia to China surged by almost 700% during the January-November 2022 period compared to the same period in 2021 (Kusnandar, 2023). Total nickel exports to China during January-November 2022 amounted to 581,664 tonnes, while in 2021, they were 82,353 tonnes. Indonesia also exports nickel to Japan, totaling 83,162 tonnes in 2021 and 71,250 tonnes during January-November 2022. Additionally, exports to South Korea amounted to 248 tons in 2021 and 19,441 tons during January-November 2022. Other exports were recorded to Malaysia, Norway, India, Singapore, Hong Kong, Brazil, and the United States.

Indonesia's significant nickel production poses severe environmental risks. Each ton of nickel produced in Indonesia emits an average of 58.6 tons of carbon dioxide (CO2) (Ho and Listiyorini, 2023), surpassing the global average of 48 tons of carbon dioxide. These emissions arise from the mining process, transportation, and the utilization of coal-fired steam power plants (PLTU) for nickel processing. Presently, the nickel smelting process remains heavily reliant on coal energy sources.



Figure 8 Status and Capacity of Captive PLTU for Nickel Smelters in Indonesia in 2023

Source: Global Energy Monitor et al., 2023, prepared by the researchers.

Indonesia is reported to have captive PLTU for nickel smelters totaling 7.2 Gigawatts (GW) already in operation. Additionally, there are 8 GW under construction and 2 GW in preconstruction status (Global Energy Monitor et al., 2023).

Nickel processing in Indonesia is dispersed across various industrial areas and smelters as follows:

38 🛤

Pomalaa Industrial Park	On Plan	Pomalaa, Southeast Sulawesi		Vale Indonesia and its partners are projected as shareholders because Vale holds a nickel concession covering 24,000 hectares in the area.
Green Industrial Park North Kaliman- tan	2021	Bulungan, North Kalimantan	30,000 hectare	China and the United Arab Emirates (UAE), and local tycoon Garibaldi Thohir
Batang In-dustrial Park	2021	Batang, Central Java	500 hectare	Intiland
Luwu Indus- trial Park	2021	Luwu, South Sulawesi		Kalla Group with possible collaboration with Posco
Industrial Weda Bay Industrial Park (IWIP)	2018	Weda Bay, Halmahera, North Maluku	538 hectare	Perlux Technology Co. Ltd 40% (Tsingshans Group)
Obi Island Industrial Park	2018	Obi Island, Halmahera, Maluku Utara		Harita Group
Virtual Dragon Nickel Industrial Park (VDNIP)	2015	Konawe, Central Sulawesi	1,537.17 hectare	Jiangsu Delong
Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park (IMIP)	2014	Morowali, Central Sulawesi	2,000 hectare	Shanghai Decent Investment Group 49.7% (Tsingshan Group);
Industrial Park	Construction	Location	Land Area	Shareholders

Figure 9. Industrial Areas and Nickel Downstreaming in Indonesia



Ford Motor	Huayou		\$4.5 bln in 2023
		CATL*	
		LG Energy Solution, CATL*	\$9,8 bln in 2022
		Posco, Lygend Resources*	\$2 bln in 2022
Huayou Group 30%	Zhenshi Group 30%	Eramet	\$7,5 bln in 2018
		Zhejiang Lygend Investment (Lygend Resources & Technology), Xinxing Ductile Iron Pipes	\$ 2,2 bln in 2023
Xiamen Xiangyu Group	China First Heavy Industries Group		\$5 bln in 2015
Sulawesi Mining Investment (Shanghai Decent 46.55%, Bintang Delapan Investama 26.65%, Reed International and Fujuian Decent Industrial)	Bintang Delapan Investama 25.3%	Huayue, Dexin Steel, Brunp Recycling Technology, Hanwa, Hengjaya, GEM, etc	\$22 bln in June 2023
Shareholders	Shareholders	Other Companies Known Invest in The Area	Investment

Sources: D-Insights Katadata, Wood Mackenzie, Kemenperin, Investor, Bloomberg, CNBC Indonesia, Nikkei Asia, Reuters, and data processed by the

researchers

Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia

40 ResponstBank

5.2.2 Key Business Entities for Nickel Mining in the Upstream Sector

Indonesia is an important home for the global nickel industry landscape. There are various types of nickel industry. In this context, the upstream sector of the nickel industry is mining. Determination of key entities in the upstream sector is based on concession ownership. The data source for key player criteria is from mining permits issued by the Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources (ESDM) and data from related companies.

There are at least five companies with the largest number of nickel concessions in Indonesia. The five are PT Vale Indonesia Tbk, PT Aneka Tambang Tbk, PT Bintang Empat Group, PT Weda Bay Nickel, and PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk. Three of the five companies are public companies listed on the Indonesian Stock Exchange.

These five companies have parent companies, but not all of them are in Indonesia. In this case, for example, the final beneficiary of PT Vale Indonesia Tbk is Vale SA in Brazil, PT Weda Bay Nickel is Eramet SA, a mining company from France. The beneficiaries based in Indonesia are PT Aneka Tambang Tbk: the Indonesian government; PT Bintang Empat Group: Halim Mina, entrepreneur from Indonesia; and PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk.

The following is a breakdown of key players by number of nickel concessions:

1. PT Vale Indonesia Tbk

PT Vale Indonesia Tbk has a concession area covering 118,017 hectares. It is distributed in Bahodopi Block, Central Sulawesi, covering 22,699 hectares; Sorowako Block, South Sulawesi, covering 70,566 hectares; Pomalaa Block, Southeast Sulawesi, covering 20,286 hectares; and Sua-Sua Block, Southeast Sulawesi, covering 4,466 hectares (Annual Report PT Vale Indonesia Tbk, 2022). Shareholders as of 2022 are Vale Canada Limited 43.79%, Public 20.64%, PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminium (Persero) 20%, Sumitomo Metal Mining Co Ltd 15.03%, Vale Japan Limited 0.54%. The ultimate beneficial owner is Vale SA.

2. PT Aneka Tambang Tbk

PT Aneka Tambang has nickel concessions spread across several locations and companies. The total area of PT Antam's active concession or production operation status is 81,424.50 ha. Details of the concession area under PT Antam directly are 33,104.50 ha (MODI ESDM, 2023) covering Konawe Regency and North Konawe Regency in Southeast Sulawesi Province. Under its subsidiaries, PT Sumberdaya Arindo has a concession area of 14,421 ha and PT Nusa Karya Arindo has an area of 20,763 ha in East Halmahera Regency, North Maluku Province (ANTAM, 2023). PT Gag Nickel has a concession area of 13,136 ha in Raja Ampat Regency, West Papua Province. The shareholder is the Indonesian government through PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminum (Persero) which owns 65% of the shares in PT Aneka Tambang. As many as 35% of the shares are with the public (Annual Report 2022 PT Antam).



3. PT Bintang Delapan Group

According to PT Bintang Delapan Mineral, a part of the Bintang Delapan Group, the total concession area of PT Bintang Delapan Group is 47,000 hectares (Bintang Delapan Mineral, 2019). However, according to Minerba One Data Indonesia (MODI), the active concession area or production operation status is 20,765 hectares (MODI, 2023). All concessions are located in Morowali Regency, Central Sulawesi Province. The ultimate beneficiary of Bintang Delapan Mineral is the businessman Halim Mina (RS and Kurniawan, 2018).

4. PT Weda Bay Nickel

The French company Eramet SA entered the nickel business in 2006 after acquiring shares in PT Weda Bay Nickel (WBN) (Eramet, 2023). The share composition of PT WBN is 90% owned by Strand Mineralindo Pte Ltd and 10% by PT Aneka Tambang Tbk. Currently, Strand's shareholders (Eramet, 2017) consist of Eramet SA with 43% and Tsingshan with 57%. PT WBN's nickel concession area covers 45,065 hectares (MODI ESDM, 2017) in Central Halmahera Regency and East Halmahera Regency, North Maluku Province.

5. PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk

PT Merdeka Battery Materials, through its subsidiary PT Sulawesi Cahaya Mineral, holds a nickel concession area of 21,000 hectares (MODI ESDM, 2018) in Konawe Regency, Southeast Sulawesi Province. The ultimate beneficiary of PT MBM is PT Merdeka Copper Gold Tbk (Merdeka, 2023), with shares partially owned by the Indonesian Minister of Tourism, Sandiaga Uno, through PT Saratoga Investama Sedaya, and Garibaldi "Boy" Thohir, the older brother of BUMN Minister Erick Thohir.

5.2.3 Key Business Entities for Nickel Mining in the Downstream Sector

The downstream nickel policy in Indonesia, coupled with the government's ban on raw material exports, has spurred massive investment in nickel processing. Currently, there are several key business entities operating in the downstream nickel sector in Indonesia, particularly in smelters for the electric battery industry. The criteria for identifying key players are determined based on investment value, production capacity, number of operating smelters, and downstream plans.

Based on these criteria, 11 related companies or consortia are the subject of analysis. Some companies own nickel mines directly, integrating both upstream and downstream activities, while several others operate solely as smelters, sourcing materials from different companies.



These 11 companies or consortia can be classified based on the countries of origin:



Below is the business portfolio of downstream nickel companies, including consortia, and their smelter expansion plans aimed at manufacturing batteries for electric vehicles.

1. PT Vale Indonesia Tbk

PT Vale Indonesia Tbk is a subsidiary of VALE SA in Brazil. According to data from the Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources, Vale holds the largest nickel mining concession in Indonesia, covering 118,000 hectares in the provinces of Central Sulawesi, Southeast Sulawesi, and South Sulawesi. Of this area, approximately 16,000 hectares of nickel concessions are currently being exploited. Presently, Vale owns and operates one smelter in Sorowako, South Sulawesi, with an annual capacity of around 70,000 tons of matte nickel.

Vale has expansion plans for three smelters with a total investment value of USD 8.6 billion by 2023. Vale will expand in the Pomalaa Block, Kolaka, Southeast Sulawesi, in collaboration with United States car manufacturer Ford Motor (Ford, 2023) and Chinese battery manufacturer Zhejiang Huayou Cobalt Co to construct an HPAL nickel smelter with an annual production of 120,000 tons of mixed hydroxide precipitate (MHP). The total investment value of this collaboration between the three companies is USD 4.5 billion (Reuters, 2023).

Vale is also collaborating in the Sowowako Block, East Luwu, South Sulawesi (Riyandanu, 2022), with Zhejiang Huayou Cobalt Co and PT Huali Nickel Indonesia to build a High Pressure Acid Leaching (HPAL) smelter with an annual production target of 60,000-ton MHP (Vale, 2023). The investment value for this project is estimated at USD 1.8 billion. Additionally, Vale is constructing an 80,000-ton annual ferronickel product smelter in the Bahodopi Block (Agung, 2022), Morowali, Central Sulawesi, in collaboration with Taiyuan Iron & Steel Co Ltd (Tisco) and Shandong Xinhai Technology Co Ltd, with an investment value of USD 2.1 billion.



2. Tsingshan (IMIP and IWIP)

Tsingshan Group owns two of the largest nickel industrial areas in Indonesia, where several smelter companies operate. Under the Tsingshan Group, there are two industrial areas, namely Indonesia Morowali Industrial Park (IMIP) and Indonesia Weda Bay Park (IWIP). In the IMIP area (Eternal Tsingshan Group Co., Ltd., 2018) located in Morowali Regency, Central Sulawesi Province, there are three smelter clusters (IMIP, 2022). These clusters produce nickel pig iron and stainless steel, carbon steel, and battery cathodes.

IMIP hosts a captive/industrial PLTU with a capacity of more than 2,000 MW. The annual ferronickel production capacity for companies under the Tsingshan Group at IMIP reaches 1.8 million tonnes, ferrochromium 300,000 tonnes, steel production 3 million tonnes, and hot rolled steel 3 million tonnes. The second area under the Tsingshan Group is IWIP (Eternal Tsingshan Group Co., Ltd., 2017), located in Central Halmahera Regency, North Maluku Province. IWIP is integrated with a nickel mine on Halmahera Island, which has nickel reserves of 9.3 million tons. In 2017, Tsingshan collaborated with Eramet Group, based in France, to build a smelter at IWIP.

3. PT Bintang Delapan Mineral (IMIP)

The final beneficiary of PT Bintang Delapan Mineral is businessman Halim Mina. Bintang Delapan Minerals holds shares in a smelter company in collaboration with Tsingshan. In 2009, PT Sulawesi Mining Investment (SMI) was formed with a 55% stake held by Shanghai Decent Investment (a subsidiary of Tsingshan Group) and 45% by Bintang Empat Group (Ministry of Industry, 2013). By 2010, investment into SMI (Tsingshan, 2013) had reached USD 1 billion. The production target was to reach 300,000 tons/year of Nickel Pig Iron (NPI) and 1,000,000 tons of stainless steel.

In 2016, Bintang Delapan Mineral and Tsingshan also established PT Tsingshan Steel Indonesia (TSI). The share ownership comprised 80% held by Shanghai Decent Investment and 20% by Bintang Delapan Minerals. The investment in TSI amounted to USD 119 million. The smelter's production capacity was set at 500,000 tons/year of Nickel Pig Iron (NPI) and 1,000,000 tons/year of Carbon Steel.

4. Jiangsu Delong Nickel (Dragon Virtue)

There are three smelter companies under the Jiangsu Delong Nickel group, namely PT Virtue Dragon Nickel Indonesia (VDNI), PT Obsidian Stainless Steel (OSS), and PT Gunbuster Nickel Indonesia (GNI). In 2019, Jiangsu Delong Nickel established an industrial area in Morosi, Konawe Regency, Southeast Sulawesi Province with an area of 2,253 hectares. Within the industrial area, VDNI and OSS operate. Investment for VDNI reached USD 1.4 billion (Maskur, 2019), while for OSS it was USD 2 billion (Amali and Aziz, 2020).

VDNI's production capacity target is 1,000,000 tons of ferronickel, and OSS aims for 3,500,000 tons of stainless steel. Meanwhile, in 2021, GNI began operating in North Morowali Regency, Central Sulawesi Province, with an industrial area of 1,907 hectares

44 🛤

(Harlina, 2021). The investment value of GNI reached USD 3 billion (Yessy, 2021). The annual production target is 1,800,000 tons of ferronickel.

5. Harita dan Lygend Resources

Harita Group is collaborating with Lygend Resources to form an electric battery smelter company. Lygend is one of the major players in the nickel supply chain in China. To finance nickel expansion with Harita, on December 1, 2022, Lygend conducted a share offering (Initial Public Offering/IPO) on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Lygend raised USD 470 million from the IPO, making it the fourth largest IPO of 2022 on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (Li and Pacheco, 2022). As much as 56.4% of the funds from Lygend's IPO will be used for the smelter project with Harita on Obi Island. On April 12, 2023, Harita also conducted an IPO on the Indonesian Stock Exchange (Pacheco & Ho, 2023). Harita received USD 659 million, equivalent to almost IDR 10 trillion, the largest for an IPO in Indonesia in 2023 (Ruehl, 2023).

PT Halmahera Persada Lygend (HPAL) smelter produces mixed hydroxide precipitate (MHP) as raw material for electric batteries. HPAL's annual production target is 37,000 tons of MHP. Harita has an electric battery smelter expansion plan for phase II and phase III. The total annual production target is 83,000 tons. Another Harita smelter operating since 2016 is PT Megah Surya Pertiwi (MSP). The final product is ferronickel with a capacity of 25,000 tons/year with four lines. PT Halmahera Jaya Feronikel (HJF) has been operating since 0ctober 2022 with a production target of 95,000 tons/year with 8 production lines.

6. Contemporary Amperex Technology Ltd (CATL)

CATL is one of the largest battery manufacturing companies in China. In Indonesia, CATL has collaborations with a number of companies. The current collaboration in 2023 is at the Conditional Share Purchase Agreement (CSPA) stage between CATL, Antam, and Indonesia Battery Corporation (Investor ID, 2023). The total value of this agreement reaches USD 5.69 billion. The project is part of a large program in Project Dragon, which combines upstream and downstream from mining, smelting, batteries to recycling (Maulia, 2022).

Details show that PT Aneka Tambang Tbk (Antam), through its subsidiary PT Sumber Daya Arindo (SDA), will collaborate with Ningbo Contemporary Brunp Lygend (CBL), a subsidiary of CATL and Lygend Resources. Antam and CBL plan to collaborate on nickel mining worth USD 226 million, construction of a ferronickel smelter worth USD 1.8 billion, and construction of an HPAL technology smelter for electric batteries worth USD 1.3 billion.

Then CBL and IBC collaborate for battery, cathode, and battery cell recycling facilities worth USD 114 million each, a cathode recycling plant of USD 647 million, and a battery cell recycling plant of USD 1.6 billion. CATL is also taking part in the HPAL smelter project at IMIP, namely PT QMB New Energy Materials, together with Tsingshan and the Chinese battery recycling company, GEM. CATL through Brunp has a 10% stake in QMB (GEM, 2023).



7. LG Corporation

LG Corporation, a South Korean company that produces electric batteries, is involved in upstream and downstream investment cooperation in Indonesia. According to the Ministry of Investment/BKPM (2023), LG is involved in a partnership worth USD 9.8 billion for the electric battery project consisting of LG Energy Solution, LG Chem, Zhejiang Huayou Cobalt, LX International, POSCO Future M, with PT Aneka Tambang (Antam) Tbk and Indonesia Battery Corporation (IBC).

This project consists of building a battery cell factory in Karawang, West Java, worth USD 1.1 billion with a battery cell production capacity of up to 10 Gigawatt-hours (GWh) in April 2024. The next project is the construction of a smelter, precursor, and cathode, as well as mining with Antam in Buli, Halmahera.

8. Zhejiang Huayou Cobalt

Zhejiang Huayou Cobalt is a battery supply chain company in China with a market capitalization of USD 9.45 billion (Markets FT, 2023) and operates smelters at IMIP and IWIP, with plans for two additional smelters in Pomalaa and Sorowako. In 2022, Huayou collaborated with Vale and Ford on the Pomalaa smelter project (Bushey et al., 2023), worth USD 4.5 billion, expected to be completed in 2025. Huayou will be the majority shareholder with 53%, Ford 17%, and Vale 30%. The nickel supply from this project, powered by fossil gas, will support Ford's ambition to produce 2 million electric vehicles per year.

Zhejiang Huayou Cobalt Co and CNGR Advanced Materials Co, which operate a smelter at IMIP, also collaborate with the large United States automotive company, Tesla (Lee, 2022). The total value of the agreement is USD 5 billion over five years. Zhejiang supply materials for lithium batteries from 1 July 2022 to the end of 2025, while CNGR supply materials from 2023 to 2025. In Tesla's supply chain report (2021), since 2021, Huayou has been a supplier of nickel and cobalt to Tesla.

9. Posco

Pohang Iron and Steel Company (Posco) is a major steel producer in South Korea. Posco is beginning to enter the nickel supply chain. Previously, Posco had entered the steel business in Indonesia. Posco is involved with the Kalla Group, a company affiliated with Jusuf Kalla, a national conglomerate (Sunardi, 2021). Posco is the off-taker (buyer) of nickel sulfate produced by the Kalla Group subsidiary smelter factory, namely PT Bumi Mineral Sulawesi.

Posco and Lygend Resources are also involved in cooperation to build a smelter for electric batteries in Sulawesi starting construction in 2023 with an operational target of 2025 (Hyun-bin, 2023). The annual production capacity is 60,000 tons—enough for the needs of 1.2 million electric vehicles—and the annual production capacity can be increased to 120,000 tons (Chea, 2023). Posco has also invested USD 441 million in building a smelter for electric batteries at IWIP, Halmahera (Seung-yeon, 2023). The smelter's capacity is 52,000



tonnes of battery raw material nickel per year, equivalent to powering around 1 million electric vehicles (EV).

10. Kalla Group

Kalla Group, a national company affiliated with Jusuf Kalla (Kalla, 2023), will build a nickel industrial area to produce ferronickel with a capacity of 33,000 tons/year and 31,400 tons/ year nickel sulfate at the Luwu Industrial Park in Luwu Regency, South Sulawesi for its smelter through PT Bumi Sulawesi Minerals (Siddiq, 2023). The total investment value for these two types of smelters reaches USD 2 billion (Listyorini, 2022).

By 2030, Kalla Group plans to build 14 furnaces at the smelter with a total investment value of IDR 10 trillion. The first stage is to build two furnaces with an investment value of IDR 2.88 trillion. In the context of generating power for the smelter, Kalla will utilize the hydroelectric power generation (PLTA) it owns, namely the 515 MW Poso PLTA and the 90 MW Malea PLTA. Kalla has collaborated with LG through Posco to absorb the nickel sulfate produced because LG plans to process nickel sulfate into a cathode precursor for battery materials in Indonesia.

11. Indonesia Battery Corporation

The government-owned company formed a consortium to downstream nickel, named the Indonesia Battery Corporation (IBC). There are four state-owned enterprises (BUMNs) in it, namely MIND ID, PLN, Pertamina, and Antam, each holding 25% shares. IBC has collaborated for end-to-end electric batteries from mining to batteries with two large companies, namely Contemporary Amperex Technology Ltd (CATL) and LG, with a total investment of both reaching USD 15 billion. Another IBC project is an energy storage system between PLN and MIND ID to support renewable energy power plants which require large capacity batteries to store energy (Afriyadi, 2023). IBC also plays in electric vehicles with majority share ownership in Gesits.

5.3 Financing Flows for the Nickel Industry in Indonesia

5.3.1 Aggregate Aliran Investasi Industri Nikel

Data on nickel investment in Indonesia in aggregate amounts face challenges for data collection, due to dynamic data, differences in data between ministries, and the diversity of data sources. Aggregate information on nickel industry investment in 2023 was released from a statement by the Ministry of Industry (Kemenperin). In August 2023, the Ministry of Industry (2023) stated that 34 nickel smelters were operating and 17 smelters were in the construction stage.

The investment value for the pyrometallurgical smelter reached USD 11 billion, equivalent to IDR 165 trillion (assuming an average USD exchange rate in 2020 of IDR 14,525). Meanwhile, the investment value for hydrometallurgical smelters reached USD 2.8 billion, equivalent



to almost IDR 40 trillion. Thus, the combined investment for all types of smelters in Indonesia as of 2023 reached at least USD 13.8 billion or the equivalent of IDR 205 trillion. This data differs from that of the Coordinating Ministry for Maritime Affairs and Investment which notes that there are 66 nickel smelters that have permits. This data comes from two institutions, namely the Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources and the Ministry of Industry. The estimate for the 66 smelters is that the total demand for nickel ore (ore) is 119 million tons/year and the total production capacity is 23.71 million tons/year.

The Coordinating Ministry for Maritime Affairs and Fisheries detailed that out of the 66 smelters, 26 smelters are operational, 37 smelters are in the construction stage, and 3 smelters are in the planning stage. The total investment in 66 smelters reached USD 29.79 billion or IDR 432 trillion (average USD exchange rate in 2020 IDR 14,525). Aggregate nickel investment data is also provided by Katadata's D-Insights calculations. In the table below, we can see the aggregate smelter investment in the six-year period from 2017 to 2022. Total smelter investment was recorded at USD 1.8 billion. This value is certainly smaller than the smelter investment information from the two ministries above.

In terms of foreign direct investment (FDI) in nickel-rich provinces, it was recorded that in the six-year period, the highest was Central Sulawesi at USD 16 billion, then North Maluku Province at USD 11.3 billion, followed by Southeast Sulawesi Province at USD 6.1 billion, and lastly, South Sulawesi Province, namely USD 2.6 billion. If calculated on an island basis, namely Sulawesi Island for three provinces, the total FDI amount is USD 24.7 billion.

In Indonesia, the basic metals industry (which includes iron and steel products that are also closely related to nickel downstream) has achieved high Gross Domestic Product (GDP) (Ministry of Industry, 2023). In Semester I-2023, the GDP of the basic metal industry would reach IDR 66.8 trillion. Previously, during 2022 GDP reached IDR 124.29 trillion, higher than in 2021 of IDR 108.27 trillion.

Central Sulawesi Province is the province with the highest foreign investment.

This reflects the existence of a nickel area in Morowali (Kemenperin, 2021). The export value of base metals, including nickel, from Morowali for 6 years (2016-2021) from Kolonodale Port, reached a total of USD 18.06 billion, equivalent to a contribution of 22.8% of the total exports of the base metal industry nationally.

48

Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia

Value of Investment & Year	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	Total
Smelter Investment	0,42	311,9	430,91	776,34	224,94	57,7	1.802,21
Value of Foreign Direct Investment per region							
Central Sulawesi	1.545,60	672,4	1.805	1.779,10	2.718,10	7.486	16.006,20
South Sulawesi	712,8	617,2	302,6	236	309,9	469	2.647,50
Southeast Tenggara	693	672,9	987	1.268,60	1.616,40	877,9	6.115,80
North Maluku	228,1	362,8	1.008,50	2.408,90	2.819,80	4.487,50	11.315,60

Table 4: Smelter Investment and Foreign Investment in Nickel-Rich Provinces (in million USD)

Source: D-Insights Katadata, 12 February 2023

Meanwhile, the investment in nickel by country can be observed in the dominance of ownership of nickel concessions and smelters, with China ranking first in investment in nickel-producing islands in Indonesia. According to Bloomberg data (2022), the value of Chinese investment in two nickel-rich islands in Indonesia has significantly increased in the last decade (2012-September 2022). This investment is associated with the construction of smelters, refineries, and other related infrastructure such as a new metallurgical school and a nickel museum.

The value of China's investment in Sulawesi Island (including its provinces) and Halmahera Island (administratively included in North Maluku Province) amounts to USD 14.2 billion. In comparison, other countries, namely Australia, Canada, South Korea, and the United States, reached an investment value of USD 1.5 billion in the same period and on the same two islands. These four countries combined represent approximately 10% of the value of China's investment in the two nickel-rich islands in Indonesia. This data also highlights the key nickel players by country as China, Canada, Australia, the United States, and South Korea. Additionally, there are smaller nickel industry players from Europe, namely Eramet, a mining company from France, and BASF, a chemical company from Germany. Eramet and BASF are collaborating on a nickel and cobalt smelter project in Indonesia, specifically the Weda Bay Industrial Park (IWIP), in Halmahera and North Maluku, with an investment value of USD 2.6 billion (Bloomberg, 2023).



>
Ę
'n
ō
2
ģ
S
E
<u>a</u>
<u>0</u>
<u> </u>
Å
a
Σ
t
-L
ž
a
С.
Ę
Ĕ
声
Ï
p
a
. <u>v</u>
)e
a
B
S
.⊆
Ъ
e
ţ
ŝ
ž
-
പ്
<u>e</u>
ab
Ë

Country & Year	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022
China	31,8 million	5,8 million	126 million	137,2 million	1,5 billion	1,9 billion	665,4 million	2,3 billion	2,4 billion	1,9 billion	3,2 billion
Korea Selatan	22,5 million	1,8 million	4,4 million	9,9 million	32,7 million	5,8 million	10,3 million	16,9 million	231.100	6 million	719.600
Australia	29,8 million	30 million	17,7 million	14,4 million	26,8 million	94,6 million	5,5 million	2,3 million	23,4 million	28,1 million	17,8 million
Kanada	0	94,2 million	155.700	72,3 million	94,4 million	68,5 million	101,6 million	166,4 million	159,1 million	168,8 million	141,9 million
United States	680.800	253.300	1 million	37,4 million	14,4 million	6,5 million	602.500	775.300	1,2 million	363.200	11,2 million
Total	84,8 million	132 million	149,2 million	271,2 million	1,7 billion	2,1 billion	783,4 million	2,5 billion	2,6 billion	2,1 billion	3,4 billion

Source: Bloomberg, 2022 and data processed by the researchers



In the next two years, there are dozens of plans to build smelters, including nickel; there are at least 22 plans until 2026 (Ayu, 2022). The total investment value reaches USD 22.078 billion, equivalent to IDR 331 trillion (based on an exchange rate of IDR 15,000/USD). Smelters include critical minerals, ranging from nickel to aluminum (Komalasari, 2022). The locations are spread across the islands of Kalimantan, Sulawesi, and Maluku.

Company	Investment Value (Million USD)	Island	Туре
Adaro Aluminium Indonesia	2.000	Kalimantan	Alumunium
Anugrah Barokah Cakrawala	453	Kalimantan	Nikel
HPAL Pomalaa (Vale-Ford- Huayou)	3.500	Sulawesi	Nikel
CNGR Pomalaa New Energy Materials	1.200	Sulawesi	Nikel
Zhongxing New Energy	787	Sulawesi	Nikel
QMB HPAL Expansion	777	Sulawesi	Nikel
BTR Anode Project	478	Sulawesi	Baterai Lithium
Chengkok Lithium Project	350	Sulawesi	Baterai Lithium
IKIP HPAL Project	2.750	Sulawesi	Nikel
HPAL Sonic Bay (Eramet-BASF)	2.200	Maluku	Nikel
Huasan Nickel Cobalt	2.082	Maluku	Nikel
CNGR Xingquan New Energy	502	Maluku	Nikel
CNGR Xingqiu New Energy	500	Maluku	Nikel
CNGR Xingqiu New Energy	488	Maluku	Nikel
Nickel Metal Industry	460	Maluku	Nikel
Maluku Utara Metal Industry	437	Maluku	Nikel
Jaman New Energy	428	Maluku	Nikel
Chengmach Nickel Indonesia	424	Maluku	Nikel
Universe Smelters Metal Industri	417	Maluku	Nikel
Westrong Metal Industri	389	Maluku	Nikel

Table 6. Smelter Investment Plan Until 2026



Jade Bay Metal Industri	256	Maluku	Nikel
Halmahera Persada Legend Expansion	1.200	Maluku	Nikel
Total	22,078		

Source: Data processed from the Coordinating Ministry for Maritime Affairs and Investment, 2023

5.3.2 Flows and Forms of Financing for the Nickel Industry in Indonesia

The nickel industry in practice utilizes various forms of financing. In this research, financing is categorized into three main forms:

- 1. Financing through loans;
- 2. Financing through bonds; and
- 3. Financing through equity.

Regarding financing flows, this research found that financing for the Indonesian nickel industry is predominantly sourced from abroad. This is due to the substantial capital requirements of smelter infrastructure, making reliance solely on national banks with limited capacity unfeasible. Additionally, the nickel industry, considered a part of the low-carbon development solution, has garnered support from global financial institutions, especially during the transition away from coal financing. With its abundant nickel reserves and extensive production, Indonesia has attracted investment from global financial institutions in various forms.

In this study, the total financing from financial service institutions, analyzed successfully by the researchers, amounted to USD 8.03 billion, equivalent to IDR 120.5 trillion. The breakdown of financing for the nickel industry, encompassing mines, smelters, and coal-fired captive power plants, includes loans as the highest form of financing at USD 5.34 billion, equivalent to IDR 80.1 trillion, followed by equity financing worth USD 2.26 billion, equivalent to IDR 33.9 trillion, and financing through bonds totaling USD 433 million, equivalent to IDR 6.5 trillion.





Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia



Figure 10. Form and Value of Nickel Industry Financing in Indonesia (unit: Trillion Rupiah) 2009-2023

Source: The researchers' processed results

Specifically, analysis of the nickel industry's financing flow indicates a significant increase after the Paris Agreement. Prior to the agreement (2009-2015), the nickel industry received loans totaling only USD 1.4 billion. Post-Paris Agreement, this figure surged to USD 6.6 billion from various financing types, including loans, equity, and bonds, marking an increase of over 300%. Equity financing also became a notable component during this period, amounting to USD 2.26 billion.

The escalation in financing flows for the nickel industry reflects the investment and financing dynamics aimed at critical mineral commodities to "facilitate" the energy transition outlined in the Paris Agreement. Throughout this process, various observations have been made regarding the financing practices within this industrial sector.







1. Financing through Loans

The nickel industry utilizes various financing schemes. This research reveals that financing for the construction of nickel industry supporting facilities, such as smelters, is predominantly facilitated through direct loans tailored for specific project financing, known as project loans. Additionally, smelter companies require loans for their business activities (corporate loans) and general company operations (general loans). These loans can originate from financial service institutions or from parent companies to subsidiaries.

During the loan process, bank guarantees are often utilized. These loans are provided by both domestic and international banks, with the largest volume of loans stemming from banks in China. Banks from Singapore, such as DBS, have also been involved in financing various smelter projects. Indonesian banks that have participated in syndicated loans include Bank Mandiri and Bank BRI. Banks based in Europe, such as Standard Chartered, Barclays, and BNP Paribas, have also acted as lenders.

This research identified 31 loan transactions and 1 bank guarantee, totaling USD 5,341,168,666 or equivalent to IDR 80.1 trillion (estimated at an exchange rate of IDR 15,000) for nickel companies during the research period. However, it is believed that the actual total number of loans may be higher, but much of the data pertains to transactions with private companies that are not publicly available.

Guarantee Facility

Within these loans, certain institutions provide guarantee facilities for projects. These guarantees are crucial as they ensure that in the event the borrower defaults on the debt, the guarantor bank will assist in settling the outstanding amount.

Since 2010, the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency (MIGA), a member of the World Bank, has been involved as a guarantor bank for the Weda Bay project in Indonesia's Weda Bay Industrial Park, located in Central Halmahera, North Maluku. The guarantee value from MIGA amounted to USD 207,000,000 (CAO, 2011). Initially, Eramet, a French mining company, and Mitsubishi were recipients of this bank guarantee. However, there have been changes in shareholders at Weda Bay, with Eramet and Tsingshan currently holding shares.

MIGA also plays a role in conducting due diligence in the nickel mining process. Indonesian environmental organizations once reported MIGA's involvement to the Compliance Advisor Ombudsman (CAO), an agency that handles complaints against MIGA. However, the case did not proceed due to failure to meet the criteria (CAO, 2011).

Project Loan dan Corporate Loan

An example of project-based financing (project loan) is PT Aneka Tambang Tbk obtaining loans from domestic and foreign banks for a smelter construction project. In 2012 and 2015, PT Antam received loans totaling USD 750 million. Apart from the smelter, the loan

54 ResponsiBank

also covered the construction of a coal-fired power plant (PLTU) to provide power for the smelting of nickel ore.

Smelter projects initiated by Chinese companies often rely on loans from their home country. For instance, Tsingshan received a corporate loan for the development of the Indonesian Morowali Industrial Park (IMIP) in Morowali, Central Sulawesi. China's development bank, China Development Bank (CDB), disbursed loans totaling USD 1.168 billion to Tsingshan for various smelter projects at IMIP, including PLTU (China Aid Data, 2017). Project loans are also used for the acquisition of nickel mines and smelter companies. PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk obtained a loan of USD 300 million for this expansion.

General Loans and Affiliated Loans

In the context of general loans, the loans are not restricted to a specific project but can be utilized for various purposes. This designation of general loans can be observed in affiliated loans, although it does not exclude the possibility of loans from financial service institutions to companies.

For instance, a loan from PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk to its subsidiary, PT Sulawesi Cahaya Mineral, amounted to USD 35,950,000 and was allocated for working capital, including employee costs, professional service fees, royalty payments to the state treasury, transportation and loading and unloading costs, maintenance and repair costs, and nickel mining expenses (Desfika, 2023).

Likewise, PT Trimegah Bangun Persada Tbk (TBP, 2023) provided a loan to PT Jikodolong Megah Pertiwi amounting to IDR 114,280,000,000 (Desfika, 2023), which is equivalent to USD 7,618,666 (estimated at an exchange rate of IDR 15,000). The purpose of the loan is for purchasing heavy equipment, repairing and increasing the capacity of other supporting infrastructure, and exploration costs. This loan carries an interest rate of 8% per month for 5 years. Despite being an affiliate loan within one group, the parent company still imposes interest charges. The interest percentage charged is considerably higher than that set by the LJK. A list of loan financing for the nickel industry in Indonesia (including smelter projects, mines, and nickel smelter power plants) from 2015 to 2023 based on company, region, and expansion can be found in Appendix 2.

2. Financing through Bonds

The types of funding diversified during the share acquisition period from PT Vale Indonesia Tbk, which received a mandate to divest 20% of shares in 2020. MIND ID, as the holding company of the state-owned mining company, executed the share acquisition. PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminum (Inalum), a part of MIND ID, sought funding through the issuance of debt securities or bonds globally to acquire the 20% shares from PT Vale. The price of this stake amounted to IDR 5.5 trillion (Sembiring, 2020). On May 12, 2020, Inalum issued a global bond worth USD 2.5 billion, equivalent to IDR 37.5 trillion.


The global bonds issued by Inalum, with the code IDASAL, were divided into three parts: a USD 1 billion bond maturing on May 15, 2025, with a coupon rate of 4.75%; a USD 1 billion bond maturing on May 15, 2050, with a coupon rate of 5.45%; and a USD 500 million bond maturing on May 15, 2050, with a coupon rate of 5.8%. BNP Paribas assisted in the issuance as a financial consultant (MIND ID, 2020). A list of buyers of PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminum (Inalum) Global Bonds can be found in Appendix 3. The number of buyers could not be analyzed due to the unavailability of public data.

Buyers of Inalum bonds, contributing to funds for the acquisition of a 20% stake in PT Vale, originated from asset managers and investment firms in the United States, Europe, and Asia. The total value of PT Inalum bonds obtained from public data and databases amount to USD 433,470,000, equivalent to IDR 6.5 trillion (at an exchange rate of 1 USD = IDR 15,000). However, Inalum's total bond funds could potentially exceed this amount. The researchers have limited access to data beyond what is publicly available. Nonetheless, the recorded funds are deemed sufficient for the acquisition of a 20% stake in PT Vale.

3. Equity Financing

Equity financing represents a significant avenue for expanding the nickel industry. This form of financing is typically pursued for expansion and acquisition purposes and can involve both institutional and individual investors. The findings of this research identify three primary types of equity financing: initial public stock offerings (IPOs), private stock offerings (private placements), and the purchase of shares in private companies (private equity). The total equity value of all transactions obtained in this research amount to USD 2,263,192,615, equivalent to IDR 33.9 trillion (using an exchange rate of 1 USD = IDR 15,000).

Initial Public Offerings (IPOs)

Initial public offerings (IPOs) serve as instruments to raise fresh capital for companies. Through an IPO, a relationship is established between the company and investors who purchase shares, with investors potentially receiving dividends as profits. Additionally, certain collaborations may offer advantages in achieving production goals. In the nickel industry, several companies have pursued IPOs recently.

For instance, PT Trimegah Bangun Persada Tbk, a company under the Harita Group, entered the Indonesian Stock Exchange (BEI) in April 2023 through an IPO. This IPO garnered funds from investors totaling nearly IDR 10 trillion, equivalent to approximately USD 666,466,666, making it one of Indonesia's largest IPOs (TBP, 2023). Foreign investors such as commodity company Glencore International AG (Switzerland), investment company Fidelity International (United States) (Ruehl, 2023), and sovereign wealth funds (SWF) in Asia also participated in purchasing shares.



Banking institutions play a role beyond lending in financing for public companies. They also act as underwriters in IPOs, such as in the case of PT Trimegah Bangun Persada (Harita Group) on the Indonesia Stock Exchange. Several banks, including Credit Suisse Group, BNP Paribas, Citigroup, Mandiri Sekuritas, DBS, OCBC Securities, and UOB Kay Hian, serve as underwriters (Asian Trends, 2023). Six of these underwriters, excluding Mandiri Sekuritas, are members of the Net Zero Banking Alliance from G-FANZ, committed to the clean energy transition.

Additionally, Lygende Resources, in collaboration with the Harita Group, conducted an IPO on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The banks involved as bookrunners and lead managers included CICC, CMB International, BOC International, DBS, ABC International, and BNP Paribas. These banks facilitated share offerings as transaction intermediaries. Nickel companies' IPOs in Indonesia are considered substantial compared to other industries. Following PT TBP's IPO, PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk pursued an acquisition valued at up to IDR 9.2 trillion, equivalent to USD 612,150,000.

Private Share Offerings (Private Placements)

Private share offerings typically occur in public companies through private transactions, excluding public offering. Private placements are often utilized for strategic acquisitions. For instance, in the smelter project in Kolaka, Southeast Sulawesi, PT Vale Indonesia Tbk established PT Kolaka Nickel Indonesia in partnership with PT Huaqi Pte Ltd, a registered investor in Singapore. Huaqi purchased 764,000 shares from PT Vale worth IDR 764 billion (Djakarta Mining Club, 2023).

Following the purchase, Vale retained 191,000 shares valued at IDR 191 billion. The Kolaka project represents an expansion for Vale in constructing a smelter, with Vale also collaborating with companies set to become buyers. Private placement financing was also utilized by PT United Tractor Tbk, a mining and construction company, to acquire shares from Nickel Industries, a nickel company listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX). This private placement took place on June 9, 2023. Nickel Industries issued 857 million new ordinary shares at AUD 1.10 per share, equivalent to 19.99% of nickel industry shares. The transaction value reached AUD 943 million, equivalent to USD 628 million.



Private Equity

Financing through private share purchases (private equity) occurs in closed companies and differs from private placements, which typically involve publicly listed companies. This form of financing is commonly pursued for expansion or acquisition needs. An example is the expansion of Eramet SA, a French mineral company, which has been involved in the Indonesian nickel business since 2006 when Eramet acquired a majority stake in PT Weda Bay Nickel through Strand Minerals Pte Ltd.

In 2009, Mitsubishi, a Japanese automotive company, extended support for the nickel project by acquiring a 33.4% stake in Strand shares from Eramet, with a transaction value of USD 145 million (Mitsubishi Corp, 2009). This collaboration aimed to establish a nickel smelter in Weda Bay, North Maluku Province. However, in 2016, before the smelter's construction commenced, Mitsubishi withdrew from the partnership, citing a desire to shift focus away from nickel-related ventures. Mitsubishi's shares were subsequently sold back to Eramet SA for USD 112 million (Amri, 2016).

Following Mitsubishi's departure, Eramet revised its investment strategy and sought new investors for the Weda Bay project. Eventually, Tsingshan, a Chinese steel producer with significant control over the nickel industry in Morowali, emerged as a new investor (Eramet, 2017). In 2017, Tsingshan and Eramet reached an agreement whereby Tsingshan acquired a 57% stake in Strand Minerals, while Eramet retained 43%. Unfortunately, the total transaction value of this acquisition remains undisclosed. Post-acquisition, the roles were divided, with Eramet focusing on mining operations while Tsingshan assumed responsibility for constructing and operating the smelter. The first smelter at Weda Bay commenced operations in April 2020 (NS Energy, 2023). The equity financing model has been pivotal in driving the Weda Bay project. Detailed insights into the equity financing model can be found in Appendix Table 4.

5.3.3 Business Relations between Companies (Shareholders or Subsidiaries)

This research employs various analyses of nickel industry business entities utilizing corporate structure and "follow the money" methods. Corporate structure analysis is crucial for understanding the ultimate beneficiary of a company, namely the final shareholder. The "follow the money" method is integral to tracing funding for a company's project.

Both methods are applied to identify the nickel industry's entities with open company status or those listed on the Indonesian Stock Exchange (IDX). Data from the IDX serves as material for constructing company structure diagrams. Public companies are chosen due to their relatively transparent information on final beneficiaries compared to closed or private entities. While most legal entities in the Indonesian nickel industry are private, there are several public companies. These companies were initially private but transitioned to public status in response to the high global demand for nickel and efforts to secure



financing through initial public offerings (IPOs).

Below is an analysis of four case studies of nickel companies listed on the Indonesia Stock Exchange: PT Vale Indonesia Tbk, PT Trimegah Bangun Persada Tbk, PT Aneka Tambang Tbk, and PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk.

1. PT Vale Indonesia Tbk





Source: data processed by researchers

This figure describes some of PT Vale Indonesia Tbk (INCO)'s financing. The final beneficiary of INCO is Vale SA which is based in Brazil and is registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) or the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC, 2022). The diagram shows that Vale SA's share ownership through Vale Canada is 43.78% and Vale Japan is 0.54%, for a total of 44.33% (Vale, 2022). Vale Canada and Vale Japan are wholly owned by Vale SA. Then Sumitomo Metal Mining owns 15.03% and the public holds 20.64%.

Furthermore, PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminum (Inalum) share ownership is 20%. These shares were obtained from the divestment of INCO shares as a condition for extending the contract. To obtain funds for the acquisition of 20% shares, PT Inalum issued global bonds or global bonds (Septianto and Thomas, 2020). The box displayed the names of several buyers of the bonds.



INCO is expanding to build a new smelter. There is an interested partner, namely PT Huaqi, registered in Singapore, acquiring 80% shares worth IDR 764 billion for PT Kolaka Nickel Indonesia (Djakarta Mining Club, 2023). This acquisition model is part of the financing of the new smelter. This new smelter will produce nickel for electric battery needs. Even though the smelter is in the pre-construction stage, there are automotive companies and battery manufacturers who are interested in becoming off takers or buyers. The financing process at Vale is something different because it involves a state-owned company, namely Inalum, which has the right to acquire shares.

2. PT Trimegah Bangun Persada Tbk atau Harita Group



Figure 12. Intercompany Business Relations at PT Trimegah Bangun Persada Tbk

Pinjaman diajukan oleh pemegang saham Lygend Resources

Source: data processed by the researchers

The Lim Hariyanto family or also known as the Harita Group is the final beneficial owner of PT Trimegah Bangun Persada Tbk (TBP, 2023). In running the nickel business, the Lim family collaborates with companies from China. The growing nickel market and accompanying cost requirements have encouraged companies to finance through loans. This diagram shows four corporate entities having loans from various banks, not only China, but also European countries such as BNP Paribas which is based in France.

One of Harita Group's financing strategies for nickel expansion is loans. Moreover, after receiving funds from the public stock offering (IPO), PT TPB allocated large loan payments. Financing through loans has become one of the main ways for the nickel industry to operate and develop.



3. PT Aneka Tambang Tbk



Figure 13. Intercompany Business Relations at PT Aneka Tambang Tbk

Source: data processed by the researchers

PT Aneka Tambang Tbk is a state-owned company under the holding group PT Mineral Industri Indonesia or MIND ID holding 65% of the shares (IDX, 2023), the remaining 35% of the shares are held by the public. The final shareholder of PT Antam is the Indonesian government. In the context of the nickel industry, PT Antam is recorded as having made at least two loans with a total of USD 750 million from banks for two different projects.

In 2012, PT Antam took out a loan of USD 650 million to finance the construction project of four ferronickel IV smelter units with a capacity of 27,000 tons/year in East Halmahera Province. North Maluku (Saeno & Aziliya, 2012). In 2015, PT Antam made a loan of USD 100 million to Maybank Indonesia (Nababan, 2015) for the Ferronickel smelter factory expansion project and construction of a 2 x 30 MW PLTU in Pomalaa, Southeast Sulawesi.



4. PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk



Figure 14. Intercompany Business Relations at PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk

Source: data processed by researchers

PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk (MBMA) is a company that conducted a public stock offering (IPO) in April 2023 (IDX, 2022), raising funds from share sales reaching IDR 9.1 trillion or around USD 612 million (Adventy and Hafiyyan, 2023).

The company structure reveals that the final beneficiary with the largest share ownership in MBMA is Edwin Soeryadjaya, a well-known businessman. Edwin is reached through two companies that own shares, namely PT Merdeka Copper Gold Tbk (MDKA) and PT Saratoga Investama Sedaya Tbk, as shown in the diagram. MBMA has loan transactions from banks for various projects. On the other hand, MBMA, together with MDKA, also extends affiliate loans to subsidiaries to fund nickel projects.



5.4 Nickel Industry: Financing, Problems, and Dependence on Coal Energy

Technologically, nickel processing depends on large amounts of electricity (Yang et al., 2021). This relates to the process of separating nickel ore from other minerals such as iron, cobalt, or sulfur. This processing method differs from other minerals such as copper, which require less electricity. Consequently, nickel processing companies often construct their own generators to support their factories. Most of the generators for smelters in Indonesia are coal-based. So far, there is only one nickel company that uses renewable energy-based generation from water (hydropower).

The metal sector industry, including nickel processing in it, which uses coal-fired power plants is an industry that is quite difficult to decarbonize (hard to abate). High greenhouse gas emissions from nickel smelters are an environmental consequence that cannot be separated (Purdy et al., 2022). Therefore, the nickel industry produces a lot of emissions and is bad for the environment. As an illustration, 1-kilogram of processed nickel produces 13 kg of carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions (Nickel Institute, 2023). Moving towards a low-carbon nickel industry results in higher costs. As a comparison, according to PLN, the construction of hydroelectric power plants (PLTA) or hydropower is in the range of USD 3-4 million per Megawatt (MW) (Agung, 2021), while for coal power plants per MW it is around USD 1.8 million (EFSC, 2023). The high cost of decarbonization is an obstacle.



The existence of coal has encouraged nickel factories to obtain coal easily, thus making coal-fired power plants (PLTUs) in the nickel sector like mushrooms in the rainy season. PLTUs are also known as a captive plant, that is, the generator originates from and is for the industry itself. Global Energy Monitor data (2023) shows that the number of coal-fired power plants in the nickel sector in Indonesia reaching 7.2 Gigawatt (GW) has been operating. Meanwhile there is still 2-Gigawatt in pre-construction status, and 8 GW is under construction.



Several financial institutions, including banks, as well as world countries have committed to no longer funding the construction of coal power plants and related coal businesses. At the 26th Climate Summit (Summit) or Conference of the Parties (COP) in Glasgow in 2021 (UNFCCC, 2021) there were 40 countries committed to no longer funding coal in various forms of investment (UN, 2021). This is driven by environmental impacts. Coal is the highest contributor to global emissions (IEA, 2022). Financial institutions view nickel as a pathway to low-carbon development. So they plan to channel financing for nickel which is considered low carbon compared to coal.

Aggregate financing for the nickel industry, especially smelters, has shown a figure of IDR 432 trillion at least until 2020. Investment in critical minerals, including nickel, is planned until 2026 to reach IDR 331 trillion. In this nickel investment by country, China has dominated. In the decade 2012-2022, China invested IDR 14.2 billion in nickel-producing islands in Sulawesi and North Maluku, equivalent to IDR 213 trillion (USD exchange rate IDR 15,000).

5.4.1 Coal Financing

Investment in nickel also extends to the construction of coal-fired power plants (PLTUs) to provide power for the smelters. Investors not only finance the construction of smelters but also PLTU projects. Financing sources can be separate for smelter and PLTU projects or combined into one project. For example, PT Megah Surya Pertiwi (MSP), a part of the Harita Group, secured combined financing of USD 380 million in April 2018 for the construction of a nickel smelter and PLTU with a capacity of 3 x 38 MW (Guitarra, 2018).

However, limited available information often results in unclear percentages of combined financing for smelter and PLTU projects. For instance, PT Halmahera Persada Lygend (HPL) (a part of the Harita Group) received a syndicated loan worth USD 625 million from DBS and eight banks in April 2021 (MarketScreener, 2019). The exact percentage allocated for PLTU construction from this loan for both phase I and phase II, totaling 360 MW, is not specified.

Separate financing can be observed in the construction of PLTU in the Morowali industrial area. The PLTU, named PT Sulawesi Mining Phase I-IV with a total capacity of 1,830 MW, received loans from various banks from 2015-2017 totaling USD 1.978 billion. All these loans originated from banks in China.

Chinese banks predominantly finance coal projects to support nickel smelters, reflecting the significant ownership of smelters by Chinese companies. Despite Chinese President Xi Jinping's commitment on September 21, 2021, stating that China would no longer build new coal-fired power plants abroad, captive PLTUs built by Chinese companies in Indonesia continued to emerge after this commitment. An example is the PLTU owned by the Harita Group and Lygend Resources on Obi Island, South Halmahera, North Maluku (Putri, 2022), constructed after September 21, 2021.



5.4.2 Sustainable Finance

The concept of sustainable finance in international banking integrates environmental, social, and governance aspects into banking activities, encompassing financing, investment, and operations (OJK, 2021). This concept aims to support sustainable development aligned with global agendas such as the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the Paris Agreement on Climate Change.

Several countries have implemented sustainable finance internationally through regulations, guidelines, standards, or incentives that encourage banks to consider the social and environmental impacts of their activities. For instance, in Indonesia, the Financial Services Authority (OJK) has published Sustainable Financial Roadmaps for 2015-2019 and 2021-2025, containing work plans for sustainable financial programs for the financial services industry, including banking (OJK, 2023).

In the European Union, the European Commission has issued a Sustainable Finance Action Plan, encompassing various initiatives to integrate ESG (Environmental, Social, and Governance) factors into the financial system (European Commission, 2023). The concept of sustainable finance has numerous benefits for banks, society, and the environment, fostering responsible and ethical financial practices.

Financial services institutions (LJKs) face serious challenges in financing the nickel industry in Indonesia. As nickel becomes a crucial component for the energy transition, LJKs are committed to supporting this industry compared to coal, which is starting to be abandoned. However, the nickel industry apparently has a high dependence on coal in its production process. On the other hand, coal is clearly categorized in the red category in the Indonesian Green Taxonomy (THI) (OJK, 2022). The red label indicates a negative impact from coal, requiring banks to avoid financing the coal sector. However, in the context of coal for nickel processing, this does not happen.

Coal is included in the red category in Indonesia's green taxonomy due to its status as a fossil energy source with negative environmental impacts, including greenhouse gas emissions, air pollution, land damage, and solid and liquid waste (OJK, 2022).





The Indonesian Green Taxonomy classifies economic activities based on their environmental impact, categorizing them as green, yellow, or red (OJK, 2022).

Green activities support environmental protection and climate change mitigation and adaptation.

Yellow activities have a positive impact on the environment but require certain prerequisites to meet standards.

Meanwhile red activities have a negative impact on the environment and cannot be upgraded to green or yellow activities.

Thus, coal falls into the red category in the OJK's Indonesian Green Taxonomy.



Despite this categorization, banks in Indonesia still finance the coal sector, arguing that regulations do not prohibit such financing as long as certain ESG (Environmental, Social, and Governance) aspects are met (Victoria, 2022).

The coal business remains profitable for banks (Mayasari, 2023), particularly those associated with steam power plants (PLTU), which present significant potential and profits. According to data from Urgewald (2021), six local Indonesian banks continued to provide loans to coal companies listed on the 2020 Global Coal Exit List (GCEL) between October 2018 and October 2020, amounting to IDR 89 trillion.



Violations of sustainable financial commitments by LJKs (financial institutions) in Indonesia stem from a lack of understanding and awareness regarding the importance of implementing Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) aspects in business and investment activities. This oversight can lead to insufficient attention to the social and environmental impacts of financed activities, such as forest destruction, air pollution, or human rights violations.

Furthermore, the absence of regulations, guidelines, standards, or incentives contributes to the reluctance of LJKs to adopt sustainable finance practices. This results in a lack of clear references or criteria for assessing the ESG performance of debtors, as well as inadequate incentives or sanctions to promote responsible behavior.

In terms of transparency, banking still lags in implementing sustainable finance principles, which leads to financial institutions failing to provide relevant and accurate information to stakeholders, including regulators, investors, customers, the public, or the media, regarding their ESG performance or that of their debtors.

The European Union has established robust regulations for managing investments with high environmental risks. The EU Taxonomy Regulation, which took effect on July 12, 2020, outlines criteria for identifying economic activities that contribute to environmental goals, including climate change mitigation and adaptation (EU Commission, 2023). This regulation also mandates financial institutions to report on the alignment of their portfolios with green economic activities.

European banks have committed to no longer financing coal projects, and the number reaches 20 banks (Sims et al., 2023). European banks involved in financing the nickel industry in Indonesia also have a commitment not to finance coal-related projects. In this research, it is known that the nickel industry has triggered coal financing because the industry is still very dependent on coal.

The forms of involvement of European banks are varied, divided into two groups, namely those involved in financing syndicated loans and purchasing bonds. In the group of syndicated lenders are Standard Chartered Bank, BNP Paribas, Barclyas Bank Plc, Sandarter, HSBC, Credit Agricole, ING Bank, and Natixis. HSBC is also involved in financing the Indonesian Morowali Industrial Park (The Peoples Map, 2021), but the details of the value are not yet known. However, all of these financial institutions have a commitment to no longer provide coal funding. In the bond buying group are Europe-based asset managers including UBS Group, Amundi, JP Morgan (Irish office), Fidelity Fund SICAV (Luxembourg office), and Manulife Global Fund. All of these asset managers have a commitment to exit coal funding.

Cleaning portfolios of dirty energy is an ongoing commitment from global financial institutions. However, these commitments face challenges, as exposure to the coal business cannot yet be completely eliminated from the committed global financial



institutions.

- **Standard Chartered Bank**: This bank has committed to not providing new financing for coal-fired power projects worldwide since 2018 (Standard Chartered, 2018). The bank also plans to stop all financing activities related to thermal coal by 2032 (Reuters, 2022).
- HSBC: The bank is committed to withdrawing any financing and advisory services (HSBC, 2021) with clients that make new commitments to, or proceed with, thermal coal expansion after 1 January 2021 (unless such expansion has been contracted or is under construction before that date). The bank also plans to stop all financing activities related to thermal coal by 2030 in European Union and OECD countries, and by 2040 in other countries.
- **Credit Agricole**: This bank has committed to providing no new financing for coalfired power projects worldwide since 2015 (Green, 2015). The bank also plans to end all relationships with clients involved in thermal coal activities by 2030 in European Union and OECD countries.
- Santander: The bank states it will cease financing for power customers if 10% of their income depends on thermal coal and aims to eliminate exposure to coal mining worldwide by 2030 (Santander, 2022).
- **ING Bank**: By the end of 2025, ING will no longer finance clients that are 5% dependent on coal-fired electricity supplies (Ettinger, 2022). Presently, ING provides loans to new clients only if their dependence on coal is 10% or less, with the caveat that they will seek to reduce their exposure to coal in the coming years.
- Natixis:Committed to discontinuing the financing of coal-fired power plants and thermal coal mines worldwide, considering current technological advances (MarketScreener, 2015). Natixis has also decided to no longer accept consultancy mandates or new arrangements related to this type of financing. Additionally, Natixis will not finance companies whose business is more than 50% dependent on the operation of coal-fired power plants or thermal coal mines.
- **BNP Paribas**: The bank also plans to end all relationships with clients involved in thermal coal activities by 2030 in European Union and OECD countries, and by 2040 in other countries.
- **Barclays Plc**: The bank also plans to cease all financing activities related to thermal coal by 2030 in the UK, Europe, and OECD countries (Reuters, 2023).
- **UBS Group**: This institution is committed to cutting coal financing by more than twothirds from 2030 (Neghaiwi, 2022).
- **Amundi**: Europe's largest asset manager committed to providing no new investments to companies involved in thermal coal activities since 2019 (Reclaim Finance, 2021). The financial institution also plans to withdraw all investment from these companies



by 2030 in European Union and OECD countries, and by 2040 in other countries.

- **JP Morgan**: In May 2021, released a 2030 target committed to aligning financing with the Paris Agreement for oil and gas, electric power, and automotive (PRI, 2021). Some funding plans for fossil energy have been withdrawn (Ambrose, 2020).
- Fidelity Funds: Signed an agreement to exit coal financing at the 26th COP in 2021 (UNFCCC, 2021).
- **Manulife Global Fund:** Manulife Global Fund: Specifically, the Sub-Fund may not invest in companies that derive more than 25% of their revenues from fossil fuel generation (Manulife Global Fund, 2020).

This research found the enterprises were involved in a number of financing schemes. The most common form of financing flow for financial institutions in Europe is in the form of syndicated loans and bonds. This type of financing in the form of syndicated loan is also aimed at smelter construction.



	Group Company	Head Office	Form of In- volvement	Involved in Project	Involved Company	Type of Involvement	Nilai Pinjaman Sindikasi/Nilai Obligasi
HSBC		Inggris	Syndicated Loan	 Construction of a battery factory in Karawang, West Java. Acquisition of the smelter PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia, which owns the RKEF nickel smelter at IWIP with a PLTU capacity of 380 MW. Loan obtained by PT Merdeka Tsingshan Indonesia. 	(1) LG & Hyundai(2) CNGR (3) PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk	Smelter Construction, Battery Industry Zone	1.091.000.000
Credit Agrico	٩	Perancis	Syndicated Loan	 (1) Acquisition of PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia's smelter, which operates the RKEF nickel smelter at IWIP with a PLTU capacity of 380 MW. (2) Loan obtained by PT Merdeka Tsingshan Indonesia. 	(1) CNGR (2) PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk	Smelter Construction	380.000.000

Table 7 Involvement of European Financial Institutions in the Nickel Industry Supply Chain

Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia



560.000.000	260.000.000	711.000.000	650.000.000	625.000.000
Smelter Construction, Mining Acquisition	Smelter Construction	Battery Industry Zone	Smelter Construction	Smelter Construction
PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk	PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk	LG & Hyundai	PT Aneka Tambang Tbk	PT Halmahera Persada Lygend (Harita Group)
 (1) Loan obtained by PT Merdeka Tsingshan Indonesia. (2) Loans for the acquisition of the mining company PT Sulawesi Cahaya Mineral in Konawe and the acquisition of the PT Bukit Smelter Indonesia and PT Cahaya Smelter Indonesia smelters at IMIP. 	Loan obtained by PT Merdeka Tsingshan Indonesia.	Construction of a battery factory in Karawang, West Java.	Construction of four ferronickel IV smelter units with a capacity of 27,000 tons/year in East Halmahera Province, North Maluku.	Construction of a High- Pressure Acid Leach (HPAL) technology smelter on Obi Island, Kab. South Halmahera, Prov. North Maluku.
Syndicated Loan	Syndicated Loan	Syndicated Loan	Syndicated Loan	Syndicated Loan
Belanda	Perancis	Spanyol	Inggris	Perancis
ING Bank	Natixis	Banco Santander	Standard Chartered Bank	BNP Paribas
ING Bank	Natixis	Santander	Standard Chartered Bank	BNP Paribas



Barclays Bank Plc	Barclays Plc	Inggris	Syndicated Loan	Loan for the acquisition of the mining company PT Sulawesi Cahaya Minerals in Konawe and acquisition of the PT Bukit Smelter Indonesia and PT Cahaya Smelter Indonesia smelters at IMIP.	PT Hamparan Logistik Nusantara (anak perusahaan	Nickel Mining Development	300.000.000
UBS ETF (LU) Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Sovereign UCITS ETF (Hedged To GBP) A-Dis (USD)	UBS Group	Swiss	Bond	Possession of the bond "15 May 2050 5.8% coupon" PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminum, one of which is for the acquisition of 20% shares in PT Vale Indonesia Tbk in 2020.	PT Vale Indonesia Tbk	Acquisition of PT Vale Indonesia Tbk shares	10.000

Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia

72 ResponstBank

23.000	20.000
Acquisition of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk shares	Acquisition of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk shares
PT Vale Indo- nesia Tbk	PT Vale Indo- nesia Tbk
Possession of the bond "15 May 2050 5.8% coupon" by PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminum, one of which is for acquiring 20% shares of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk in 2020.	Possession of the bond "15 May 2050 5.45% coupon" by PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminum, one of which is for acquiring 20% shares of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk in 2020.
Bond	Bond
Perancis	Swiss
Amundi	UBS Group
Amundi Index Barclays Global Agg 500M UCITS ETF DR - GBP Hedged (GBP)(Dist)	UBS ETF (LU) Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Sovereign UCITS ETF (Hedged To GBP) A-Dis (USD)

Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia



59.000	37.000
Akuisisi saham PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk	Acquisition of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk shares
PT Vale Indo- nesia Tbk	PT Vale Indo- nesia Tbk
Possession of the bond "15 May 2025 4,75% coupon" by PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminum, one of which is for acquiring 20% shares of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk in 2020.	Possession of the bond "15 May 2025 4,75% coupon" by PT Indo-nesia Asahan Aluminum, one of which is for acquiring 20% shares of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk in 2020.
Bond	Bond
Irlandia	Swiss
JP Morgan	UBS Group
"JPMor- gan ETFs (Ireland) ICAV - USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF CHF Hedged (Acc) (CHF)"	"UBS ETF (LU)J.P. Morgan USD EM Diversified Bond 1-5 UCITS ETF (Hedged To GBP) A-Dis (USD)"

Tracking Financing Footprints: Environmental and Social Impacts of the Nickel Industry in Indonesia



23.000	20.000
Acquisition of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk shares	Acquisition of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk shares
PT Vale Indo- nesia Tbk	PT Vale Indo- nesia Tbk
Possession of the bond "15 May 2025 4,75% coupon" by PT Indo-nesia Asahan Aluminum, one of which is for acquiring 20% shares of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk in 2020.	Possession of the bond "15 May 2025 4,75% coupon" by PT Indo-nesia Asahan Aluminum, one of which is for acquiring 20% shares of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk in 2020.
Bond	Bond
Perancis	Swiss
Amundi	UBS Group
"Amundi Index Barclays Global Agg 500M UCITS ETF DR - GBP Hedged (GBP) (Dist)"	UBS ETF(LU) Bloomberg Bar-clays USD Emerging Markets Sovereign UCITS ETF (Hedged To GBP) A-Dis (USD)



Fidelity Funds - Asian Bond Fund	Fidelity Funds SICAV	Lux- em-bourg EU	Bond	Possession of the bond "15 May 2050 5,45% coupon" by PT Indo-nesia Asahan Aluminum, one of which is for acquiring 20% shares of PT Vale Indone-	PT Vale Indo- nesia Tbk	Acquisition of PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk shares	23.300.000
				sia Tbk in 2020.			
Manulife	Manulife	Lux-	Bond	Possession of the bond "15	PT Vale Indo-	Acquisition of	1.900.000
Global	Global Fund	em-bourg		May 2025 4, 75% coupon" by PT	nesia Tbk	PT Vale Indone-	
Fund -		EU		Indo-nesia Asahan Aluminum,		sia Tbk shares	
Asian High				one of which is for acquiring			
Yield Fund				20% shares of PT Vale Indone-			
				sia Tbk in 2020.			

76 ResponstBank

5.4.3 Coal Policy and Commitment of European Financial Institutions Involved in Financing the Nickel Industry

This research describes several cases reflecting the involvement of European financial institutions in the nickel industry sector. It also analyzes the paradox of the policy of ending coal financing by examining their financing practices related to coal, both in direct exposure and indirect exposure.

Some European financial institutions identified in this context include Standard Chartered, BNP Paribas, Barclays Bank, ING Bank, HSBC, Crédit Agricole, Natixis, and Santander. In the six loan cases identified by researchers, there were

- 1. Loan 1: Financing to PT Aneka Tambang (Antam) for the construction of four ferronickel IV smelter units with a capacity of 27,000 tons/year in East Halmahera Province, North Maluku.
- Loan 2: Financing to PT Halmahera Persada Lygend (HPL) for the construction of a High-Pressure Acid Leach (HPAL) technology smelter on Obi Island, Kab. South Halmahera, Prov. North Maluku.
- 3. Loan 3: Investment for PT Hamparan Logistik Nusantara (a subsidiary of PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk) to acquire the mining company PT Sulawesi Cahaya Mineral in Konawe and the acquisition of PT Bukit Smelter Indonesia and PT Cahaya Smelter Indonesia smelters in the IMIP area powered by a coal-fired power plant.
- 4. Loan 4: Financing to CNGR to acquire the PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia smelter.
- **5.** Loan **5:** PT Merdeka Tsingshan Indonesia, to settle debts to the parent company, namely PT Merdeka Copper Gold.
- **6.** Loan 6: Funding to PT HLI Green Power, part of the Hyundai and LG consortium, for the construction of a battery factory in Karawang.

Loan 1
Loan Description
Syndicated Ioan from Bank Mandiri, Bank Rakyat Indonesia, Standard Chartered, and
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation worth USD 650 million to PT Aneka Tambang
(Antam) for the construction of four ferronickel IV smelter units with a capacity of 27,000
tons/year in East Halmahera Province, North Maluku. These smelters were originally
planned to be powered by a self-built coal power plant, but the latest plan was to change
it to oil and gas power (PLTMG) by PLN.

Table 8. Case Description: Loan 1



Loan	European Financial Institution
2012	Standard Chartered
Commitment Announcement	Commitment
2022	 2022: Standard Chartered will not provide financial services to clients who: Build new thermal coal infrastructure (Standard Chartered, 2022). Invest in new or additional thermal coal-fired power generation capacity. Acquire stand-alone thermal coal pow- er generation assets.
No	tes

The European financial institution, Standard Chartered, was involved in financing the construction of a smelter in Halmahera, North Maluku. In practice, the smelter uses coal as fuel.

Standard Chartered's latest coal policy does not adequately address this issue, despite its experience in financing nickel-related sectors as an 'enabler' of dirty coal energy projects. Standard Chartered only focuses on direct exposure to coal, without considering indirect exposure from loans to coal. This is a "big gap" which will most likely remain a problem in the future, for example in the context of financing the Indonesian nickel industry which is still closely connected to coal energy.

Table 9. Case Description: Loan 2

Loa	an 2
Loan Des	scription
BNP Paribas, together with DBS, Bank Man and UOB, provided a loan of USD 625 millior the construction of a High Pressure Acid Lea Kab. South Halmahera, Prov. North Maluku. P	diri, BCA, BNI, Maybank, OCBC, OCBC NISP, n to PT Halmahera Persada Lygend (HPL) for ach (HPAL) technology smelter on Obi Island, PT HPL is a subsidiary of PT Trimegah Bangun
Persada, which owns a smelter and operates a coal power plant for the smelter.	
Loan	European Financial Institution

2021 Standard Chartered



Commitment Announcement	Commitment
2020	 Complete cessation of thermal coal use by 2030 in the European Union and OECD countries and by 2040 worldwide (Standard Chartered, 2022). BNP Paribas policy applies to: Coal-Fired Power Plant (CFPP) Project: construction of a Coal-Fired Power Plant, as well as expansion and/or im- provement of an existing CFPP seek- ing a lifetime extension or capacity increase. Power Generation Company (PG): a company involved in the power gener- ation sector that owns or operates one or more coal-fired power plants (CFPP), including subsidiaries of diverse busi- ness groups.
No	ites

BNP Paribas' financing for the nickel sector and its coal policy shows several significant weak-nesses that could hinder the effectiveness of green financing:

1. Not considering indirect exposure:

BNP Paribas' policy focuses only on direct exposure to coal, such as investments in PLTU pro-jects and Power Generation Companies that own or operate coal power plants. However, a criti-cal gap lies in the inability to consider 'indirect exposure' through loans made to entities con-nected to coal-related projects. In the case of the USD 625 million loan to PT Halmahera Per-sada Lygend (HPL), the bank appears to have ignored indirect exposure to coal through financ-ing. This absence poses a significant risk, especially in the context of financing the nickel indus-try in Indonesia, which is still closely linked to coal energy.

2. Not Including coal projects for industry (Captive PLTU):

The policy's disregard for Captive PLTUs for industries owned by major clients or subsidiaries is another significant shortcoming. The nickel industry process often relies on captive power plants, and not including this kind of project in the company's coal policy is a big problem.



The loan given to PT Halmahera Persada Lygend for the construction of a High Pressure Acid Leach (HPAL) technology smelting plant is a clear example. By not considering captive coal project financing, BNP Paribas is connected to or inadvertently supporting coal projects indirectly.

3. Lack of urgency in the transition timeframe:

The policy implementation timeline, with a target of ending the use of thermal coal by 2030 in the European Union and OECD and by 2040 globally, raises concerns about the urgency of efforts to accelerate funding for the energy transition. While setting long-term goals is a good thing, the current global climate crisis demands more immediate action. Delaying crucial steps until 2040 will weaken the effectiveness of policies in reducing the impact of coal-related activities on climate change. Urgency is critical in addressing the rapidly growing threat posed by climate change, and a more accelerated timeframe for transitioning away from coal financing would be better suited to current environmental demands.

Table 10. Case Description: Loan 3

	1
Loa	an 3
Loan De	scription
Barclays Bank PLC bersama ING Bank NV Sir jaman USD 300 million kepada PT Hampara Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk) untuk men Cahaya Mineral di Konawe dan akuisisi smelt Smelter Indonesia di kawasan IMIP yang dite	ngapore Branch pada 2022 memberikan pin- an Logistik Nusantara (anak perusahaan PT gakuisisi perusahaan tambang PT Sulawesi er PT Bukit Smelter Indonesia dan PT Cahaya magai oleh pembangkit listrik batu bara.
Loan	European Financial Institution
2022	Barclays Bank dan ING Bank
Commitment Announcement	Commitment
Barclays Bank Commitment Year 2023	Barclays Bank's Commitments Barclays Bank's commitment (Barclays, 2022) regarding coal power plants:
	• No project funding to enable the con- struction or expansion of coal-fired power plants worldwide.

	 No financing for general corporate purposes specifically for the development of coal-fired power plants or the expansion of coal-fired power plant materials. No financing to clients generating more than 50% of revenue from coal-fired power plants. No general corporate purpose financing to clients involved in developing new coal-fired power plants or materially expanding existing ones, unless approved by the borrower or if the company's objectives are satisfied that financing will not contribute to coal-related projects.
ING Bank Commitment Year 2017	 ING Bank's Commitments By the end of 2025, no longer finance clients in the utility sector that are more than 5% dependent on coal-fired power plants in their energy mix. Will support new clients in the utilities sector only when their coal dependence is 10% or less, with a strategy to reduce coal percentage to near zero by 2025 (ING, 2017). ING will phase out loans to individual coal-fired power plants by the end of 2025. ING's coal policy focuses on thermal coal used in power generation, which can be easily replaced by gas as clients transition to renewable energy like wind and solar. However, for steel smelting, coking coal is used, which is indispensable, leading ING to concentrate on thermal coal.



	 ING's coal policy refers to thermal used in power generation, as in easily be replaced by gas as of transition to renewable energy so such as wind and solar. However, smelting steel, another type of known as coking coal is used to out the process. Given its indisp bility, ING focuses on thermal coal 	l coal t can lients urces when coal carry ensa- l.
--	--	--

Notes

A critical analysis of the coal policies of Barclays Bank and ING Bank reveals several significant weaknesses that could pose substantial risks and hinder the effectiveness of green financing:

1. Barclays Bank's prior involvement in coal projects:

It is noteworthy that in 2022, a year before the announcement of their coal policy, Barclays Bank was involved in financing the construction of a smelter in Halmahera, North Maluku. This smelter operates using coal as fuel. Despite Barclays Bank's experience in financing the nickel-related sector and being an 'enabler' of projects involving dirty coal energy, its latest coal policy fails to adequately address this risk.

Barclays Bank's focus solely on direct exposure to coal, without considering indirect exposure from loans, creates a significant gap that may persist as a problem in the future. This is particularly relevant in the context of financing the upstream-downstream (smelter) nickel industry in Indonesia, which remains closely linked to coal energy.

2. Large exception threshold in Barclays Bank's policy:

Barclays Bank has set a threshold for exclusion, stating that it will not provide financing to clients generating more than 50% of their income from coal-fired power plants. While this may be seen as a positive step, the threshold still imposes considerable limitations.

Ideally, financing should be completely avoided for entities involved in coal-fired power plants without any exceptions. Allowing such a loophole could enable Barclays Bank to continue supporting significant projects directly or indirectly connected to coal.



3. Weak points in ING Bank's policies and exceptions:

For ING Bank, addressing the risk of indirect exposure from their funding to coal is still inadequate. ING focuses solely on direct exposure to coal, neglecting the risk of indirect exposure from the loans they provide to coal-related projects. This creates a significant gap that may persist as a problem in the future, especially in the context of financing the nickel industry in Indonesia, which remains closely linked to coal energy.

Moreover, this risk may persist because ING's coal policy still grants exceptions for 'emission-intensive' sectors, such as the nickel industry, specifically the steel sector, to continue using coal due to limited alternatives. This will undoubtedly hinder efforts to decarbonize the industrial sector, such as through direct electrification production options.

Table 11. Case Description: Loan 4

Loan Description	
HSBC, in collaboration with Crédit Agricole CIB and China Construction Bank (Asia), pro-	
vided a loan of USD 150 million to CNGR for the acquisition of the PT Debonair Nickel In-	
donesia smelter, which operates the RKEF nickel smelter in the Indonesia Weda Bay In-	
dustrial Park area in North Maluku. Within the IWIP area, the smelter is powered by a coal	
power plant.	

Loan	European Financial Institution
May 2022	HSBC dan Crédit Agricole
Commitment Announcement	Commitment
HSBC Commitment Year 2021	HSBC's Commitment
Crédit Agricole Commitment Year 2020	 Phasing out financing of coal-fired power plants and thermal coal mining by 2030 in the EU and OECD, and by 2040 elsewhere (HSBC, 2022). Engaging with relevant clients on their transition plans and agreeing on financing termination timelines. Reviewing policies and reporting progress annually.



	• Seeking to withdraw any financing and consulting services with clients committing to new or continuing thermal coal expansion after January 1, 2021, unless such expansion is contractually committed or under construction before that date.
Crédit Agricole Commitment Year 2020	 Crédit Agricole's Commitment Aligning our portfolio's exposure to the coal industry with the complete phase-out of coal by 2030 for EU and OECD countries; 2040 for the whole world (Crédit Agricole, 2020).
	• The group also pledged to stop collaborating with companies that are developing or planning to develop new thermal coal capacity across the value chain (mining infrastructure, production, utilities, and transport).

Notes

1.Indirect Exposure to Coal:

The coal policies implemented by HSBC and Crédit Agricole show a limited focus on direct exposure to coal. This gap became significant when these two banks provided a loan of USD 150 million to CNGR to acquire the PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia smelter, which uses a coal power plant. Not considering indirect exposure from these loans creates risks, especially in the context of financing the nickel industry in Indonesia, which is still closely linked to coal energy. A more comprehensive scope needs to be implemented to address indirect risks that can arise from financing coal-related projects.

2. Unambitious Implementation Timeframe:

HSBC and Crédit Agricole's policy set a relatively slow implementation timeline, with a target of phasing out thermal coal by 2030 in the European Union and OECD and by 2040 globally. This creates concerns about the lack of urgency in supporting accelerated financing for the energy transition. Delaying crucial steps until 2040 could reduce the effectiveness of policies in reducing the impact of coal-related activities on climate change. Accelerating the timing of policy implementation will be more in line with the urgent demands of the current environment.



3. Inconsistency Between Financing Policies and Practices:

Crédit Agricole committed to stop working with companies developing new thermal coal capacity across the value chain. However, in reality, this bank provided a large loan to CNGR in May 2022 to acquire the PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia smelter, which uses a coal power plant. There are inconsistencies between policy commitments and practical financing actions. Banks must ensure that their policies are properly reflected in financing decisions and undertake careful evaluation of the projects they support.

Table 12. Case Description: Loan 5

Loan 5

Loan Description

Crédit Agricole, HSBC, ING Bank, Natixis, OCBC, OCBC NISP, and UOB provided a loan of USD 260 million to PT Merdeka Tsingshan Indonesia to pay debts to the parent company, namely PT Merdeka Copper Gold (MTI is now under PT Merdeka Battery Materials, one group with Merdeka Copper Gold), financing capital expenditures such as construction and operational costs for the Acid Iron Metal Project, including other related projects that will be developed by MTI. PT MTI uses a coal power plant for its smelter business activities in the Morowali Industrial Park area.

Loan	European Financial Institution
Loan Year August 2022	Credit Agricole, HSBC, ING Bank dan Natixis
Commitment Announcement	Commitment
Commitment Year 2020	Commitment Credit Agricole (refer to Loan Description 4), HSBC (refer to Loan Description 4), ING Bank (refer to Loan Description 3).
	Natixis' Commitment: Natixis has now made a new commitment to completely withdraw from the coal sector. The agreement will no longer support companies developing new capacity in coal-fired power generation or thermal coal mining and will completely withdraw from the thermal coal sector by 2030 for EU and OECD countries, and by 2040 for other countries in the world (BPCE_2020)



Notes

The Natixis coal financing phase-out policy faces significant challenges in terms of the implementation timeframe and lack of clarity in the scope of the policy. With a target of ending the use of thermal coal by 2030 in the European Union and OECD and by 2040 globally, this policy raises concerns about the urgency of accelerating financing for the energy transition.

Particularly regarding the USD 260 million loan to PT Merdeka Tsingshan Indonesia, there are gaps that show weaknesses in their coal policy. This policy does not specifically cover whether the termination of support applies only to the direct exposure level or also includes indirect exposures, which the parent company or subsidiaries may have. Until finally, the financing was used for smelter business activities powered by coal.

In the context of funding policy updates to exit coal and sustainable financing, clear updates or limitations are needed. This aims to prevent the use of funding, especially those that can trigger indirect exposure related to coal. Improvements in policy should include steps to identify and address coal-related financing risks, including the development of clear demarcations and identification of risks between direct and indirect exposures.

To achieve the goal of a sustainable energy transition, Natixis needs to accelerate the implementation of its policies and fine-tune provisions that ensure its financing is truly aligned with the commitment to transition away from coal globally.

Loan 6		
Loan Description		
Santander, HSBC, ANZ, DBS, and JP Morgan provided a USD 711 million loan to PT HLI Green Power, part of the Hyundai and LG consortium, for the construction of a battery factory in Karawang, West Java. One of Hyundai's supply chains, namely aluminum from Indonesia, will be powered by coal power plants.		
Loan	European Financial Institution	
October 2022	Santander dan HSBC	
Commitment Announcement	Commitment	
22 February 2021(Santander)	22 February 2021 (Santander) HSBC Com- mitment (refer to Loan Description 4) Santander's Commitment:	

Table 13. Case Description: Loan 6



Notes	
	ing worldwide by 2030
	2021); and eliminate exposure to coal min-
	nues depend on thermal coal (Santander,
	plants if 10% of related companies' reve-
	Will end financing for commercial power

Santander's coal policy faces several challenges that need to be addressed, particularly regarding the implementation timeframe and lack of clarity in the scope of the policy. This policy does not apply immediately and will only reach its peak in 2030, apart from that, it is limited to the scope of coal mining.

Furthermore, Santander's policy regarding ending financing for coal plants is still full of ambiguity and weak because it is not yet comprehensive. The prerequisite to stop providing new financing only applies if 10% of the relevant company's revenue depends on thermal coal. This leaves a huge gap that allows sustainability of financial support for coal projects to continue.

Financing for the construction of a battery factory in Karawang, West Java, is an example of how Santander's coal policy still has weaknesses. This loophole allows indirect exposure to coal because the policy does not target the entire value chain from upstream to downstream, including facilities related to coal (such as those from the processing side of mineral raw materials).



This page is intentionally left blank



Chapter 6 CONCLUSION

The proliferation of nickel mines and the establishment of smelters inevitably result in environmental damage and human rights violations. Energy injustice, manifested in deforestation, seawater and groundwater pollution, and air pollution, presents negative externalities associated with the nickel industry's presence.



6.1 Conclusion

Indonesia boasts the world's largest nickel reserves. providing the foundation for the Indonesian government's ambition to establish the country as the "King of World Batteries" through a downstream strategy. Efforts to achieve this goal involve attracting significant investment into the upstream nickel industry, spanning mines and smelters, with the ban on nickel ore exports implemented since early 2020. However, despite these initiatives, nickel downstream products remain categorized as "intermediate products" and have yet to fulfill the criteria necessary to serve as raw materials for electric vehicle batteries.

Investment in the upstream nickel sector encounters various challenges, particularly concerning sustainability and equity. The proliferation of nickel mines and the establishment of smelters inevitably result in environmental damage and human rights violations. Energy injustice, manifested in deforestation, seawater and groundwater pollution, and air pollution, presents negative externalities associated with the nickel industry's presence. Consequently, local residents, including indigenous communities, disproportionately bear the brunt of environmental harm, with some losing their homes as forested areas are converted into mining concessions without regard for their wishes. Media content analysis underscores the intensity of environmental damage and human rights issues stemming from nickel mining and smelting operations in the vicinity.

Furthermore, media content analysis highlights the prevalence of energy injustice from a human rights perspective, particularly regarding land conflicts, labor rights violations, lack of Free, Prior and Informed Consent (FPIC), and violence. Tragic incidents, such as worker fatalities in nickel mines and smelters, exemplify the inadequate commitment of business entities to occupational health and safety (K3) standards. This underscores the high incidence of workplace accidents in the upstream nickel sector and indicates nickel mining and smelting companies have yet to prioritize worker safety.

Tracing financial flows reveals that financing and investment in the upstream nickel sector are predominantly sourced from China. Among the major companies operating in the upstream sector are PT Vale Indonesia Tbk, PT Aneka Tambang Tbk, PT Bintang Empat Group, PT Weda Baya Nickel, and PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk. In the smelting segment, notable investors include PT Vale Indonesia Tbk, Tsingshan Group, PT Bintang Empat Mineral, Jiangsu Delong Nickel, Harita Group & Lygend Resources, CATL, LG Corporation, Zhejiang Huayou Cobalt, Posco, Kalla Group, and Indonesia Battery Corporation. This investment is concentrated in nickel-rich provinces on Sulawesi Island and Halmahera Island (North Maluku). Intriguingly, profits from financing originating from China tend to



repatriate to the investor's home country, resulting in an artificial nickel multiplier effect in Indonesia.

Financing for the nickel industry in Indonesia generally takes the form of loans, bonds, and equity, with most funding sources coming from financial institutions abroad. However, it is not only financial institutions from China that finance nickel companies in Indonesia; financial institutions from Europe also provide funding. In fact, the nickel industry still relies on captive coal-fired power plants (PLTUs). Therefore, the green commitment of European financial services institutions to reduce and stop funding coal projects must be questioned.

For example, PT Trimegah Bangun Persada (TBP), which operates in South Halmahera, has led to land conversion, water pollution, and increased air pollution resulting in acute respiratory infections. PT TBP has several subsidiaries financed by banks with green commitments, such as BNP Paribas, DBS, Bank Mandiri, BCA, BNI, Maybank, OCBC, OCBC NISP, and UOB. The banks provided a loan to PT Halmahera Persada Lygend (HPL) for the construction of a High-Pressure Acid Leach (HPAL) technology smelter on Obi Island, South Halmahera Regency, North Maluku Province.

In addition to financing practices, transparency in the company's business governance must also be a focus for banks. This is important because in 2022, there was a proven case of corruption in the issuance of Operational Production Permits (OP IUPs) by the Regent of North Konawe. The existence of this case does not rule out the possibility that similar instances may occur with regional heads at the provincial and district/city levels. Therefore, banks need to conduct regular monitoring of the companies they finance.

Worker safety aspects are also a concern. Data collected by the Mining Advocacy Network (JATAM) recorded 10 employees of PT. GNI who died in 2020 due to various factors such as landslides, drowning, falling into hot dumps, and truck accidents. Information related to work accidents illustrates the low level of occupational health and safety (K3) standards. This naturally contradicts the concept of recognition justice because the company lacks K3 preventive and mitigation efforts.

By financing the upstream nickel industry that has not implemented sustainable business principles, financial institutions are contributing to environmental destruction and human rights violations. The alignment between sustainable financial commitments and financing practices in the nickel industry, which show minimal respect for human rights and the environment, needs to be a serious consideration for financial institutions' commitment to ESG principles. Evaluation of sustainable financial and business practices is very important for financial institutions and nickel companies. The hope is that both financial institutions and nickel companies.


6.2 Recommendations

Recommendations for the government:

- 1. The Central Government should promptly issue a Government Regulation to establish a Sustainable Finance Committee in accordance with the mandate of Law No. 4 of 2023 concerning the Development and Strengthening of the Financial Sector (P2SK).
- The Sustainable Finance Committee, consisting of Bank Indonesia (BI), the Ministry of Finance (Kemenkeu), and OJK, needs to develop and enact sustainable investment regulations that align with the Indonesian Green Taxonomy and international standards on sustainable finance.
- 3. The Coordinating Ministry for Maritime Affairs and Investment should evaluate the suitability of existing nickel mines and smelters with the principles of sustainable development. It should also regulate against the opening of new captive coal-fired power plants (PLTUs) for smelters by integrating on-grid transmission or by concentrating nickel processing in areas with electricity oversupply conditions.
- The Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources should revoke nickel mining business permits for companies whose practices damage the environment and violate human rights.
- 5. The Ministry of Environment and Forestry should revoke the Forest Area Borrow-Use Permits (IPPKH) held by nickel mining companies whose practices harm the environment and violate human rights.
- 6. Provincial, district, and city governments in areas around nickel mines and smelters should oversee nickel mining and smelting activities to ensure that business practices adhere to environmental sustainability and human rights. They should also ensure that there is a positive impact on communities in the vicinity of the mines.
- 7. The central and regional governments (provincial/district/city) must also provide information in the media regarding the impacts and multiple effects caused by nickel mining and smelters from the perspective of affected communities and vulnerable groups, such as disabled groups, women's groups, the elderly, children, and indigenous communities. The government must also raise the issue of Indonesia's readiness to produce nickel for batteries and its use for national electric vehicles.



Recommendations for the Financial Services Authority (OJK)

- 1. OJK needs to prepare and publish a financing guidebook for the mining sector, especially critical minerals, to ensure that the financial industry and business actors understand and implement sustainable business activities by incorporating environmental, social, and governance aspects.
- OJK needs to mandate banks to establish a complaint mechanism (grievance mechanism), receive complaints, and address grievances from affected communities, indigenous groups, vulnerable populations, and stakeholders regarding negative impacts resulting from their financing and investment activities in a transparent, fair, and cost-free manner.

Recommendations for Nickel Mining and Smelter Companies:

- Nickel mining and smelter companies planning to invest in Indonesia must carry out human rights due diligence and environmental impact assessment analyses to avoid human rights violations and environmental damage resulting from their business practices;
- 2. Nickel mining and smelter companies should establish mechanisms for complaints and redress of the impact of human rights violations and environmental damage caused by their business activities.

Recommendations for Banks:

- Banks must have a policy that prohibits financing and investment (exclusion list) for activities or businesses that violate human rights and contribute to gender inequality, in accordance with laws, regulations, and international best practice standards. Banks should also adopt policies containing minimum requirements for clients regarding environmental and social aspects, including human rights and gender;
- Banks should establish an environmental and social risk management system (ESMS) consisting of policies, procedures, due diligence, and monitoring and evaluation processes to identify and manage the risks and impacts of their financing and investment activities;



- 3. Banks should have human rights due diligence procedures to identify, prevent, reduce, and address negative human rights impacts resulting from their financing and investment activities;
- 4. Banks should have a monitoring and evaluation system to periodically review clients' compliance with established policies and take decisive actions, such as rejecting or terminating financing and investments with clients found to be in violation. Banks should involve various stakeholders, including civil society organizations, to gather information on impacts on the ground and cases of human rights violations and environmental damage committed by clients;
- 5. Banks should facilitate a transparent, fair, and free complaints mechanism (grievance mechanism) for affected communities, indigenous groups, vulnerable populations, and stakeholders to submit complaints regarding negative impacts arising from their financing and investment activities. Banks should also require debtors to implement such mechanisms;
- Banks and investors should cease financing and investing in mining companies and nickel smelters found to be involved in environmental damage and human rights violations if the companies fail to conduct assessments of the impact of human rights and environmental damage and do not undertake remediation efforts;



References



- Adventy, Artha & Hafiyyan. (2023, March 28). Konglomerat di Balik IPO Merdeka Battery (MBMA), Boy Thohir hingga Edwin Soeryadjaya. Bisnis.com; Bisnis.com. https:// market.bisnis.com/read/20230328/192/1641479/konglomerat-di-balik-ipo-merdekabattery-mbma-boy-thohir-hingga-edwin-soeryadjaya
- AEER. 2020. Rangkaian Pasok Nikel Baterai dari Indonesia dan Persoalan Sosial Ekologi. AEER. Jakarta.
- Afriyadi, Achmad Dwi (2023, February 15). Sederet Proyek IBC Buat Geber Industri Kendaraan Listrik. Detikfinance; detikcom. https://finance.detik.com/energi/d-6570565/ sederet-proyek-ibc-buat-geber-industri-kendaraan-listrik
- Agung, Filemon. (2021, October 23). PLN: Kebutuhan investasi untuk kebutuhan listrik hingga 2060 capai Rp 9.000 triliun. Kontan.co.id; Kontan. https://newssetup.kontan. co.id/news/pln-kebutuhan-investasi-untuk-kebutuhan-listrik-hingga-2060-capairp-9000-triliun
- Agung, Filemon. (2022, September 6). Investasi USD 2,1 Miliar, Begini Detail Proyek Smelter Bahodopi Milik Vale Indonesia. Kontan.co.id; Kontan. https://industri.kontan.co.id/ news/investasi-us-21-miliar-begini-detail-proyek-smelter-bahodopi-milik-valeindonesia/
- Ahdiat, A. (2023, Mei). Ini Pulau Indonesia yang Kaya Cadangan Nikel. https://databoks. katadata.co.id/datapublish/2023/05/19/ini-pulau-indonesia-yang-kaya-cadangannikel
- Amali, Zakki & Aziz, A. (2020, May 5). *Rejam Jejak "Naga di Celebes" Bawa 500 TKA Cina Masuk Indonesia*. Tirto.id; Tirto.id. https://tirto.id/rejam-jejak-naga-di-celebes-bawa-500-tka-cina-masuk-indonesia-fj8e
- Ambrose, J. (2020, February 25). JP Morgan to withdraw support for some fossil fuels. The Guardian; The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/business/2020/feb/25/jp-morgan-chase-loans-fossil-fuels-arctic-oil-coal
- Amri, Asnil Bambani . (2016, April 25). *Mitsubishi jual bisnis nikel di Indonesia*. Kontan.co.id; Kontan. https://industri.kontan.co.id/news/mitsubishi-jual-bisnis-nikel-di-indonesia
- Annual and Sustainability Reports Vale. (2022). Vale. https://www.vale.com/indonesia/ annual-and-sustainability-reports



- Arfyana Citra Rahayu. (2023, January 13). APNI Melihat Permintaan Bijih Nikel Kadar Tinggi Semakin Meningkat. Retrieved October 23, 2023, from kontan.co.id website: https:// newssetup.kontan.co.id/news/apni-melihat-permintaan-bijih-nikel-kadar-tinggisemakin-meningkat
- Arif, A. (2023, September 15). Perubahan Iklim Melemahkan Hampir Semua Tujuan Pembangunan Berkelanjutan. kompas.id. https://www.kompas.id/baca/ humaniora/2023/09/15/perubahan-iklim-melemahkan-hampir-semua-tujuanpembangunan-berkelanjutan
- Armintasari, F., & Ramdlaningrum, H. (2021). Keuangan Berkelanjutan untuk Mendorong Pemulihan Hijau Pasca Pandemi Covid-19. The PRAKARSA.
- Ayu, Annisa (2022, December 8). 23 Perusahaan Investasi Hilirisasi Pertambangan Senilai USD30,9 Miliar - Medcom.id. Medcom.id; Medcom ID. https://www.medcom.id/ ekonomi/bisnis/8N0a35wb-23-perusahaan-investasi-hilirisasi-pertambangansenilai-usd30-9-miliar
- Barclays. (2022). Environmental Risk in Lending-Statement of Our Approach. https://home. barclays/content/dam/home-barclays/documents/citizenship/our-reporting-andpolicy-positions/policy-positions/Environmental-Risk-in-Lending-Statement-2022. pdf
- Baruah, B., & Biskupski-mujanovic, S. (2023). Women 's Studies International Forum Indigenous women 's employment in natural resource industries in Canada : Patterns , barriers and opportunities. Women's Studies International Forum, 99(June), 102784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wsif.2023.102784
- Bintang, N., Laila, A., & Simangunsong, F. (2023). Corporate Responsibility Due to Nickel Mine Exploitation Activities. 2(4).
- Bloomberg. (2023) BASF, Eramet Plan \$2.6 Billion to Build Indonesia Nickel Refinery. Retrieved from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-01-18/basf-eramet-plan-2-6billion-nickel-smelter-in-indonesia
- BNP Paribas.(2023). Financing and investment policies. Retrieved from https://group. bnpparibas/en/our-commitments/transitions/financing-and-investment-policies
- BP. (2021). Statistical Review of World Energy. https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/ business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/statistical-review/bpstats-review-2021-full-report.pdf



- BPCE Groupe. (2020). Natixis Announces Withdrawal From Shale Oil and Gas and Accelerates its Complete Exit From the Coal Industry. https://newsroom-en.groupebpce.fr/ news/natixis-announces-withdrawal-from-shale-oil-and-gas-and-acceleratesits-complete-exit-from-the-coal-industry-cedf-53927.html#:~:text=Natixis%20 now%20makes%20a%20new%20commitment%20to%20completely,and%20 2040%20for%20the%20rest%20of%20the%20world.
- BPS. (2013). Analisis Kesejahteraan Rumah Tangga Usaha Perikanan. Badan Pusat Statistik.
- Bushey, C., Dempsey, H., & Ruehl, M. (2023, March 30). Ford gambles on \$4.5bn Indonesia nickel plant with Chinese partner. @FinancialTimes; Financial Times. https://www. ft.com/content/fced1dc2-e0df-4d92-b240-7652968a49cc
- Candraditya, V. J. (2022, March 7). Kehadiran Tambang Nikel Bantu Ekonomi Masyarakat Kepulauan Gag Raja Ampat Papua Barat Tetap Tumbuh. *Tribunnews.com*. https://www. tribunnews.com/regional/2022/03/07/kehadiran-tambang-nikel-bantu-ekonomimasyarakat-kepulauan-gag-raja-ampat-papua-barat-tetap-tumbuh
- Chandra, W. (2022, January 25). WALHI Sulsel Minta Tambang Nikel Dihentikan. Ada Apa? Mongabay.Co.Id. https://www.mongabay.co.id/2022/01/25/walhi-sulsel-mintatambang-nikel-dihentikan-ada-apa/
- Chea, Sarah (2023, February 24). Posco Holdings, Lygend Resources sign nickel deal. Joins. com. https://koreajoongangdaily.joins.com/2023/02/24/business/industry/koreaposco-holdings-posco/20230224163726481.html
- Compliance Advisor Ombudsman. Indonesia: PT Weda Bay Nickel-01/Weda Bay | Office of the Compliance Advisor/Ombudsman. (2023). Cao-Ombudsman.org. https://www.cao-ombudsman.org/cases/indonesia-pt-weda-bay-nickel-01weda-bay
- Crédit Agricole S.A. details its intermediary targets and action plans to rea. (2022). Credit-Agricole.com. https://pressroom.credit-agricole.com/news/credit-agricole-s-adetails-its-intermediary-targets-and-action-plans-to-reach-carbon-neutrality-by-2050-on-5-sectors-3153-94727.html
- Credit Agricole. (2020). Credit Agricole Climate Starategy. https://www.credit-agricole. com/en/pdfPreview/184267#:~:text=The%20exposure%20of%20our%20 portfolios%20to%20coal%20industry,an%20annual%20basis%2C%20from%20 the%20end%20of%202019.
- Deonandan, K., Tatham, R., & Field, B. (2017). Indigenous women's anti-mining activism: a gendered analysis of the El Estor struggle in Guatemala. *Gender and Development*, 25(3), 405–419. https://doi.org/10.1080/13552074.2017.1379779



- Desfika., Thresa Sandra. (2023). Merdeka Battery (MBMA) Ungkap Transaksi Baru, Ada Kaitannya dengan Tambang Nikel - Halaman all. Investor.id. https://investor.id/ market/341730/merdeka-battery-mbma-ungkap-transaksi-baru-ada-kaitannyadengan-tambang-nikel/all
- Desfika., Thresa Sandra. (2023). TBP Harita Nickel (NCKL) Gelar Transaksi Ini. Investor.id. https://investor.id/market/333593/tbp-harita-nickel-nckl-gelar-transaksi-ini
- Dinata, S., Ikhsan, M., Silaban, M., & Umam, A. K. (2020). The Outcome of China's Investment in Indonesia: Lessons from the Nickel Industry.
- Djakarta Mining Club, (2023). Singapore Investor Enters Vale Indonesia Nickel Smelter Project. Retrieved from https://djakarta-miningclub.com/dmc/2023/singaporeinvestor-enters-vale-indonesia-nickel-smelter-project/
- Djakarta Mining Club. (2023, March 16).. Singapore Investor Enters Vale Indonesia Nickel Smelter Project – Djakarta Mining Club. Djakarta-Miningclub.com. https://djakartaminingclub.com/dmc/2023/singapore-investor-enters-vale-indonesia-nickelsmelter-project/
- Environmental and Social Review Summary Weda Bay Nickel Mine Project -Exploration and Pre-construction Phase. (n.d.). Retrieved October 24, 2023, from https://www.miga. org/sites/default/files/archive/Documents/WedaBay_ESRS_old.pdf
- Eramet, W. (2023). The success story of Weda Bay Nickel. Retrieved from https://www. eramet.com/en/group/the-success-story-of-weda-bay-nickel/
- Eramet. (2017). PRESS RELEASE Agreement finalised with the Tsingshan group to develop the Weda Bay Nickel deposit in Indonesia. (n.d.). https://hugin. info/143395/R/2111440/802793.pdf
- ESFC Investment Group. (2023). Coal-fired power plant construction costs. https:// esfccompany.com/en/articles/thermal-energy/coal-fired-power-plantconstruction-costs/#:~:text=According%20to%20the%20International%20 Energy%20Agency%20%28IEA%29%2C%20the,to%20%244.5%20million%20 per%20megawatt%20of%20installed%20capacity.
- Eternal Tsingshan Group Co.,Ltd. (2017). Etsingshan.com. https://www.etsingshan.com/Art/ Art_72/Art_72_173.aspx
- Eternal Tsingshan Group Co.,Ltd. (2018). Etsingshan.com. https://www.etsingshan.com/ Art/Art_38/Art_38_69.aspx
- Ettinger, J. (2022, March 29). Dutch Bank ING Becomes the Biggest Lender to Stop Funding Oil and Gas. Green Queen. https://www.greenqueen.com.hk/dutch-bank-ing-stopsfunding-fossil-fuels/



- European Commission. (2023). European Commission Sustainable finance. https:// commission.europa.eu/business-economy-euro/banking-and-finance/sustainablefinance_en
- Fatkhul Maskur, & Fatkhul Maskur. (2019, February 25). Smelter VDNI Telan Investasi USD1,4 Miliar, Serap 6.000 Pekerja. Bisnis.com; Bisnis.com. https://ekonomi.bisnis.com/ read/20190225/257/892973/smelter-vdni-telan-investasi-us14-miliar-serap-6.000pekerja
- Firda Dwi Muliawati. (2023, April 11). Seng Ada Lawan, 99% Investor Pabrik Nikel Cs RI dari China! CNBC Indonesia; cnbcindonesia.com. https://www.cnbcindonesia.com/ news/20230411175701-4-429064/seng-ada-lawan-99-investor-pabrik-nikel-cs-ridari-china
- Garside, M. (2023). Indonesia nickel mine production 2022. Retrieved from https://www. statista.com/statistics/260757/indonesian-mine-production-of-nickel-since-2006/
- Garside, M. (2023). Nickel reserves worldwide by country 2022. Retrieved from https:// www.statista.com/statistics/273634/nickel-reserves-worldwide-by-country/
- GEM. (2023). Qmbworld.com. http://www.qmbworld.com/gsjs/index.aspx
- Global Energy Monitor, CREA, E3G, Reclaim Finance, Club, S., for, S., Kiko Network, CAN Europe, Bangladesh Groups, for, A., & Chile Sustentable. (2023, April 5). Boom and Bust Coal 2023: Tracking the Global Coal Plant Pipeline. Global Energy Monitor. https:// globalenergymonitor.org/report/boom-and-bust-coal-2023/
- Glynn, T., & Maimunah, S. (2023). Unearthing conscious intent in women's everyday resistance to mining in Indonesia. *Ethnography*, 24(1), 23–43. https://doi.org/10.1177/14661381211039372
- Green, J. (2015, May 21). Credit Agricole stops financing coal mining. World Coal; World Coal. https://www.worldcoal.com/coal/21052015/credit-agricole-stops-financing-coalmining-2313/
- Guitarra, Pratama.(2018, June 3). Megah Surya Pertiwi rampungkan pembangunan smelter feronikel line keempat. Kontan.co.id; Kontan. https://industri.kontan.co.id/news/ megah-surya-pertiwi-rampungkan-pembangunan-smelter-feronikel-line-keempat
- Gupta, Krisna. 2022. 'Indonesia's claim that banning nickel exports spurs downstreaming is questionable.' The Conversation, March 30. https://theconversation.com/indonesias-claim-that-banning-nickel-exports-spurs-downstreaming-is-questionable-180229
- Harlina, S. (2021, Desember). Jokowi Resmikan Smelter PT Gunbuster Nickel Industry Rp 42,9
 T. detikfinance. https://finance.detik.com/industri/d-5873080/jokowi-resmikan-smelter-pt-gunbuster-nickel-industry-rp-42-9-t



- Haryadi, H. (2016). Analisis Dampak Pembangunan Smelter Nikel terhadap Perekonomian Daerah di Provinsi Sulawesi Tenggara. Buletin Sumber Daya Geologi, 11(1), 25–39. https://doi.org/10.47599/bsdg.v11i1.8
- Haryadi, H. (2017). The financial feasibility analysis for construction plan of ferro-nickel (feni) smelter plant at South Konawe Regency, South East Sulawesi. *Indonesian Mining Journal*, 20(2), 131–142. https://doi.org/10.30556/imj.vol20.no2.2017.278
- Heffron, R. J., & McCauley, D. (2017). The concept of energy justice across the disciplines. Energy Policy, 105(March), 658–667. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.03.018
- Hermawan, E. (2023, January 18). Rezeki Nikel Berlumpur-lumpur. *Tempo*. https://majalah. tempo.co/read/investigasi/167984/dampak-smelter-nikel-terhadap-ekonomi
- Ho, Y., & Eko Listiyorini. (2022, December 15). Chinese Companies Are Flocking to Indonesia for Its Nickel. Bloomberg.com; Bloomberg. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2022-12-15/chinese-companies-are-flocking-to-indonesia-for-its-nickel
- Ho, Y., & Eko Listiyorini. (2023, March 29). Nickel Revolution Has Indonesia Chasing Battery Riches Tinged With Risk. Bloomberg.com; Bloomberg. https://www.bloomberg.com/ news/features/2023-03-29/nickel-revolution-has-indonesia-chasing-batteryriches-tinged-with-risk
- Ho, Y., & Listiyorini, E. (2023). Nickel Revolution Has Indonesia Chasing Battery Riches Tinged With Risk. Retrieved from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/features/2023-03-29/ nickel-revolution-has-indonesia-chasing-battery-riches-tinged-with-risk
- HSBC. (2022). We're Phasing Out Coal Financing. https://www.hsbc.com/news-and-views/ news/hsbc-news-archive/were-phasing-out-coal-financing
- https://www.sc.com/en/author. (2018, September 24). Saying no to coal what you need to know | Standard Chartered. Standard Chartered. https://www.sc.com/en/exploreour-world/saying-no-to-coal-what-you-need-to-know/
- Hudayana, B., Suharko, & Widyanta, Ab. (2020). Communal violence as a strategy for negotiation: Community responses to nickel mining industry in Central Sulawesi, Indonesia. The Extractive Industries and Society, 7(4), 1547–1556. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.exis.2020.08.012
- Hyun-bin, Kim (2023, February 24). POSCO Holdings starts secondary battery nickel business in Indonesia. Koreatimes; The Korea Times. https://koreatimes.co.kr/ www/nation/2023/02/419_346040.html#:~:text=POSC0%20Holdings%20is%20 starting%20a%20nickel%20business%20for,in%20Jakarta%2C%20Indonesia%20 to%20cooperate%20in%20nickel%20production.
- IDX (2022). Suit-Baze. https://idx.co.id/id/perusahaan-tercatat/profil-perusahaan-tercatat/ANTM



- IDX. (2013). Retrieved from https://idx.co.id/StaticData/NewsAndAnnouncement/ ANNOUNCEMENTSTOCK/From_EREP/202309/498fd4ddce_25443c5300.pdf
- IDX. (2022). Suit-Baze. https://idx.co.id/id/perusahaan-tercatat/profil-perusahaan-tercatat/MBMA
- IEA (2022), Global Energy Review: CO2 Emissions in 2021, IEA, Paris https://www.iea.org/ reports/global-energy-review-co2-emissions-in-2021-2, License: CC BY 4.0
- IEA. (2022). Peta Jalan Menuju Emisi Nol Bersih pada Sektor Energi di Indonesia. https:// iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/8af7e5d0-a594-4bd8-aab7-3f0eec4e878f/ ARoadmaptoaNetZeroEnergySectorforIndonesia_ES_Indonesian.pdf
- ING Bank (2017). ING Further Sharpens Coal Policy to Support Transition to Low-Carbon Economy. https://www.ing.com/Newsroom/News/ING-further-sharpens-coalpolicy-to-support-transition-to-low-carbon-economy.htm
- Investor ID (2023). Investor.id. https://investor.id/market/336977/antam-disebut-akantukar-guling-saham-dengan-catl#:~:text=Selain%20proyek%20nikel%2C%20 CBL%20akan%20membuat%20fasilitas%20daur,dengan%20porsi%20saham%20 masing-masing%2060%25%2C%2070%25%2C%20dan%2070%25.
- Irawati, I.(2020). The Expansion of Nickel Mining, Environmental Damage and Determinants' of the Bajo Community Marginalization in Pomalaa Regency, Southeast Sulawesi. Jurnal Pemikiran Sosiologi, 7(2), 139. https://doi.org/10.22146/jps.v7i2.62529
- Jenkins, K., McCauley, D., Heffron, R., Stephan, H., & Rehner, R. (2016). Energy justice: A conceptual review. *Energy Research and Social Science*, 11, 174–182. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.erss.2015.10.004
- Kalla.co.id Sejarah / Milestone. (2021). Kalla. https://kalla.co.id/id/tentang-kami/sejarahmilestone-kalla
- Kemenko Marves (2023) https://e-ppid.maritim.go.id/uploads/img_60c6dcca30ca0.pdf
- Kementerian Keuangan RI. (n.d.). Kerangka Kerja Lingkungan, Sosial, dan Tata Kelola (LST) pada Dukungan dan Fasilitas Pemerintah untuk Pembiayaan Infrastruktur. Kementerian Keuangan RI. Kemenperin (2021). Laporan Informasi Industri. https://kemenperin. go.id/download/27418/Laporan-Informasi-Industri-2021
- Kemenperin: Hilirisasi Nikel di Indonesia, Kemenperin Buka Suara. (2023). Kemenperin.go.id. https://kemenperin.go.id/artikel/24251/Hilirisasi-Nikel-di-Indonesia,-Kemenperin-Buka-Suara
- Kemenperin: Hilirisasi Nikel di Indonesia, Kemenperin Buka Suara. (2023). Kemenperin.go.id. https://kemenperin.go.id/artikel/24251/Hilirisasi-Nikel-di-Indonesia,-Kemenperin-Buka-Suara



- Kemenperin: Sulawesi Mining Bangun Smelter USD 1,06 Miliar. (2013). Kemenperin.go.id. https://kemenperin.go.id/artikel/6161/Sulawesi-Mining-Bangun-Smelter-USD-1,06-Miliar
- Kementerian ESDM.(2022). https://www.esdm.go.id/id/media-center/arsip-berita/ menteri-esdm-saksikan-penandatangan-perjanjian-pembiayaan-proyek-smelterpertama-oleh-perbankan-nasional
- Kementerian Investasi/BKPM Kementerian Investasi, Konsorsium LG, dan Konsorsium BUMN Sepakat Percepat Realisasi Proyek Grand Package Senilai 142 Triliun. (2023). Bkpm.go.id. https://www1.bkpm.go.id/id/info/siaran-pers/kementerian-investasikonsorsium-lg-dan-konsorsium-bumn-sepakat-percepat-realisasi-proyek-grandpackage-senilai-142-triliun
- Kementerian Keuangan RI. (n.d.). Kerangka Kerja Lingkungan, Sosial, dan Tata Kelola (LST) pada Dukungan dan Fasilitas Pemerintah untuk Pembiayaan Infrastruktur. Kementerian Keuangan RI.
- Kim, Kyunghoon, 2023. Indonesia's uncertain climb up the nickel value chain. The Lowy Institute.
- Knutsen, C. H., Kotsadam, A., Olsen, E. H., & Wig, T. (2017). Mining and Local Corruption in Africa. American Journal of Political Science, 61(2), 320–334. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ajps.12268
- Komalasari, Tia Dwitiani (2022, December 7). 23 Perusahaan Antri Investasi Hilirisasi Tambang Senilai Rp 482 T. Katadata.co.id; Katadata.co.id. https://katadata.co.id/ tiakomalasari/berita/63901083d5932/23-perusahaan-antri-investasi-hilirisasitambang-senilai-rp-482-t
- Kominfo. (2023). Presiden Joko Widodo Apresiasi Rampungnya Peta Jalan Hilirisasi. https://www.kominfo.go.id/content/detail/47139/presiden-joko-widodo-apresiasirampungnya-peta-jalan-hilirisasi/0/berita
- Kurniawan, A. R., Murayama, T., & Nishikizawa, S. (2021). Appraising affected community perceptions of implementing programs listed in the environmental impact statement: A case study of Nickel smelter in Indonesia. Extractive Industries and Society, 8(1), 363–373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exis.2020.11.015
- Laplane, J., van Loenen, L., Willem, J., & van Gelder. (2023). Fair Finance Guide Methodology 2023 (p. 273). Fair Finance International and Profundo.
- Lee, A. (2022, August). Tesla Inks Battery Materials Deals With Two China Suppliers. Bloomberg.com; Bloomberg. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2022-08-01/tesla-inks-battery-materials-deals-with-two-chinese-suppliers



- Lee, A. (2023). Indonesian Nickel Mine Morowali Wants to Be Greener Link in EV Supply Chain. Retrieved from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2023-07-24/ indonesian-nickel-mine-morowali-takes-steps-to-address-environmental-concerns
- Lee, J., & Byrne, J. (2019). Expanding the conceptual and analytical basis of energy justice: beyond the three-tenet framework. Frontiers in Energy Research, 7(SEP), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2019.00099
- Leifeld, Philip, Dana R. Fisher dan Yoko Iwaki. (2013). Mapping the Ideological Networks of American Climate politics. Springer Science. DOI: 10.1007/s10584-012-0512-7. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/257547929_Mapping_the_Ideological_ Networks_of_American_Climate_Politics
- Leruth at all 2022. Green energy depends on critical minerals. Who controls the supply chains? PIIE Working Paper.
- Li, P., & Pacheco, F. (2022, November 24). China's Lygend Raises \$470 Million in Hong Kong IPO, Sources Say. Bloomberg.com; Bloomberg. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2022-11-24/china-s-lygend-is-said-to-raise-470-million-in-hong-kong-ipo
- Listiyorini, E. (2022). Nickel Price Surge Prompts Indonesia to Boost Production. Retrieved from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-03-09/wild-nickel-marketmay-get-relief-from-indonesia-s-higher-output
- Listiyorini, Eko(2022, April 19). Indonesia Ramps Up Efforts to Make Green Nickel. Bloomberg. com; Bloomberg. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2022-04-19/bukakabuilds-2-billion-nickel-smelter-powered-by-river-water
- Lygende Resources.(2022).GLOBAL OFFERING (A joint stock company incorporated in the People's Republic of China with limited liability). (n.d.). https://www1.hkexnews.hk/ listedco/listconews/sehk/2022/1121/2022112100005.pdf
- Manulife Global Fund. (2020). Global Climate Action Fund Disclosure Pursuant to the EU Sustainable Finance Disclosure Regulation. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www. manulifeglobalfund.com/global-climate-action-SFDR.html
- MarketScreener. (2015, October 15). Natixis : to cease financing coal industries worldwide. MarketScreener; MarketScreener. https://www.marketscreener.com/ quote/stock/NATIXIS-4673/news/Natixis-to-cease-financing-coal-industriesworldwide-21201908/
- MarketScreener. (2019, December 26). Vale SA Signs USD 3 Billion Revolving Credit Facility. MarketScreener; MarketScreener. https://www.marketscreener.com/quote/ stock/VALE-S-A-9970050/news/Vale-SA-Signs-USD-3-Billion-Revolving-Credit-Facility-34034795/



- Maulia, Erwida. (2022, October 18). Dirty metals for clean cars: Indonesian nickel could be key to EV battery industry. Nikkei Asia; Nikkei Asia. https://asia.nikkei.com/Spotlight/ The-Big-Story/Dirty-metals-for-clean-cars-Indonesian-nickel-could-be-key-to-EVbattery-industry
- Mayasari, Selvi. (2023, September 26). Perbankan Ramai-Ramai Pangkas Pendanaan ke Sektor Batubara. Kontan.co.id; Kontan. https://keuangan.kontan.co.id/news/ perbankan-ramai-ramai-pangkas-pendanaan-ke-sektor-batubara?page=all
- McCauley, D., Ramasar, V., Heffron, R. J., Sovacool, B. K., Mebratu, D., & Mundaca, L. (2019). Energy justice in the transition to low carbon energy systems: Exploring key themes in interdisciplinary research. Applied Energy, 233–234, 916–921. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. apenergy.2018.10.005
- Merdeka Battery Materials. (2023). Merdekabattery.com. https://merdekabattery.com/en/ company/ownershiip
- MIND ID (2020). Mind.id. Tuntaskan Transaksi Akuisisi Saham Vale Indonesia. https://mind. id/en/news/mind-id-tuntaskan-transaksi-akuisisi-saham-vale-indonesia
- MODIESDM.(2023).Esdm.go.id.https://modi.esdm.go.id/portal/detailPerusahaan/424?jp=1

MODI	ESDM	(2023).	Esdm.go.id.	https://modi.esdm.go.id/portal/
det	ailPerusahaar	n/1410?jp=1		

MODI ESDM.. (2023). Esdm.go.id. https://modi.esdm.go.id/portal/ detailPerusahaan/1410?jp=1

MODI. (2017). Esdm.go.id. https://modi.esdm.go.id/portal/detailPerusahaan/8025?jp=2

- MODI. (2018). Esdm.go.id. https://modi.esdm.go.id/portal/detailPerusahaan/7057?jp=1
- Muhamad Fajar Riyandanu. (2022, September 14). Vale dan Huayou Bangun Smelter Nikel Limonit di Sorowako Rp 26 Triliun. Katadata.co.id; Katadata.co.id. https://katadata. co.id/lavinda/berita/6321620bebe8c/vale-dan-huayou-bangun-smelter-nikellimonit-di-sorowako-rp-26-triliun
- Muliawati, Firda Dwi (2023, January 13). Pak Jokowi Betul, Ini Bukti Nyata Hilirisasi Nikel RI Sukses! Retrieved October 23, 2023, from CNBC Indonesia website: https://www. cnbcindonesia.com/news/20230113173918-4-405363/pak-jokowi-betul-ini-buktinyata-hilirisasi-nikel-ri-sukses
- Nababan, Christine Novita. (2015, December 20). Maybank kucurkan pembiayaan USD 100 juta ke Antam. Kontan.co.id; Kontan. https://keuangan.kontan.co.id/news/maybankkucurkan-pembiayaan-us-100-juta-ke-antam



- Nancy, N. (2022). Potential Distortion of Sustainable Development in the Conflict of Interest of Nickel Mining and Indigenous Communities in. Journal of Global Environmental Dynamics, 3(2), 11–20.
- Neghaiwi, Brenna Hughes. (2022, March 11). UBS joins lenders setting fossil fuel emissionscutting goals. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/markets/europe/ubs-joinslenders-setting-fossil-fuel-emissions-cutting-goals-2022-03-11/
- Nickel Institute. (2023). Life cycle data QUESTIONS & ANSWERS KNOWLEDGE FOR A BRIGHTER FUTURE. (n.d.). Retrieved October 25, 2023, from https://nickelinstitute. org/media/4817/lifecycledata-faq-update2020.pdf#:~:text=The%20production%20 of%201kg%20of%20nickel%20metal%20is
- NS Energy. (2023). Weda Bay Nickel Project, Halmahera Island, Indonesia. Retrieved from https://www.nsenergybusiness.com/projects/weda-bay-nickel-project/
- Nurdiana, Putri. (2022, February 26). Komitmen Iklim China dan Proyek PLTU Baru di Pulau Obi Halmahera. Keiraha.com. https://kieraha.com/sponsored/rilis-pers/komitmeniklim-china-dan-proyek-pltu-baru-di-pulau-obi-halmahera/
- O'Faircheallaigh, C. (2013). Women's absence, women's power: Indigenous women and negotiations with mining companies in Australia and Canada. Ethnic and Racial Studies, 36(11), 1789–1807. https://doi.org/10.1080/01419870.2012.655752
- OJK. (2021). Retrieved from https://www.ojk.go.id/id/berita-dan-kegiatan/ publikasi/Documents/Pages/Roadmap-Keuangan-Berkelanjutan-Tahap-II-%282021-2025%29/Roadmap%20Keuangan%20Berkelanjutan%20Tahap%20 II%20%282021-2025%29.pdf
- OJK.(2022). Retrieved from https://www.ojk.go.id/id/berita-dan-kegiatan/info-terkini/ Documents/Pages/Taksonomi-Hijau-Indonesia-Edisi-1---2022/Taksonomi%20 Hijau%20Edisi%201.0%20-%202022.pdf
- Otoritas Jasa Keuangan. (2014). Roadmap Keuangan Berkelanjutan di Indonesia 2015—2019. Otoritas Jasa Keuangan.
- Otoritas Jasa Keuangan. (2023). Ojk.go.id. https://www.ojk.go.id/id/Pages/Keuangan-Berkelanjutan.aspx
- Pacheco, F., & Ho, Y. (2023, March 27). Harita Nickel Raises \$659 Million in Jakarta IPO Priced at Top. Bloomberg.com; Bloomberg. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/ articles/2023-03-27/harita-nickel-raises-659-million-in-jakarta-ipo-priced-at-top
- Paribas, BNP. (2022). Sector Policy-Coal-Fired Power Generation. https://cdn-group. bnpparibas.com/uploads/file/bnpparibas_csr_sector_policy_coal_fired_power_ generation.pdf



Parid, R. (2020). Temuan Lapangan Tambang NIkel di Wawonii.

- PRI. (2022, May 17). Adopt policy financing no new fossil fuels at JP Morgan | Unpri.org. https://collaborate.unpri.org/group/9311/stream
- Pikiran Rakyat. (2022, February 7). Dipolisikan Atas Dugaan Penyimpangan izin Tambang Nikel, Kadis ESDM Sulteng: Sesuai SOP. Pikiran Rakyat Banggai. https://banggai. pikiran-rakyat.com/sulteng/pr-1993676348/dipolisikan-atas-dugaan-penyimpanganizin-tambang-nikel-kadis-esdm-sulteng-sesuai-sop?page=3
- Pradila, M. R. (2021, November 17). Eks Mentan Amran Sulaiman Diperiksa KPK Terkait Kasus Dugaan Maling Uang Rakyat di Tambang Nikel. Pikiran-Rakyat.com. https://www. pikiran-rakyat.com/hukum/pr-013037919/eks-mentan-amran-sulaiman-diperiksakpk-terkait-kasus-dugaan-maling-uang-rakyat-di-tambang-nikel?page=2
- Project | china.aiddata.org. (2017). Aiddata.org. https://china.aiddata.org/projects/61986/
- PT ANTAM Tbk | Annual Reports. (2023). ANTAM. https://antam.com/en/reports/annualreports
- PT BINTANG DELAPAN MINERAL -. (2019). Bintangdelapan.com. https://bintangdelapan. com/?portfolio=pt-bintang-delapan-mineral
- PT Vale Indonesia and Huayou Sign Nickel Agreement with Ford Motor Co. Supporting Growth of the Global Sustainable EV Industry | Ford Media Center. (2023). Ford.com. https://media.ford.com/content/fordmedia/fna/us/en/news/2023/03/30/pt-valeindonesia-and-huayou-sign-nickel-agreement-with-ford-mot.html
- Reclaim Finance. (2021, December 22). Amundi and coal: just can't kick the habit Reclaim Finance. Reclaim Finance. https://reclaimfinance.org/site/en/2021/12/22/amundi-and-coal-just-cant-kick-the-habit/
- Rela, I. Z., Awang, A. H., Ramli, Z., Taufik, Y., Md. Sum, S., & Muhammad, M. (2020). Effect of corporate social responsibility on community resilience: Empirical evidence in the nickel mining industry in Southeast Sulawesi, Indonesia. Sustainability (Switzerland), 12(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/su12041395
- Reuters. (2022, March 29). StanChart to phase out direct coal financing by 2032. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/business/sustainable-business/stanchart-phase-outdirect-coal-financing-by-2032-2022-03-29/
- Reuters. (2023, February 15). Barclays tightens lending for dirtiest fossil fuels. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/business/sustainable-business/barclays-tightenslending-dirtiest-fossil-fuels-2023-02-15/



- Reuters. (2023, March 30). Ford in \$4.5 bln deal for EV battery materials plant. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/business/autos-transportation/ford-signs-45-bln-investment-deal-with-vale-indonesia-huayou-ev-battery-material-2023-03-30/
- Ruehl, M. (2023, March 27). Harita Nickel raises \$660mn in Indonesia's biggest IPO this year. @FinancialTimes; Financial Times. https://www.ft.com/content/52e4518a-6108-43fd-aa24-6e7013887f23
- Ruehl, M. (2023, March 27). Harita Nickel raises \$660mn in Indonesia's biggest IPO this year. @FinancialTimes; Financial Times. https://www.ft.com/content/52e4518a-6108-43fd-aa24-6e7013887f23
- Saepudin, A., Rachmawati, I., Kuncoro, H. R., & Angretnowati, Y. (2022). Indonesia Green Mining Industry. European Journal of Development Studies, 2(5), 22–31. https://doi. org/10.24018/ejdevelop.2022.2.5.169
- Saeno, & Aziliya, D. (2012, January 31). KREDIT ANTAM: Bank Mandiri pimpin sindikasi USD650 juta. Bisnis.com; Bisnis.com. https://kabar24.bisnis.com/read/20120131/186/61836/ kredit-antam-bank-mandiri-pimpin-sindikasi-us\$650-juta
- Santander. (2021). Santander, World Leader in Renewable Energy Financing in the First Half of the Year. https://www.santander.com/en/press-room/press-releases/2022/08/ santander-world-leader-in-renewable-energy-financing-in-the-first-half-of-theyear#:~:text=The%20targets%20add%20to%20those%20the%20Group%20had,eliminate%20exposure%20to%20coal%20mining%20worldwide%2C%20by%20 2030.
- Santander. (2022, August 4). Santander, world leader in renewable energy financing in the first half of the year. Santander.com; Santander Bank. https://www.santander.com/en/press-room/press-releases/2022/08/santander-world-leader-in-renewable-energy-financing-in-the-first-half-of-the-year#:~:text=The%20targets%20add%20 to%20those%20the%20Group%20had,eliminate%20exposure%20to%20coal%20 mining%20worldwide%2C%20by%202030.
- SEC (2022). Sec.gov. https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/ data/917851/000129281423001516/valeform20f_2022.htm
- Sembiring, Lidya Julita. (2020, June 20). Sah! MIND ID Caplok 20% Saham Divestasi Vale Rp 5,5 T. CNBC Indonesia; cnbcindonesia.com. https://www.cnbcindonesia.com/ market/20200620121239-17-166809/sah-mind-id-caplok-20-saham-divestasi-valerp-55-t
- Septianto, Bayu & Thomas, Vincent Fabian. (2020, May 15). Inalum Terbitkan Obligasi Global USD 2,5 Miliar. Tirto.id; Tirto.id. https://tirto.id/inalum-terbitkan-obligasi-global-usd-25-miliar-fulZ



- Seung-yeon, K. (2023, May 3). Yonhap News Agency. Yonhap News Agency. https://en.yna. co.kr/view/AEN20230503004100320
- Shiddiq. (2023, September 5). Menengok Progres Smelter BMS Milik Yusuf Kalla. Media Nikel Indonesia; NIKEL.CO.ID. https://nikel.co.id/2023/09/05/menengok-progressmelter-bms-milik-yusuf-kalla/
- Sims, T., Orosz, M., & Furness, V. (2023, March 2). Deutsche Bank tightens finance policy on coal, but not on oil and gas. Reuters. https://www.reuters.com/business/ sustainable-business/deutsche-bank-tightens-coal-finance-policy-not-oil-gas-2023-03-02/#:~:text=Around%2020%20of%20Europe's%20banks,that%20for%20 oil%20and%20gas.
- Skarn Associates. (2023). Are Days Numbered for Indonesia's Kilns? Skarnassociates.com. https://www.skarnassociates.com/insights/indonesia
- Sovacool, B. K., & Dworkin, M. H. (2015). Energy justice: Conceptual insights and practical applications. Applied Energy, 142, 435–444. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. apenergy.2015.01.002
- Sovacool, B. K., Burke, M., Baker, L., Kotikalapudi, C. K., & Wlokas, H. (2017). New frontiers and conceptual frameworks for energy justice. Energy Policy, 105(March), 677–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.03.005
- Standard Chartered. (2022). Position Statemens: Extractive Industries. https://www. sc.com/en/about/sustainability/position-statements/extractive-industries/
- Sunardi, L. (2021, December 21). Kalla Group dan Posco Sepakat Kembangkan Industri Baterai di Indonesia. Bisnis.com; Bisnis.com. https://ekonomi.bisnis.com/ read/20211221/257/1480247/kalla-group-dan-posco-sepakat-kembangkan-industribaterai-di-indonesia
- Taksonomi Hijau Indonesia Edisi 1.0 2022. (2022). Ojk.go.id. https://www.ojk.go.id/id/ berita-dan-kegiatan/info-terkini/Pages/Taksonomi-Hijau-Indonesia-Edisi-1—2022. aspx
- Tangngisalu, J. (2020). Effect of Cash Flow and Corporate Social Responsibility Disclosure on Firm Value. Atestasi : Jurnal Ilmiah Akuntansi, 3(2), 142–149. https://doi. org/10.57178/atestasi.v3i2.263
- TBP Nickel (2023). Retrieved from https://tbpnickel.com/files/investor_assets/ Prospektus%20Final%20PT%20Trimegah%20Bangun%20Persada%20Tbk%20 -NCKL-.pdf
- TBP. (2023). Retrieved from https://tbpnickel.com/files/investor_assets/Keterbukaan%20 Informasi%20Transaksi%20Afiliasi%20TBP%20JMP.pdf



- Teresa, Silvi, Taufik, M., Sandy, Taufik, Teresia, Muslim, & Ginting, P. (2021). Transisi Berkeadilan: Sektor Batubara dan Nikel.
- Trireksani, T., & Djajadikerta, H. G. (2016). Corporate governance and environmental disclosure in the Indonesian mining industry. Australasian Accounting, Business and Finance Journal, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.14453/aabfj.v10i1.3
- Tsingshan Group (2013). GROUP INTRODUCTION | TSINGSHAN HOLDING GROUP. Tssgroup. com.cn. https://www.tssgroup.com.cn/en/about-us/group/
- UN.(2021). COP26 closes with "compromise" deal on climate, but it's not enough, says UN chief. (2021, November 13). UN News. https://news.un.org/en/story/2021/11/1105792
- UNFCCC. (2020). End of Coal in Sight at COP26 | Unfccc.int. https://unfccc.int/news/endof-coal-in-sight-at-cop26
- UN COMTRADE. (2023). Nickel Trade Data.
- Urgewald.(2021). NGOs Release the 2020 Global Coal Exit List: 935 Companies that Banks, Investors and Insurers Need to Avoid | urgewald e.V. (2020). Urgewald.org. https://www.urgewald.org/en/medien/ngos-release-2020-global-coal-exit-list-935companies-banks-investors-and-insurers-need
- Victoria, Agatha Olivia (2022, May 12). Pushep: Perbankan tak dilarang biayai industri batu bara. Antara News; ANTARA. https://www.antaranews.com/berita/2874709/pushep-perbankan-tak-dilarang-biayai-industri-batu-bara
- Viva Budy Kusnandar. (2023, March 2). Januari-November 2022, Nilai Ekspor Nikel Indonesia ke Tiongkok Tembus Rp60 Triliun. Katadata.co.id; Databoks. https:// databoks.katadata.co.id/datapublish/2023/02/03/januari-november-2022-nilaiekspor-nikel-indonesia-ke-tiongkok-tembus-rp60-triliun#:~:text=Menurut%20 data%20Badan%20Pusat%20Statistik%20%28BPS%29%20volume%20 ekspor,melonjak%201.077%2C06%25%20dari%20periode%20yang%20sama%20 tahun%20sebelumnya.
- World Bank (2008). https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/ru/270571468041425069/ pdf/595300revised00gress0report0english.pdf
- Yang, G., Ayman Elshkaki, & Xiao, X. (2021). Dynamic analysis of future nickel demand, supply, and associated materials, energy, water, and carbon emissions in China. Resources Policy, 74, 102432–102432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2021.102432
- Yessy. (2021, September 3). Penuhi Kebutuhan Nikel Dunia, PT GNI Bakal Investasi USD 3 Miliar. Www.jpnn.com; JPNN.com. https://www.jpnn.com/news/penuhi-kebutuhannikel-dunia-pt-gni-bakal-investasi-usd-3-miliar



- Yunus, S. R., & Theodora, A. (2023, July 21). Kemiskinan Naik di Sentra Pengolahan Nikel, Efek Ganda Hilirisasi Belum Optimal. kompas.id. https://www.kompas.id/baca/ ekonomi/2023/07/20/kemiskinan-naik-di-sentra-pengolahan-nikel-efek-gandahilirisasi-belum-terasa
- Zen RS, & Kurniawan, F. (2018, May 9). Benarkah PT Bintang 8 Mineral Milik Prabowo & Mayoritas Pakai TKA? Tirto.id; Tirto.id. https://tirto.id/benarkah-pt-bintang-8-mineral-milik-prabowo-mayoritas-pakai-tka-cJ8c
- Zhejiang Huayou Cobalt Co Ltd, 603799:SHH profile FT.com. (2023). Ft.com. https:// markets.ft.com/data/equities/tearsheet/profile?s=603799:SHH



List of Appendices



Appendix 1. Actors' Statements on Concepts Related to Nickel News

Organizations	Concepts	Yes	No
North Morowali Government	Electric vehicle batteries	1	0
North Morowali Regional Rep-resentative Council (DPRD)	Labor rights fulfillment	0	1
Southeast Sulawasi Course ment	Nickel industry downstream	1	0
Southeast Sulawesi Govern-ment	Increase in community income	1	0
West Papua People's Assembly	Increase in community income	1	0
	State revenues	1	0
	Environmental sustainability	1	0
South Sulawesi Government	Legal mining	1	0
	Increase in community income	0	1
Central Sulawesi Government	State revenues	0	1
Central Sulawesi Regional Rep-resentative Council (DPRD)	Legal mining	0	1
	Increase in community income	1	0
Mandiolo Village Government, Konawe	Environmental sustainability	0	1
	State revenues	1	0
North Buton Government	Environmental sustainability	0	1
Mandailing Natal Government	Environmental sustainability	0	1
North Kolaka Government	Environmental sustainability	0	1
North Konawe Government	Environmental sustainability	0	1
Lamondowo Village Govern-ment, North Konawe	Groundwater cleanliness	0	1
Banggai Regional Representa-tive Council (DPRD)	Increase in community income	0	1
	Conflict-free land transition	0	1
Central Halmahera Regional Representative Council (DPRD)	Indigenous community rights fulfillment	0	1
	Increase in community income	0	1
North Maluku Regional Repre-sentative Council (DPRD)	Conflict-free land transition	0	1
North Maluku Government	Indigenous community rights fulfillment	1	0

Source: Processed research data



	Expansion Year		2012	2015	2021
	Expansion Type		Smelter	Smelter, Coal-Fired Power Plant (PLTU)	Smelter, Mine
	Loan Purpose	Construction of Karebbe Hydroelec- tric Power Plant in South Sulawesi for nickel smelter	Construction of four units of ferron- ickel smelters IV with a ca-pacity of 27,000 tons/year in East Halmahera, North Maluku Province	Expansion of ferronickel smelter plant and construction of 2 x 30 MW Power Plant in Pomalaa, Southeast Sulawesi	Construction of High Pressure Acid Leach (HPAL) nickel smelter in Obi Island, South Halmahera Regency, North Maluku Province
	Loan Year	2009	2012	2015	22 Feb- ru-ary 2021
	Lender	Bank of Tokyo-Mitsub- ishi UFJ and Mizuho Corporate Bank	Bank Mandiri, Bank Rakyat Indonesia, Standard Char-tered Bank and Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corpo- ration	Maybank Indonesia	DBS, BNP Paribas, Bank Mandiri, BCA, BNI, Maybank, OCBC, OCBC NISP and UOB
5	Loan Amount (USD)	300.000.000	650.000.000	100.000.000	625.000.000
	Group	Vale	Antam	Antam	Harita
	Companies	PT International Nickel Indonesia (INCO)	PT Aneka Tam- bang Tbk	PT Aneka Tam- bang Tbk	PT Halmahera Per-sada Lygend
L	°Z	-	73	м	4

Appendix 2. Table of Loan Financing for the Nickel Industry in Indonesia (Smelter, Mine, and Nickel Smelter Power Plant Projects)



2022		2022		2017	2019
Smelter	Smelter	Smelter, Mine	Coal- Fired Power Plant (PLTU)	Coal- Fired Power Plant (PLTU)	Mine, Coal- Fired Power Plant (PLTU)
To finance project costs and refinance the Bridge Loan Facility in the amount of USD 250,000,000	Expansion of smelter for nickel sulfate and cobalt sulfate pro-duction operated by PT Obi Nickel Cobalt	Loan for the acquisition of mining company PT Sulawesi Cahaya Mineral in Konawe and acquisition of smelters PT Bukit Smelter Indonesia and PT Cahaya Smelter Indonesia in IMIP.	Construction of PT Sulawesi Mining Phase I captive Power Plant with a ca- pacity of 2 x 65 MW in IMIP	Construction of PT Sulawesi Mining Phase IV captive Power Plant with a capacity of 2 x 350 MW in IMIP	Loan for nickel mining and construction of 3 x 50 MW captive Power Plant in Obi Island, South Halmahera Regency, North Ma-luku Province
14 April 2022	11 May 2023	2022	2015	2017	2019
DBS Singapura, OCBC Singa-pura, DBS, KEB Hana, OCBC, UOB, UOB Singapura, LPEI and Bank Mandiri	Agricultural Bank of China, Bank of China, China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited, Shanghai Pudong Develop-ment Bank Co., Ltd, Industrial Bank Co., Ltd, and China Guangfa Bank Co., Ltd.	ING Bank NV Singapore Branch and Barclays Bank PLC	China Development Bank (CDB)	Export-Import Bank of China	China Development Bank (CDB)
530.000.000	780.000.000	300.000.000	384.000.000	320.000.000	34.000.000
Harita	Harita	Merdeka Battery Materials	Tsingshan	Tsingshan	Tsingshan
PT Halmahera Jaya Feronkel	PT Obi Nickel Cobalt	PT Hamparan Logistik Nusantara	PT Sulawesi Mining Invest- ment	PT Indonesia Ruipu Nickel And Chrome Alloy	PT Wanatiara Persada (Chi- na Jinchuan Group Ltd)
വ	۵	7	ω	o	0



2016	2017			
Coal- Fired Power Plant (PLTU)	Coal- Fired Power Plant (PLTU), Smelter	Smelter	Smelrer	Smelter, Coal- Fired Power Plant (PLTU), Port
Construction of PT Sulawesi Mining Phase II captive Power Plant with a capacity of 2 x 150 MW in IMIP	Construction of PT Sulawesi Mining Phase III captive Power Plant with a capacity of 2 x 350 MW in IMIP and nickel pig iron smel-ter	Construction of nickel smelter	Term loan facility to support the con- struction and operation of RKEF (Rotary Kiln Electric Furnace) ferronickel smelter line 1 with a capacity of 23,000 tons/ year in Lapao-Pao, Kolaka, Southeast Sulawesi	For smelter, 44 MW Power Plant and port
2016	2017	2022	6 March 2022	Decem- ber 2020
Bank of China (BOC), Export-Im- port Bank of China, Indus-trial and Commercial Bank of China (ICBC)	Bank of China(BOC) dan CDB	Bank Mandiri, Bank BRI	Bank Mandiri, PT Bank Pem-ban- gunan Daerah Jawa Barat and Banten Tbk (Bank BJB), and PT Bank Pembangunan Daerah Su- lawesi Selatan & Sulawesi Barat (Bank Sulselbar)	Bank of China, China Devel-op- ment Bank; China Con-struction Bank; ICBC; Agricul-tural Bank of China; CITIC bank; China Mer- chants Bank; and Tai Fung Bank
700.000.000	574.000.000	127.700.000	277.700.000	1.060.000.000
Tsingshan	Tsingshan	Kalla Group	Ceria Nugraha Indotama (CNI) Group	Xiamen Xiangyu (51%) & Jiangsu De- Iong Nickel Industry (49%)
PT Indonesia Guang Ching Nickel And Stainless steel In- dus-try	PT Indonesia Tsingshan Stainless Steel	PT Bumi Min- eral Sulawesi	PT Ceria Metalindo Prima	Obsidian Stainless Steel
1	12	13	14	37



2022		2021	2023	
Tambang	Smelter	Smelter	Battery Factory	
Salah satu upaya utama perseroan ada- lah mendiversifikasi usahanya melalui ekspansi ke usaha pertambangan dan pengolahan nikel, yang memerlukan pembiayaan yang cukup besar.	Construction of an annual capacity of 126,000 tons smelter	Construction of nickel matte smelter in IMIP	Construction of a battery factory in Karawang, West Java	Construction of smelter
11 Okto- ber 2022	30 No-vem- ber 2022	28 April 2022	August 2022	August 2022
PT Bank UOB Indonesia, Over- sea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited, PT Bank OCBC NISP Tbk, PT Bank DBS Indonesia, DBS Bank Ltd, PT Bank CIMB Niaga Tbk, PT Bank BTPN Tbk, dan PT Bank QNB Indonesia Tbk	China Development Bank, Export Bank of China, Bank of China, Bank of Communica-tions, ICBC, Everbright, CITIC, Beijing, Min- sheng, China Construction Bank, Zhejiang Commercial Bank and Ping An	Bank Central Asia	Australia and New Zealand Bank- ing Group, DBS, HSBC, JP Morgan, Santander	PT Merdeka Copper Gold Tbk (MDKA)
390.000.000	1.600.000	120.000.000	711.000.000	200.000.000
Harum Energy	Zhenshi Holding Group Co Ltd	CNGR	LG & Hyun- dai	Merdeka Battery Materials
PT Harum Energy Tbk	Zhenshi Holding Group Co Ltd	PT Zhongts- ing New Energy	LG Energy Solution Ltd & Hyundai Mo-tor Group	PT Merdeka Tsingshan Indonesia 2022
9	17	18	19	20



	2016	2023	2023	2023
	Smelter	Mine	Mine	Smelter
This loan is to support the development of the high pressure acid leaching (HPAL) project and refinancing needs (debt repay-ment). PT BSE is currently building an HPAL nickel smelter in Weda Bay Industrial State	Construction of nickel pig iron smelter in North Morowali, Cen-tral Sulawesi and working capital for smelter operations	Including affiliate loans from parent company to subsidiaries. The loan purpose for working capital includes em- ployee costs, professional service costs, royalty payments to the state treasury, transportation and handling costs, maintenance and repair costs, and nickel mining costs.	Including affiliate loans from parent company to subsidiaries. Loan with 8% interest for 5 years. The loan purpose for the pur-chase of heavy equipment, repair and improvement of other sup- porting infrastructure capacities, and exploration costs.	Loan purpose for capital expenditure of PT MTI for the devel-opment of AIM I nickel smelter project
2 Octo- ber 2023	24 Feb- ru-ary 2016	Septem- ber 2023	26 June	June 2023
PT Tanito Harum Nickel (PT Har- um Energy Tbk)	Eximbank Indonesia	PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk	PT Trimegah Bangun Persada Tbk	PT Merdeka Copper Gold Tbk (MDKA)
500.000	58.500.000	35.950.000	114.280.000.000 (IDR)	50.000.000
	PT Central Ome-ga Resources Tbk	PT Merdeka Battery Materi-als Tbk	PT Trimeg- ah Bangun Persada Tbk	PT Merdeka Battery Materi-als Tbk
PT Blue Sparking Energy	PT COR In- dustry Omega	PT Sulaw- esi Cahaya Mineral	PT Jikod- olong Megah Pertiwi	PT Merdeka Tsingshan Indonesia
21	22	23	24	25

116 Responsibank

2023	2014	2022	2022	2018	2018
Smelter, Mine	Smelter	Smelter	Coal- Fired Power Plant (PLTU), Pelabu- han	Smelter	Smelter
Loan purpose for general corporate purposes of the company, including but not limited to working capital, capital and opera-tional expenditures of the company, and to support the busi-ness activities of the company's subsidiaries by providing debt and/or advance capital deposits.	Construction of ferronickel smelter in IWIP	The loan comes from Hong Kong New Energy, a subsidiary of CNGR. Construc- tion of smelter in IMIP.	Loan to Tsingshan to build a 1x250 MW Power Plant in IMIP. The name of the Power Plant and which Tsingshan subsidiary re-ceived the loan is not specified.	Loan to fund the production project of 3.5 million tons of steel in Indonesia	Loan applied by Xinxing Cast Pipe Co Ltd (Xinxing Qiyun Group) holding 40% shares of PT MSP for the construction of a new line of smelter that has existed since 2015.
May 2023	January 2014	6 May 2022	2020	2018	2018
PT Merdeka Copper Gold Tbk	China Development Bank (CDB)	Hong Kong New Energy	China Development Bank (CDB) & Industrial and Com-mercial Bank of China (Indo-nesia)	China Development Bank	United Overseas Bank (UOB) In- donesia, BNP Paribas, Over-sea- Chinese Banking Corpo-ration (OCBC) NISP,
175.000.000	84.000.000	23.100.000	75.000.000	170.000.000	255.000.000
PT Merdeka Copper Gold Tbk	Tsingshan	CNGR	Tsingshan	Tsingshan	PT Trimeg- ah Bangun Persada Tbk
PT Merdeka Battery Mate- rials Tbk	Sulawesi Mining Invest- ment	Zhongqing New En-ergy	Tsingshan	Tsingshan Stainless Steel Co Ltd & Dexin Steel Co Ltd	PT Megah Surya Pertiwi
26	27	28	58	30	31



2022	2022				
Smelter, PLTU	Smelter				
Acquisition of PT Debonair Nickel Indonesia smelter, which has an RKEF nickel smelter in IWIP with a capacity of 380 MW	Loans obtained by MTI, among others, to pay off MTI's debts to PT Merdeka Copper Gold (currently PT MTI under PT Merdeka Battery Materials) and finance capital expenditures such as con-struction and operational costs of the Acid Iron Metal Project, including other related projects to be developed by MTI.				
May 2022	31 August 2022				
HSBC, Crédit Agricole CIB and China Construction Bank (Asia)	Credit Agricole, ING Bank, Natixis, OCBC, HSBC Indone-sia, OCBC NISP and UOB In-donesia				
120.000.000	260.000.000				
CNGR	PT Merdeka Battery 2 ¹ Materi-als Tbk				
PT Debonair Nickel Indo- nesia	PT Merdeka Tsingshan Indonesia				
32	33				

Source: Compiled from Finance Sina, China AidData, Bisnis, Kontan, Kompas.com, CNBC Indonesia, Reuters, Market Screener, company websites, news reports, and

company prospectuses.



haan Induk Tipe Pembeli ang Obligasi	Asset Manager	eet Bank and Investment Man- npany ager	Ip Manajer Aset	k Asset Manager	k Asset Manager	k Asset Manager	k Asset Manager	k Asset Manager	k Asset Manager	k Asset Manager	st Portfolios Investment Man- ager	tt Portfolios
Perusa Pemega	Amundi	State Str Trust Cor	UBS Grou	BlackRoc	BlackRoc	BlackRoc	BlackRoc	BlackRoc	BlackRoc	BlackRoc	First Trus	First Trus
Negara Asal Holders	France	United States	Luxembourg EU (Domisi)-Swiss (Induk)	United States	United States	United States	United States	United States	United States	United States	United States	
Market Value, MIn USD	0,23	0,19	0,10	<0,01	<0,01	<0,01	<0,01	<0,01	<0,01	<0,01	0,58	
Nama/Produk Pemegang Obligasi Dari Perusahaan	Amundi Index Barclays Global Agg 500M UCITS ETF DR - GBP. Hedged (GBP)(Dist)	SPDR [®] Bloomberg Barclays Emerging Markets USD Bond ETF(USD)	UBS ETF (LU) Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Sovereign UCITS ETF (Hedged To GBP) A-Dis (USD)	iShares Core Balanced ETF (CAD) Portfolio	iShares Core Growth ETF (CAD) Portfolio	iShares Broad USD Investment Grade Corporate Bond ETF (USD)	iShares Core 10+ Year USD Bond ETF (USD)	iShares Core Conservative Balanced ETF Portfolio (CAD)	iShares Core Income Balanced ETF Portfolio (CAD)	iShares Core Total USD Bond Market ETF (USD)	First Trust TCW Opportunistic Fixed Income ETF (USD)	
Kupon %	5,8	5,8	5,8	5,8	5,8	5,8	5,8	5,8	5,8	5,8	5,45	
Jenis Global Bond	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	

.

Ъ

Appendix 3. List of PT Indonesia Asahan Aluminum (Inalum) Global Bond Buyers



lay 2050	5,45	SPDR® DoubleLine® Total Return Tactical ETF (USD)	0,38	United States	State Street Bank and Trust Company	Manajer Investasi
ay 2050	5,45	UBS ETF (LU) Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Sovereign UCITS ETF (Hedged To GBP) A-Dis (USD)	0,20	Luxembourg EU (Domi- cile)-Swiss (Parent)		Investment Manager
ay 2050	5,45	iShares J.P. Morgan USD Emerging Markets Bond Index ETF - Hedged (CAD)	0,07	United States	BlackRock	Asset Manager
ay 2050	5,45	iShares Core Balanced ETF (CAD) Portfolio	<0,01	United States	BlackRock	Asset Manager
ay 2050	5,45	iShares Core Growth ETF (CAD) Portfolio	<0,01	United States	BlackRock	Asset Manager
ay 2050	5,45	iShares 5-10 Year Investment Grade Corporate Bond ETF (USD)	<0,01	United States	BlackRock	Asset Manager
ay 2050	5,45	iShares Broad USD Investment Grade Corporate Bond ETF (USD)	<0,01	United States	BlackRock	Asset Manager
ay 2050	5,45	iShares Core Conservative Balanced ETF Portfolio (CAD)	<0,01	United States	BlackRock	Asset Manager
ay 2025	4,75	SPDR® DoubleLine® Emerging Markets Fixed Income ETF (USD)	0,98	United States	State Street Bank and Trust Company	Investment Man- ager
ay 2025	4,75	SPDR® Bloomberg Barclays Emerging Markets USD Bond ETF (USD)	0,94	United States	State Street Bank and Trust Company	Investment Man- ager
ay 2025	4,75	JPMorgan ETFs(Ireland) ICAV - USD Emerging Markets Sovereign Bond UCITS ETF CHF Hedged (Acc)(CHF)	0,59	Ireland (EU)	JP Morgan	Asset Manager
ay 2025	4,75	SPDR® DoubleLine® Total Return Tactical ETF (USD)	0,39	United States	State Street Bank and Trust Company	Investment Man- ager

120 ResponsiBank

Asset Manager	Asset Manager	Asset Manager	Asset Manager	Investment Man- ager	Investment Man- ager	Investment Man- ager	Investment Manager	Investment Manager	Investment Manager	Investment Manager	Investment Manager
	Amundi		BlackRock	Harvest Global In- vest-ments Limited	Manulife Asset Man-agement Co Ltd	Nomura Asset Man-agement Taiwan Ltd		KGI Securities Invest- ment Trust Co	Fidelity Funds SICAV	Manulife Global Fund	JP Morgan
Luxembourg EU (Domi- cile)-Swiss (Parent)	France	Luxembourg EU (Domi- cile)-Swiss (Parent)	United States	United States	Taiwan	Taiwan	Taiwan	Taiwan	Luxembourg EU (Domi- cile)-Swiss (Parent)	Luxembourg EU	United States
0,37	0,23	0,20	0,07	0,2	S	6'06	241,5	22,7	23,3	1,9	0, 19
UBS ETF (LU) J.P. Morgan USD EM Diversified Bond 1-5 UCITS ETF (Hedged To GBP) A-Dis (USD)	Amundi Index Barclays Global Agg 500M UCITS ETF DR - GBP Hedged (GBP)(Dist)	UBS ETF (LU) Bloomberg Barclays USD Emerging Markets Sovereign. UCITS ETF (Hedged To GBP) A-Dis (USD)	iShares J.P. Morgan USD Emerging Markets Bond Index ETF – Hedged (CAD)	Harvest Asian Bond Fund	Manulife Fixed Term 6 Year Ladder Maturity Emerg- ing Market Bond Fund	Nomura Six Years Fixed Maturity Asia Pacific Emerging Market Bond Fund	Schroder 2025 Maturity Emerging Market Bond Fund	KGI Emerging Asia Sustainable Selection Bond Fund	Fidelity Funds - Asian Bond Fund	Manulife Global Fund - Asian High Yield Fund	JP Morgan Asset Management
4,75	4,75	4,75	4,75	4,75	4,75	4,75	4,75	5,45	5,45	4,75	5,45
15 May 2025	15 May 2025	15 May 2025	15 May 2025	15 May 2025	15 May 2025	15 May 2025	15 May 2025	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2025	15 May 2050



Investment Manager	Investment Manager	Investment Manager	Asset Manager	Asset Manager
Manulife Asset Man- agement Co Ltd	PIMCO	PIMCO	AllianceBernstein	AllianceBernstein
Taiwan	United States	United States	United States	United States
9,8	7,6	2,5	3,9	0,91
Manulife Investment Management 202303	PIMCO Funds: Global Investors Series plc: Emerging Markets Bond Fund—-Portfolio Holdings	PIMCO Funds: Global Investors Series plc: Emerging Markets Bond Fund—-Portfolio Holdings	AB SICAV I - Asia Income Opportunities Portfolio	AB SICAV I - Asia Income Opportunities Portfolio
4,75	5,45	5,8	5,45	5,8
15 May 2025	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050	15 May 2050

Source: Compiled from Bloomberg, CBONDS, company investment datasets



Appendix 4. Equity Financing Table for the Nickel Industry

Investors/Shareholders	Company	Equity Form	Value	Curren-cy	Time	Purpose
Community, Termasuk Gleencore International AG (Swiss), Fidelity International (United States), SWF in Asia, Lim Family (Owner of Harita	PT Trimegah Bangun Persada Tbk (Harita Group)	Initial Public Offering (IPO)	9.997.000.000.000	IDR	3 April 2023	Debt Repayment, Company Capital Expenditures, Capital Injection, Loans to Associates and Subsidiaries, Working Capital
Community, Garibaldi Thohir, Huayong International (Hong Kong), PT Merdeka Energi Indonesia, Winato Kartono	PT Merdeka Battery Materials Tbk	Initial Public Offering (IPO)	9.182.250.000.000	DR	18 April 2023	Debt Repayment, Acquisition of MTI's Support Facility Rights, MBM's Working Capital, MTI's Working Capital, ZHN's Capital Expenditure and Working Capital, SCM's Working Capital, SIP's Capital Expenditure
PT Huaqi Pte Ltd	PT Vale Indone- sia Tbk	Private Place- ment	764,000.000.000	DR	9 March 2023	PT Vale Indonesia Tbk has an expansion project in Kolaka. PT Huaqi bought PT Vale's shares in PT Kolaka Nickel Indonesia amounting to 764,000 shares. Meanwhile, PT Vale still owns 191,000 shares worth Rp 191 billion.
Tsingshan	Eramet SA melalui Strand Minerals Pte Ltd	Private Equity	N/A	A/A	8 June 2017	The first smelter development in Weda Bay started operating in 2020.
Nickel Industries	PT Huayue Nickel Cobalt	Private Equity	270.000.000	DSD	19 January 2023	Acquisition of 10% of PT Huayue Nickel Co- balt (a Tsingshan affiliate) which is building an HPAL smelter in IMIP
Nickel Industries	Shanghai Decent Investment/ Tsingshan Group (China)	Private Equity	595.000.000	USD	2021-2023	Nickel Industries acquired 80% of Shang- hai Decen's shares (Tsingshan) gradually from November 2021 to August 2023 for an RKEF smelter project under construction in IMIP.



Nickel Industries	PT Tablasufa Nickel Mining	Private Equity	8.500.000	DSD	Desember 2021	Acquisition of 100% of shares from Bolt Metals Corp & PT Best Resources for a 5,000-hectare nickel concession in Ta- blasufa, West Papua Province.
Nickel Industries	Hengjaya Holdings Private Limited	Private Equity	180.000.000	USD	April 2018- June 2020	Acquisition of 80% of PT Hengjaya Nickel Industry shares, a subsidiary of Hengjaya Holdings, which owns an RKEF smelter in IMIP
PT United Tractor Tbk	Nickel Industries	Private Place- ment	628.000.000	USD	9 June 2023	United Tractor acquired 19.99% of Nickel Industries shares listed on the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX). Nickel Industries is- sued 857 million common shares to United Tractor for the acquisition.
PT United Tractor Tbk	PT Anugrah Surya Pacific Resources	Private Equity	271.000.000	ΠSD	2022	UNTR bought shares of its subsidiary PT ASPR, namely 90% of PT Stargate Mineral Asia which owns a nickel smelter and 90% of PT Stargate Pacific Resources which owns a nickel mine in North Konawe, Southeast Sulawesi.
PT Harum Energy Tbk	PT Infei Metal Indus-try	Private Equity	109.760.000	USD	February 2021 & July 2021	PT Harum Energy acquired shares of PT Infei Metal Industri gradually, with a total of 39.2% of the shares purchased. PT IMI in IMIP
PT Harum Energy Tbk	Nickel Mines (Now Nickel Industries)	Private Equity	45.035.828	USD	12 May 2021	PT Harum Energy bought 6.73% of Nickel Mines shares.

124 ResponstBank

erdeka Battery Mate-ri- ok	PT Huaneng Metal Industry (Tsingshan Group)	Private Equity	75.000.000	USD	May 2023	PT Merdeka Battery Materials acquired 60% of PT Huaneng Metal Industry shares. Huaneng has a smelter in IMIP.
al Stainless Ltd	New Yaking Pte Ltd	Private Equity	157.000.000	USD	28 March 2023	Jindal Stainless, an Indian company, acquired 60% of New Yakin Pte Ltd shares which owns a nickel smelter in Halmahera, Malu-ku. The exact location of the smelter is not yet known.
ou Cobalt	PT Andalan Metal Industry (subsid- airy of Zhongjing Holdings)	Private Equity	200.000.000	USD	25 July 2023	Huayou Cobalt provided a loan for the purpose of acquiring 50.1% of PT Andalan Metal Industry shares which already owns an RKEF smelter in IWIP
men GEM Co Ltd -sidiary of GEM Co Ltd)	Hong Kong Banpu (anak pe- rusahaan CATL)	Private Equity	6.584.000	ПSD	January 2021	GEM Co Ltd acquired 15% of CATL's shares worth \$4,854,000 in PT 0MB which has an HPAL smelter project for nickel and cobalt in IMIP. GEM also acquired 21% of Tsingshan's PT 0MB shares equivalent to \$1,730,000.
a Molybdenum Co	PT Huayue Nickel Co-balt	Private Equity	69.100.000	DSD	November 2019	China Molybdenum acquired 30% of PT Huayue Nickel Cobalt shares which owns an HPAL smelter in IMIP
ıdai Motor Group	Korea Zinc	Private Equity	399.000.000	USD	August 2023	Hyundai Motor Global acquired 5% of Korea Zinc shares which will build an HPAL smelter in Indonesia with a value of \$600 mil-lion by collaborating with companies in Indonesia.



Acquisition of 24,287 shares owned by Aq- uila Nickel Ptd Ltd or equivalent to 51% of the total capital of PT Position. PT Positior holds a nickel mining permit in Halmahera (IWIP).	Acquisition of 3.22% of shares in Nickel Mines (now Nickel In-dustries), a nickel company in Australia with nickel mines and smelters in Indonesia.
February 2021	29 May 20.
DSD	AUD
80.320.000	34.260.000
Private Equity	Private Equity
PT Position (sub- sidi-ary Aquila Nickel Ptd Ltd)	Nickel Mines (Now Nickel Industries)
PT Harum Energy Tbk	PT Harum Energy Tbk

Source: Indonesia Stock Exchange, company websites, and research analysis.







Member of Responsibank Indonesia Coalition



www.responsibank.id

